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About this annual report
This report provides an overview of Tourism Australia’s operations
and reviews our performance against the objectives and goals
outlined in Tourism Australia’s Corporate Plan 2014/17 and the
Portfolio Budget Statements 2014/15. The report was prepared in
accordance with the Tourism Australia Act 2004, with the Public
Governance Performance and Accountability Act 2013 and with
other relevant legislation. In this year’s report, we have added more
case studies to give a greater understanding of Tourism Australia’s
activities and successes in the markets where it operates around
the globe.

– Letter of transmittal –

14 October 2015
The Hon. Andrew Robb AO MP
Minister for Trade and Investment
Parliament House
Canberra ACT 2600
Dear Minister
I have pleasure in presenting the tenth annual report of Tourism
Australia, for the reporting period 1 July 2014 to 30 June 2015.
The report has been prepared in accordance with section 39 of the
Tourism Australia Act 2004, the Public Governance Performance
and Accountability Act 2013, and in accordance with the Finance
Minister’s Orders.
Yours sincerely

Anthony South
Chairman
Tourism Australia

Invite the World to Dinner, November 2014, The Nolan Gallery, MONA | Hobart, Tasmania.
At this event we hosted 86 food and wine influencers from around the world, with a combined
audience reach of 400 million people. The aim was to showcase the best of Australia’s food and
wine produce and whet the appetite of international travellers.

2014/15 Highlights
Overnight spend by travellers
Increase in spend by international travellers
Increase in the number of international visitors to Australia
Partnership marketing revenue contributed by industry,
bolstering marketing efforts
Return on investment for every dollar invested in tourism
promotion by Tourism Australia
Stakeholders’ satisfaction with our work
Fans of Tourism Australia’s Facebook page
Twitter followers
Instagram followers
Google+ followers
Staff engagement

$88.8 billion
10%
7%
$60 million
16:1
86%
6.2 million
235,000
1 million
2.1 million
85%

The importance of Australia’s tourism industry

$107
billion

total visitor expenditure

No.

3%

500,000

share of
Australia’s economy

Australians employed

46

1

services export

Every tourism dollar generates

cents
of every tourism dollar is
spent in regional Australia

87

cents

in other parts of
Australia’s economy

A higher multiplier than mining, agriculture and financial services

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

About us
>>Overview 6
>>Our strategy – Tourism 2020 7

2014/15 overview
>>Operating environment 12
>>Executive reports 16
>>Performance summary 22
>>Key events 24
>>Visitors and spend 26
>>Awards 28

Contents

Performance in detail
Australian Government programmes:
>>Increase demand for Australia as a travel destination 32
>>Industry development 66

Managing our organisation
>>Performance overview 80
>>People 81
>>Organisational capability 83
>>Environmental performance 84
>>Organisational changes 84
>>Organisational structure 85
>>Executive Leadership Team profiles 86

Corporate governance
>>Performance overview 90
>>Enabling legislation and responsible minister 91
>>Governance framework and practices 92
>>Board activities and committees 94
>>Board profiles 96

Financials
>>Performance overview 100
>>Financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 101

References and appendices
>>History 150
>>Glossary 152
>>Abbreviations and acronyms 153
>>Compliance index 154
>>Alphabetical index 156

Contacts

2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT

3

1
| In this section |
>> Overview 6

>> Our strategy – Tourism 2020 7

About Us

Tourism Australia is an Australian
Government statutory authority
formed under the Tourism Australia
Act 2004. It is governed by a Board
of Directors that reports to the
Australian Minister for Trade and
Investment, under the Minister’s
Statement of Expectations, the
Tourism Australia Act 2004 and the

Public Governance Performance
and Accountability Act 2013.
Tourism Australia has a strong
reputation for developing
innovative tourism marketing
campaigns, and has built one of
the world’s most admired and
desirable destination brands.

Heart Reef | Great Barrier Reef, Queensland.
This reef is made from coral that has naturally formed into the shape
of a heart. It is best experienced from the air by helicopter or seaplane.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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Overview
MISSION
As Australia’s national tourism marketing
organisation, Tourism Australia aims to increase
visitors for international leisure and business events
by promoting Australia as a compelling tourism
destination. In 2014/15 this was undertaken through
partnership marketing activities that targeted
consumers in key international markets, as well as
promotions with trade and distribution partners that
aimed to convert Australia’s appeal into more visits.
GOAL – TOURISM 2020
To achieve more than $115 billion in overnight
tourism expenditure by 2020 (up from $70 billion
in 2009). Tourism Australia shares this goal
with the Australian tourism industry and federal,
state and territory governments in an effort to
maximise tourism’s economic contribution to
the Australian people.

AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT OUTCOME,
PROGRAMMES AND MEASURING SUCCESS
In 2014/15, Tourism Australia had one government
outcome: ‘To increase demand for Australia as a
destination, strengthen the travel distribution system
and contribute to the development of a sustainable
tourism industry through consumer marketing, trade
development and research activities.’
This outcome was delivered through two programmes:
>> Increase demand for Australia as a
tourism destination
>> Industry development.

HOW WE MEASURE SUCCESS AGAINST AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT PROGRAMMES
Goal: Increase overnight expenditure to more than $115 billion by 2020
Government
programme

Increase demand for Australia as a
tourism destination

Key
performance
indicators

>> Increased spend by all international visitors
>> Increased spend by visitors from Tourism Australia’s
target markets
>> Increased spend by leisure visitors from Tourism
Australia’s target markets
>> Increased spend by all international business
events visitors
>> Increased recall of Tourism Australia campaigns by
target customers
>> Increased monthly unique visitors to Tourism
Australia’s websites
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Industry development
Increased stakeholder
satisfaction – Tourism
Australia helps tourism
businesses
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Our strategy – Tourism 2020
Tourism 2020 is a whole-of-government and industry
long-term strategy to build the resilience and
competitiveness of Australia’s tourism industry and
increase its contribution to the national economy.
It focuses on improving the industry’s global
The Jackson Report
National Long-Term
Tourism Strategy
(NLTTS)

JUL – DEC

2009

2020 Tourism Industry
Potential (2020 Potential)

performance and competitiveness by pursuing new
opportunities for growth and addressing supply-side
factors. An outline of the Tourism 2020 journey to
date is provided in Figure 1.

Tourism 2020

India 2020 strategic plan

China 2020
strategic plan

2010

New Coalition
Government
priorities

State and territory
2020 Strategies

2011

2012

2013

Figure 1: The Tourism 2020 journey, 2009 to 2014/15

Figure 2 shows the overnight visitor expenditure
targets at the end of the decade established at the
launch of the Tourism 2020 strategy. When the
Tourism 2020 goal was introduced it was presented as
a range, demonstrating the potential of the industry
to achieve growth beyond recent performance (linear
trend growth to $97 billion) with a range of $115 to
$140 billion in overnight visitor expenditure reflecting

a range of scenarios from maintaining to increasing
market share across key markets.
We are currently on track to achieve our goal of more
than $115 billion in overnight spend by 2020, with
overnight visitor spend reaching $88.8 billion in the
year ending 30 June 2015, up 6.3 per cent on the
previous year (see Figure 2).

Figure 2: Progress of total overnight visitor expenditure against the Tourism 2020 goal
TOURISM 2020 STAGES – A STEPPED APPROACH
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OUR STRATEGIES TO DELIVER ON TOURISM 2020
How we deliver on Tourism 2020
Core
capability
strategies

>> Customer focus – target leisure and business events consumers
>> Partnership focus – form partnerships that engage target consumers, drive bookings
and spend, and help to develop the tourism industry
>> Government focus – commit to a collaborative and unified effort to achieve our
shared goals

Operational
support
strategies

>> People – build a strong and capable workforce to create a high-performing culture
>> Information and technology – streamline, digitise, integrate and reduce red tape
>> Accountability and risk management – devise effective systems and processes that deliver
robust corporate governance

OUR FOCUS IN 2014/15
In 2014/15, Tourism Australia continued to work
with the tourism industry and governments across
Australia to achieve Tourism 2020’s goals and
make the most of growing demand from Asia.
We concentrated on:

Our consumer marketing activity drives demand
by inspiring consumers around the world to choose
Australia for their next holiday or business event.
Detail on Tourism Australia’s achievements in driving
demand are outlined in section 3.

>> Continuing to reinforce competitive focus to
achieve Tourism 2020 goals

Tourism Australia contributes to improving the
supply side of tourism in two key areas – aviation and
investment in the accommodation sector.

>> Driving yield by targeting high-spending consumers
and encouraging them to do more, travel further
and stay longer when they visit
>> Ensuring partnerships increased our reach to
target consumers and delivered the best return
on investment
>> Scrutinising what we do and how we operate,
finding efficiencies and budget savings to allocate
maximum funding to marketing.
Tourism 2020 has both a demand and supply focus,
recognising that for the industry to be competitive,
an integrated strategy is needed. Tourism Australia
contributes to both of these areas of focus.

8

ABOUT US

The international aviation goal is to increase capacity
by between 40 to 50 per cent by 2020. Aviation
capacity into Australia has grown substantially in
the last few years – 66 per cent of 2020 growth has
already been achieved – suggesting that the aviation
goal will be achieved. The investment goal is to see
up to 20,000 new capital city hotel rooms built by
2020. A potential pipeline of more than 34,000 new
short-term accommodation rooms is reported
(Tourism Research Australia), suggesting that the goal
can be achieved.
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TOURISM AUSTRALIA’S TARGET MARKETS AND THEIR VALUE BY 2020
In 2014/15, Tourism Australia continued a dedicated
market categorisation approach focused on the
markets that represent the greatest expenditure
growth potential to 2020, as shown in the table

below. The criteria were latent demand, market
performance, aviation capacity and the marketing
emphasis of the tourism industry, and state and
territory tourism organisations.

Value

Market

Worth more than $5 billion by 2020

Greater China including Hong Kong, UK, North America (USA, Canada)

Worth more than $2.5 billion by 2020

New Zealand, South Korea, Singapore, Malaysia

Worth more than $1 billion by 2020

India, Japan, Middle East, Indonesia, Germany

Fast emerging

Brazil

High priority

France, Italy

Rest of world

All other markets

2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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Overview

Altitude Restaurant, Shangri-La Hotel | Sydney, New South Wales.
Guests can enjoy beautiful Sydney Harbour views as they savour fine
Australian food.
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Operating environment

Figure 3: The global importance of tourism

THE GLOBAL IMPORTANCE OF TOURISM
Over the past six decades, tourism has expanded and
diversified to become one of the world’s largest and
fastest growing economic sectors. It has contributed
to the socio-economic progress of many nations
through export revenues, job and enterprise creation,
and infrastructure development. As a result, each
year an increasing number of destinations around the
world invest in and encourage tourism.

9% OF GDP*

In 2014, the global tourism industry continued to
perform well, buoyed by stable consumer confidence
and improving economic conditions. As Figure 3
shows, it contributed 9 per cent of global gross
domestic product, one in 11 jobs and 30 per cent
of services exports. International tourist arrivals
increased by 4.0 per cent (year on year) to 1.13 billion
worldwide. International tourism generated receipts
of US$1,245 billion, up 3.7 per cent (year on year)
from 2013.

1 IN 11 JOBS

6%

AUSTRALIAN TOURISM AND ITS PLACE IN THE WORLD

OF WORLD EXPORTS

30%

>

OF SERVICES>
EXPORTS

Australia ranked 11th in the world for international
tourism receipts in 2014, retaining its place from
2013. It ranked first for spend per visitor. This reflects
the long-haul travel profile of visitors to Australia, and
their tendency to stay longer and do more when they
visit. Australia was ranked 42nd for the number of
visitor arrivals, up one place from 2013.
Figure 4: Australian tourism’s place in the world

1st
11th
42nd

Spend per visitor
International tourism
receipts
International arrivals
(up one place)

Figures 3 and 4 source: United Nations World Tourism Organisation, Tourism Highlights 2015. Statistics are based on calendar years.
*Gross domestic product
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DESTINATION APPEAL
Australia continues to rate as one of the world’s>
most desirable tourism destinations. In FutureBrand’s
Country Brand Index 2014/15, Australian tourism
ranked fifth, behind Italy (in first place), Japan, the
USA and Canada. Australia’s tourism brand is very
strong, but the competition is significant. More than
190 countries compete aggressively for the global
tourism dollar.
Australia has what more and more international
travellers want – spectacular natural beauty, a
pristine environment, safety and security, friendly
and welcoming people, and world-class food and
wine. Research indicates that promoting Australia’s
food, wine and produce provides a distinct
competitive advantage, so Tourism Australia launched
the Restaurant Australia campaign in 2013. This
campaign remains central to our marketing activity.
Increased visitor numbers and spending are
evidence of Australia’s appeal as a destination. As
Figure 5 shows, there were 7.1 million visitors to
Australia in 2014/15 (up 7 per cent on 2013/14)

(Australian Bureau of Statistics) and visitor spending
totalled $33.4 billion, up 10 per cent on 2013/14
(Tourism Research Australia).
International travel demand for Australia is
expected to increase steadily over the next year.
The number of international visitors is forecast to
increase by 5 per cent in 2015/16 to 7.3 million, and
by 4.1 per cent for each of the following financial
years to 2022/23 to 9.6 million (Tourism Research
Australia). The improved global economic outlook
– especially the sustained economic recovery in
Australia’s traditional inbound source markets such
as the UK and the USA – and a growing interest in
leisure travel bodes well for growth in the number of
international visitor arrivals.
Throughout this period, Australian tourism will face
an increasingly competitive environment, with more
marketing by competitor destinations, changing
distribution channels and broadening media options.

Figure 5: International arrivals and visitor spend

Total international arrivals to Australia >
as at 30 June 2015

+7%
7.1 million

Total international visitor spend >
as at 30 June 2015

+10%
$33.4 billion

2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT

13

2 0 1 4 / 1 5

O V E R V I E W

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

INVESTMENT OUTLOOK

The economic environment for inbound tourism
is expected to improve in 2015/16. Growth in
gross domestic product of about 3.0 per cent is
forecast, despite easing growth in Asian economies.
The economies of the USA, the UK, Germany and
New Zealand are forecast to improve modestly.

The significant increase in international travel
by Asia’s growing middle class, combined with
Australia’s transparent and stable investment
environment and world-class tourism offering,
are attracting strong capital flows from Asia.

During 2015/16, Australian tourism will likely
benefit from a weakening Australian dollar,
increasing how much visitors might spend when they
are here. Currency fluctuations and the number of
Australians choosing domestic instead of overseas
travel may also affect the profitability of the routes of
some overseas carriers.
AVIATION OUTLOOK
Substantial growth in aviation capacity into Australia
in the last few years is in line with expectations to
achieve Tourism 2020 targets.
Aviation capacity is a priority for driving market
growth and realising the tourism potential from
Japan, India, China and South Korea. Improvement in
services from Brazil are also needed.
Recent increases in the bilateral agreement with
China will allow for further growth in direct services
from this market, but increases will be required to
keep pace with demand.
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Tourism Research Australia’s Tourism Investment
Monitor 2015 reports a potential pipeline of more
than 34,000 new short-term accommodation rooms.
This strong pipeline suggests that the Tourism 2020
target of 20,000 rooms can be achieved.

Australian War Memorial | Canberra, Australian Capital Territory.
Commemorating Australians who have fought in war, the
Memorial combines a shrine, a world-class museum, and archive.
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Executive reports

The Australian tourism industry performed very
strongly during the past 12 months, building on
successive years of sustained growth in international
visitors, demonstrating its importance to Australia’s
future prosperity.
Tourism benefited from highly successful
international marketing campaigns and major
improvement in distribution and aviation capacity.
This propelled international arrivals and spending
to record levels, with year on year growth of
7 per cent in arrivals and 10 per cent in spend
by international travellers.
We welcomed 7.1 million international visitors who
injected more than $33 billion into the economy, with
the majority of our priority markets growing. This
reflects the importance of taking a ‘balanced portfolio’
approach to our international marketing.
Much of the growth came from the fast-growing and
emerging economies in our region, with Greater China
and South East Asia the stand outs. Our traditional
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high-volume western markets also continued to make
very significant contributions, particularly in terms of
visitor spending and dispersal.
The Australian tourism industry is on track to achieve
the lower end of the Tourism 2020 goal of more than
$115 billion in visitor expenditure. This will not be
easy – we still need to achieve average growth of
close to 10 per cent each year between now and the
end of the decade.
We have, however, laid firm foundations from
which to accelerate strategies towards 2020. These
strategies will focus on investing in markets that
present the greatest potential for growth, such
as China. We will also target higher-yield travel
segments, with an increased focus on business
and major events.
Another important focus will be building on
an already successful partnering philosophy.
Partnerships are critical for Tourism Australia
to increase consumer reach, reinforce and add
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extra weight to destination messaging, and
convert consumer awareness and intent into
actual travel bookings.
The 2014/15 financial year was our best year ever
for partnerships. We generated close to $60 million
in revenue through significant commercial deals with
partners such as Virgin Australia and Etihad Airways.
We also took further costs out of our back office
functions in 2014/15, delivering around 20 per cent
in savings over three years, which we reallocated
to front-line marketing campaigns, such as
Restaurant Australia.
The global tourism industry is highly competitive.
More than 190 countries are competing for the
international visitor, and keeping ahead of the
competition is critical.

The 2015/16 year will see Tourism Australia further
broaden its marketing resources, including renewing
our focus on our country’s outstanding aquatic and
coastal experiences, while building on our food and
wine experiences.
As I finish my second and final term as Chairman
of Tourism Australia, I feel confident that our
strategies for the industry are appropriate and
that Tourism Australia, under the leadership of
Managing Director John O’Sullivan, is very well
placed to execute them successfully.

Geoff Dixon
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The 2014/15 financial year was another strong year
for Australian tourism, with international arrivals
and spending at record highs. We benefited from
some helpful tailwinds, including a strengthening
of the global economy and a favourable exchange
rate in a number of our key markets. But the industry
also deserves significant credit for its part in the
impressive performance of the last year by supporting
the coordinated and consistent way we have taken
our destination message to market.

and close this perception gap. The campaign started
with a ‘Rally Cry’ to gain the support of the tourism
industry, before being rolled out internationally. We
then ran a major media campaign and individual
launch events in 15 of our key markets, including
a pop-up restaurant in London’s Australia House,
Restaurant Australia-themed food trucks in Paris and
a long-table dinner in Tokyo.

In There’s nothing like Australia, we’ve built a strong
marketing platform to tell our story, which has
resonated well with consumers around the globe.
In 2014/15, we evolved this global campaign a
step further with Restaurant Australia, putting the
focus on Australia’s food and wine – a sector worth
$4.2 billion to the Australian visitor economy.

The next step was to invite 86 of the world’s most
influential food and wine figures to Australia and get
them to experience firsthand the remarkable people,
exceptional produce and inspiring places that make
Australia’s food and wine so unique. Their culinary
travels took in every state and territory, and culminated
in a memorable gala dinner at the Museum of Old and
New Art (MONA) in Tasmania. Inviting the world to
dinner through this event reached a global audience of
more than 1.25 billion people.

Our research tells us that behind value for money and
safety, food and wine is an important factor when
choosing a holiday destination. However, the fact
remains we have a perception issue among those
who haven’t visited. Restaurant Australia is designed
to highlight our exciting world-class food and wine,

Results of Restaurant Australia to date are impressive.
We set a goal to increase expenditure on food and
wine by $500 million by the end of 2015. We’re on
track. Our campaigns have improved the perception
of Australia as a food and wine destination among
people who haven’t been here.

RESTAURANT AUSTRALIA LAUNCH
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MAJOR EVENTS AND BUSINESS EVENTS CONTINUE TO
DELIVER TOURISM OPPORTUNITIES
Major events played a big part in 2014/15,
in particular the successful hosting of the
2015 AFC Asian Cup and 2015 ICC Cricket World
Cup tournaments. We know that these large-scale
events drive tourism. For example, figures provided
by the Australian Bureau of Statistics revealed a
46 per cent year on year spike in visitor arrivals from
India during the month of March, coinciding with
India’s appearance in the semi-final of the Cricket
World Cup. Beyond increased visitor numbers and
tourism spending, these two events helped showcase
Australia to a combined global television audience of
4 billion people. More effective marketing of events
has the potential to increase visitor numbers and
spend, and we will continue to work closely with
event organisers, state and territory tourism partners,
and our overseas offices to identify and promote
events that appeal most strongly to consumers in our
target markets.
Business events continue to make a significant
contribution to the Australian economy. This
sector continues to be a key focus of our work.

In 2014/15, Tourism Australia delivered an integrated
marketing and trade programme that included
hosting international media and business events
buyers on educational visits to Australia, as well as
representation at major overseas trade shows such
as IMEX Frankfurt. Tourism Australia and Austrade
also launched Attracting Business Events to Australia,
a new guide outlining government support for
operators in the Australian business events industry
when bidding for and delivering events.
PARTNERSHIPS ARE THE FOUNDATION OF OUR
MARKETING ACTIVITY
Another priority in 2014/15 was strengthening
Tourism Australia’s ties to the tourism trade and, in
particular, linking our marketing activity to partners.
This makes it easier for consumers to buy quality
Australian tourism products.
We are targeting high-yield travellers and to help
us do this we recently introduced an elite network
of specialist travel agents in China, trained to sell
high-quality Australian holiday packages to China’s
rapidly growing middle class. A similar approach has
been in place in Singapore and is currently being
rolled out in Indonesia.

2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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More broadly, 2014/15 saw us continue to build our
partnership portfolio, achieving a record partnership
revenue of close to $60 million. We announced the
renewal of a $10 million aviation agreement with
Virgin Australia – the largest ever by Tourism Australia
– and another agreement with Etihad Airways. We
also signed strategic marketing agreements with
China Eastern Airlines, Singapore Airlines and Alibaba,
one of China’s largest e-commerce companies
specialising in travel services. Our partnership
portfolio is the strongest it has ever been and we look
forward to expanding it in 2015/16.
SUPPORTING INVESTMENT IN TOURISM PRODUCTS
Marketing means little without great products to
talk about, and this means investing in our tourism
infrastructure. The Tourism Australia and Austrade
investment partnership continues to work closely
with all levels of government to promote and
attract tourism investment projects. The pipeline
of new, short-term accommodation rooms is at a
decade high and on track to meet our Tourism 2020
target. A number of key projects were announced
in 2014/15, including that of China’s Wanda
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Group, which committed to two major mixed-use
developments on the Gold Coast and in Sydney worth
more than $2 billion.
This year brought to a conclusion the tenure of
Geoff Dixon as Chairman of Tourism Australia.
Geoff’s contribution to the industry over a career
spanning many years has been significant. As
Chairman for the last six years he has provided
stability and credibility to Tourism Australia, and the
organisation, and tourism industry is much the better
for it. On behalf of all the staff at Tourism Australia
we sincerely thank Geoff and our other outgoing
Directors – Kate Lamont and Sandra McPhee AM –
for their outstanding contribution to the business.
The year ahead presents exciting opportunities for
the industry. On behalf of the Board and the Tourism
Australia team, I look forward to working with our
government and industry partners in 2015/16.

John O’Sullivan

Jacobs Creek vineyards | Barossa Valley, South Australia.
South Australia’s Barossa Valley is one of the world’s finest wine producing regions. It is
also renowned for its fresh seasonal produce, artisan food producers and award winning
restaurants. Drive the Barossa’s food and wine trails or explore the countryside by bicycle.
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Performance summary
This section summarises Tourism Australia’s
overall performance, including its progress and
achievements against the Australian Government
programmes: ‘Increasing demand for Australia as

a tourism destination’ and ‘Industry development,’
the effectiveness of its marketing initiatives and
campaigns, how it managed its finances, and general
management and operations of the organisation.

AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT PROGRAMME PERFORMANCE
Actual
2013/14

Goal
2014/15

Actual
2014/15

At Dec 2013

At Dec 2014

At Dec 2014

Overnight tourism spend

$80.42 billion>
up 4.1%

$84.4 billion>
up 5.0%

$85.51 billion>
up 6.3%

Spend from all international visitors

$28.93 billion>
up 6.1%

No target set

$31.08 billion>
up 7.4%

Spend from Tourism Australia key
markets

$23.34 billion>
up 6.2%

$25.69 billion>
up 10.1%

$25.14 billion>
up 7.7%

Leisure visitor spend from Tourism
Australia key markets

$12.93 billion>
up 12.2 %

$14.56 billion>
up 12.6%

$14.21 billion>
up 9.9%

Business event spend from all
international markets

$3.61 billion>
down 12.1%

$3.86 billion>
up 7.1%

$4.05 billion>
up 12.2%

At Jun 2014

At Jun 2015

At Jun 2015

67%

No target set

64%

29.4 million>
up 31%

No target set

27.7 million>
down 6%

At Jun 2014

At Jun 2015

At Jun 2015

82%

over 80%

86%

Programme

Key performance indicator

Increasing
demand

Visitor spend

Marketing effectiveness
Tourism Australia marketing campaign
recall by the target customer
Total monthly unique visitors to Tourism
Australia websites
Industry
development

Stakeholder satisfaction
Stakeholders indicate Tourism Australia
adds value to their business (excellent,
very good or good value)

Notes: 1. KPIs and targets as outlined in the Tourism Australia Corporate Plan 2014/17 and Portfolio Budget Statements 2014/15.
2. Percentrage change figures are year on year.

Overall, Tourism Australia performed well against the
Australian Government programme goals, with spend
goals on track or within 3.5 per cent of the target.
While total monthly unique visitors to Tourism
Australia websites decreased, we increased our
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digital marketing partnership activity. This included
promotions that leveraged partner websites,
increasing the number of consumers exposed to
Tourism Australia’s marketing activities. Tracking of
this data will be available from 2015/16.
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FINANCIAL
Tourism Australia’s
appropriation of $129.7 million
was supplemented by an
additional $13.5 million from
the Asia Marketing Fund,
$24.2 million in other direct
revenue and $35.4 million in
indirect revenue from partners
(see Figure 6).

O V E R V I E W

Appropriation $129.7 million

Direct revenue (including Asia Marketing
Fund $13.5 million and other, $24.2 million)

Indirect revenue $35.4 million

Figure 6: Tourism Australia 2014/15 high-level budget

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS

This included working with
the Department of Foreign
Affairs and Trade and Austrade
under the Smaller Government
Efficiency Reform Programme,
and continuing the roll-out of
Tourism Australia’s technology
services strategic programme. The
latter has increased our backoffice efficiencies and reduced our
corporate costs from 11 per cent
of total expenditure in 2010/11
to 8 per cent in 2014/15, as
Figure 7 shows.
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12%

10.9%

10%

14
$ millions

In line with ministerial direction,
Tourism Australia continued to
reduce red tape and fine-tune
internal processes.

8%

10

7.8%

6

6%
4%

2

2%
0%
2010/11

2011/12

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

Total budget

Corporate % of total budget

(left-hand axis)

(right-hand axis)

Figure 7: Decreases in corporate costs over five years
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Key events

Tourism Australia
wins destination
marketing award
at World Routes

New Board
members >
Andrew Fairley AM,>
Anna Guillan
and Tony South
welcomed
Restaurant Australia
unveiled in Malaysia
and showcased to
media at Bill’s Café
in Tokyo

JUL

AUG

Australian
tourism
investment
opportunities
app launched

High-yield
distribution
strategy
launched in
China

SEP
Restaurant
Australia
campaign
debuts globally
with a pop-up
Restaurant
Australia in
London, an
OpenRice
promotion in
Hong Kong,
gourmet
food trucks
across Paris, a
gastronomic
festival in Brazil,
chef Tetsuya
Wakuda event
in Singapore
and Savouring
Australia
campaign in
New Zealand

2014

OCT

Tourism
Australia
expands
global
marketing
deal with
Virgin
Australia

Austrade
and Tourism
Australia
host Hong
Kong Hotel
Investment
VIP lunch

Restaurant
Australia runs
across nine
Chinese cities
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The world’s top
food and wine
influencers attend
Invite the World to
Dinner in Hobart

NOV

The Hon.
Andrew
Robb AO MP
launches
international
business
events
initiative

Tourism
Australia signs
partnerships with
China Southern,
Singapore
Airlines, Etihad
Airways

DEC
Luxury
Experiences
campaign
launches in
the USA

Tourism
Australia and
Austrade
showcase
investment
opportunities
to China’s
Entrepreneur
Club

Chinese
President Xi
Jinping’s visit
to Australia
attracts more
than 120
million views
on social
media

More
than 200
industry
leaders
attend
G’Day USA
Australia
Tourism
Summit

Jimmy’s Australian
Food Adventure airs to
more than 4 million
viewers in the UK
Inaugural
Destination
Australia
Conference held
in Sydney

2015
JAN FEB

The Hon.
Andrew
Robb AO MP
leads trade
delegation
at Australia
Business
Week in
India

2015 AFC
Asian Cup
campaigns
run in Japan,
South Korea
and China

Landmark
air-services
agreement
is signed
between
China and
Australia

Business
Events
Australia
promotes
Australia at
Asia-Pacific
Incentives and
Meetings Expo

New-look
australia.com
unveiled

Awardwinning US
television food
show Avec Eric
airs to a global
audience of
millions

MAR

Sir David
Attenborough
returns to
film the Great
Barrier Reef 60
years after his
first visit

Aussie
Specialist travel
agents from
the UK and
Europe attend
Corroborree
Europe in
Adelaide

UK launch
Two weeks
in Australia
campaign
with 11 travel
distributors

APR

The largest
ever Australia
contingent
participates in
Business Events
Australia North
Asia Showcase
in Shanghai

2015 ICC Cricket
World Cup held
in Australia;
international
visitors spend
$325 million

More than
200 leading
travel agents
from China,
Hong Kong
and Taiwan
meet in the
Whitsundays
for Corroboree
Greater China

Australian
Tourism
Exchange held
in Melbourne

MAY

JUN

Partnerships
established with
China Eastern
and Alibaba to
boost marketing
activity in China

Tasty Road

The Hon. Andrew
Robb AO MP
announces new
multiple-entry
tourist visas for
visitors from
China

episodes air in
South Korea
to more than
7 million viewers
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Visitors and spend as at 30 June 2015
TOTAL VISITOR ARRIVALS AND TOTAL VISITOR SPEND
BY COUNTRY OF RESIDENCE AS AT 30 JUNE 2015
International arrivals and spending are both at record
levels. We welcomed 7.1 million international visitors in
2015. These visitors injected more than $33 billion into
the Australian economy.

Total international arrivals to Australia

+7%
2015

2014

7.1 million
6.7 million

Total international visitor spend

+10%
2015

2014

$33.4 billion

$30.3 billion

Size of circle represents
relative size of visitor
spend in Australia in 2014/15
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CANADA

USA

BRAZIL

142,600

576,600

46,400

+6%

+9%

+19%

$0.8bn

$3.0bn

$0.3bn

+6%

+14%

+11%

UNITED KINGDOM

GERMANY

CHINA

666,200

188,400

927,700

0%

+5%

+22%

$3.5bn

$1.0bn

$7.0bn

-2%

-2%

+32%

SOUTH KOREA
214,800
+8%

$1.2bn
+7%

JAPAN
323,900
-4%

$1.3bn
-1%

HONG KONG
203,800
+3%

$1.1bn
+14%

INDONESIA
152,100
+3%

$0.6bn
-8%

FRANCE

ITALY

INDIA

SINGAPORE

MALAYSIA

NEW ZEALAND

118,800

72,300

220,200

371,900

327,800

1,266,900

+4%

-2%

+19%

+2%

+5%

+4%

$0.7bn

$0.5bn

$1.0bn

$1.2bn

$1.1bn

$2.5bn

+5%

-10%

+39%

+13%

+7%

+5%

Source: Australian Bureau of Statistics, Overseas Arrivals and Departures
Tourism Research Australia, International Visitor Survey, 30 June 2015.
Percentage change figures are year on year.
bn = billion
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Awards
CONSUMER AND TRADE MARKETING

AWARD

Best Social Media Presence – Tourism Board

Skifties Awards, New York, USA

Best Destination Marketer

World Routes Awards, Chicago, USA

Best Destination Marketing Award

Routes Marketing Awards, Yunnan, China

Best Use of Research/Insights for Restaurant Australia

CommsCon Awards, Sydney

Best Microsite/Native Advertising – ‘Wish it, win It’ promotion

Pacific Area Newspaper Publishers’ Association 2014
Advertising & Marketing Awards, New Zealand

Best Media Thinking – ‘Explore Your Passions’ campaign

News Works NZ Newspaper Awards, New Zealand

Best News Brand Campaign – ‘Explore Your Passions’ campaign

News Works NZ Newspaper Awards, New Zealand

National Tourism Organisation of the Year

South Korea Travel Times Awards, South Korea

National Tourism Organisation Partnership
Marketer of the Year

South Korea Travel Times Awards, South Korea

Best Youth National Tourism Organisation

South Korea University Newspaper, South Korea

Best National Tourism Organisation Marketing Activity

Travel Information Times, South Korea

Top National Tourism Organisation – South Korean Youth
Campaign

South Korea University Newspaper, South Korea

Travel Weekly Magellan Gold Award – Advertising/Marketing
Campaign – Australia luxury co-op between Travel Leaders,
Tourism Australia, Tourism Northern Territory, Destination
New South Wales, Tourism Victoria and South Australian
Tourism Commission

Travel Weekly Magellan Gold Award, USA

Gold Adrian Award in Public Relations –
CorOzpondents campaign

Hospitality Sales & Marketing Association Adrian
Awards, USA

Gold Adrian Award in Digital Marketing –
‘Australia Someday’ campaign with Virgin Australia

Hospitality Sales & Marketing Association Adrian
Awards, USA

Bronze award for Excellence in Content Marketing –
for travelogue series Jason Down Under

Marketing Excellence Awards 2014, Malaysia

Best Tourism Board on Promotional Strategy

U Travel Awards, Hong Kong

Silver award for Best use of Influencers for Restaurant Australia
Invite the World to Dinner event

Southeast Asia PR Awards 2015, Singapore

AME Silver Medallion – Sport and Leisure – ‘Australia Someday’
campaign with Virgin Australia

2015 World’s Best Advertising & Marketing
Effectiveness Awards (AME), USA

AME Bronze Medallion – Sport and Leisure – ‘Australia
Someday’ campaign with Virgin Australia

2015 World’s Best Advertising & Marketing
Effectiveness Awards (AME), USA
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CONSUMER AND TRADE MARKETING

AWARD

AME Bronze Medallion – Website – ‘Australia Someday’
campaign with Virgin Australia

2015 World’s Best Advertising & Marketing
Effectiveness Awards (AME), USA

AME Bronze Medallion – Integrated (mixed media) – ‘Australia
Someday’ campaign with Virgin Australia

2015 World’s Best Advertising & Marketing
Effectiveness Awards (AME), USA

Performance Media and Marketing (including Direct
Response, TV, Email etc.) – ‘Australia Someday’ campaign with
Virgin Australia

Creative Media Awards, USA

Best Use of Video and Film – ‘Visit Soon’ campaign with British
Airways

UK Travel Marketing Awards, UK

Exhibition of the Year Award – ATE14

2014 Meeting and Events Australia Industry Awards

‘Best stand’, Routes Asia

Routes Asia, Malaysia

Winner, destination

World Routes, USA

Overall winner, destination

Routes Asia, Malaysia

Bestselling destination – South Pacific

Recommend Magazine – Annual Recommend
Readers’ Choice Awards, USA

Marketer of the Year – Nick Baker, Chief Marketing Officer

The Association of Data-driven Marketing and
Advertising, Australia

BUSINESS EVENTS MARKETING

AWARD

Best Overseas National Tourism Organisation in China
promoting Business Tourism and Meetings, Incentives,
Conferences and Exhibitions

TTG Awards, China

Best International Meetings, Incentives, Conferences and
Exhibitions Destination

8th China Golden Chair Awards, China

Best Meeting and Incentive Destination (long haul) of the Year

2014 China Travel and Meeting Industry
Awards, China

Best Meetings, Incentives, Conferences and Exhibitions
Destination of the Year 2014

Miracle Workers Award, China

CORPORATE

AWARD

Bronze for Tourism Australia Annual Report 2013/14

Australasian Reporting Awards

Corporate Social Responsibility (more than 30 Employees) – ATE14

2014 Meeting and Events Australia Industry Awards

Education Award (more than 30 Employees) – ATE14

2014 Meeting and Events Australia Industry Awards
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Australian Government programmes:
>> Increase demand for Australia
as a travel destination 32
>> Industry development 66

Performance
in Detail

Kooljaman | Cape Leveque, Western Australia.
Owned by the Aboriginal communities of Djarindjin and One Arm Point, Kooljaman is a place
where visitors can experience Indigenous heritage that stretches back thousands of years.
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Australian Government programme:
Increase demand for Australia as a travel destination
Objective: Identify and target best-prospect consumers and inspire them to travel to Australia. To focus
activities and resources take a dedicated market categorisation approach.
PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Overall result: Performing well. Key deliverables achieved.
KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
>> Delivered more than 50 integrated marketing
campaigns under the There’s nothing like Australia
brand umbrella across 17 markets
>> Integrated more than 200 partners in
There’s nothing like Australia cooperative
marketing campaigns
>> Generated more than $1.36 billion in media reach
from Restaurant Australia activity and delivered
promotional events in 15 countries
>> Achieved more than 350 million social media
impressions via Facebook, Twitter, Instagram
and other channels
>> Registered 6 million Facebook fans, 2 million
Google+ followers and more than 1 million
Instagram followers
>> Negotiated more than $2 million of media support
for the Indigenous Film Project, which combined
with public relations activity generated a media
reach of $87 million.
KEY CHALLENGES
>> Competition from other national tourism
organisations, particularly in Asia, where there is
significant increased spend and effort to highlight
fashionable tourism destinations
>> Changing consumer behaviours, fragmenting of
media channels and audience – previously reliable
channels cannot deliver the size and quality
audiences enjoyed in the past
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>> Increasing consumer demand for instant and
personalised information, which requires regular
updating of mobile and digital platforms.
LOOKING FORWARD
>> Dedicated consumer research will continue to
inform marketing strategies and resourcing
>> There’s nothing like Australia will continue
as our campaign framework. Areas of focus
include: promoting Australia’s food and wine;
reinvigorating aquatic and coastal experiences;
increasing awareness of Indigenous tourism
experiences; growing Australia’s reputation as an
events destination; and promoting luxury tourism
experiences to attract high-yield travellers
>> Marketing efforts will continue to focus on
digital and social media, recognising their use by
consumers for planning and booking travel, and
sharing holiday experiences
>> Partnerships will continue to be critical to success,
underlying the importance of flexible campaign
platforms to integrate multiple marketing messages
>> Data analytics will inform continual enhancements
to australia.com and australia.cn to improve
user experience.
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LEISURE CONSUMER MARKETING – KEY MARKETING INITIATIVES IN 2014/15
THERE’S NOTHING LIKE AUSTRALIA
Marketing communications under the There’s nothing
like Australia campaign continued to highlight
the best attractions and experiences Australia has
to offer.
The campaign has attracted more than 180 partners,
appeared in 25 countries and has been translated
into 17 languages. Since its launch in May 2010, the
number of international visitors to Australia has
increased by 19 per cent, and international visitor
expenditure has increased by 29 per cent.
There’s nothing like Australia aims to encourage the
world to experience Australia by increasing consumer
knowledge and building a positive perception of
Australia’s tourism offerings. In 2014/15 a variety of
marketing activities across multiple channels inspired
consumers to visit Australia. This included brand
advertising, public relations, promotions, events
and advocacy programmes. Tourism Australia also
invested significantly in its digital and social media
platforms and activities in response to consumers’
growing use of these channels.

“Each one of us is taking a piece of
Australia with us and leaving our
heart behind.”
– Sanjeev Kapoor, India
Sanjeev Kapoor was a guest at the Invite the World to Dinner
event in Hobart, November 2014. Sanjeev is India’s most
celebrated face of Indian cuisine today. He is a chef, restaurateur,
author as well as founder of his own TV Channel ‘FoodFood’.
He has a loyal following of more than 150 million viewers in
60 countries.
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RESTAURANT AUSTRALIA
The research

The campaign

The campaign is based on insights from Tourism
Australia’s Consumer Demand Project (CDP).

Activity was undertaken in three phases – industry
engagement through the ‘Rally Cry’ phase, in-market
consumer events during the ‘Ignite the World’ phase,
and media engagement and advocacy through the
‘Invite the World’ phase.

Conducted across 11 of Australia’s key tourism
markets, the research showed that ‘great food, wine
and local cuisine’ is a major factor in holiday decision
making (38 per cent), ranking third ahead of worldclass beauty and natural environments (37 per cent).
The opportunity
The CDP showed that only 26 per cent of people who
have never visited Australia regard it as a destination
for good food and wine (see Figure 8). The figure
shows a significant perception gap about Australia’s
food and wine. Those who have visited and tried
Australian food and wine rate it much higher than
those who have not visited.
However, 60 per cent of those who have visited
Australia rate it highly for its food and wine
experiences, ranking it second behind France and
ahead of Italy. In fact, visitors from China, the USA,
France, India, Indonesia, Malaysia, the UK and South
Korea rank Australia as the number one destination
for food and wine.

The Rally Cry phase encouraged involvement from
Australian tourism operators with a food and wine
focus. Almost 2,000 Australian food and wine
businesses shared their food and wine experiences
for restaurant.australia.com, which we used to create
stories about Australia’s people, produce and places.
During the Ignite the World phase, which focused on
improving awareness of Australia’s food and wine
experiences in key international markets, Tourism
Australia worked with partners to create Restaurant
Australia promotions and campaigns. Launch events
and promotions were held in 15 countries, reaching
more than 1.25 billion people across the globe.

Figure 8: Consumer perception of the quality of Australian food and wine by those who have visited Australia compared with
those who have not.

CONSUMERS WHO HAVE NOT VISITED
FRANCE

60%

ITALY

57%
33%

SPAIN

31%
29%
26%
24%
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FRANCE

66%
60%

AUSTRALIA
ITALY

58%
40%

GERMANY

JAPAN

JAPAN

SPAIN

34%

GERMANY

34%

AUSTRALIA
MEXICO

22%

ARGENTINA

22%

USA

21%

CONSUMERS WHO HAVE VISITED

THAILAND

31%

HONG KONG
THAILAND

30%

USA

29%

ARGENTINA
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RESTAURANT AUSTRALIA KEY CAMPAIGN OBJECTIVES
Objective

Results

More than $500 million added to food, wine
and beverage expenditure by December 2015

At June 2015, spend on food, wine and beverage
increased by $531 million – we have already
exceeded our target with six months to go

Increase perception of Australia as a quality
food and wine destination by those who
have not visited

Tourism Australia research indicates that the
perception of Australia’s food and wine continues to
improve across key markets

Invite the World to Dinner
The campaign culminated in a gala dinner at the
Museum of Old and New Art (MONA) in Tasmania
in November 2014, at the end of nationwide
gastronomic famils for 86 of the world’s top food
and wine influencers. The culinary who’s who came
from 16 different countries and included food
and wine journalists, global celebrity chefs, major
broadcast crew members, bloggers, global celebrities
and S.Pelligrino ‘World’s 50 Best Restaurant’ judges.
It was an extraordinary culinary event.

With a combined audience reach of more than
400 million, it aimed to showcase the best of
Australia’s food and wine produce and whet the
appetite of international travellers.
The dinner was delivered in partnership with
Tourism Tasmania and the famil programme
was arranged with state and territory tourism
organisation partners. Overall, the campaign has
been a huge success and is on track to achieve
campaign objectives.

Left: Guests enjoy pre-dinner drinks with chargrilled marron and wood roasted lobster at the Glenorchy Arts and Sculpture Park
(GASP!), before heading to the Nolan Gallery, MONA for dinner. Right: Invite the World to Dinner guests dined from a ‘best of Australia’
menu prepared by multi-award winning chefs Neil Perry AM (right), Peter Gilmore (centre left) and Ben Shewry (left). Here the chefs are
joined by chef and TV personality Heston Blumenthal (centre right) of three Michelin-starred The Fat Duck Restaurant, Bray, the UK.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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AUSTRALIA.COM RELAUNCH
As part of Tourism Australia’s digital
transformation programme, we launched an
upgraded version of australia.com in early 2015.
The upgrade is intended to improve the site for
users and inspire more people to plan and book
travel to and in Australia.
Our focus on marketing Australian tourism using
the latest digital channels extends back to the
early 1990s when Tourism Australia became
the first national tourism body to launch a
destination travel site. Over the past two decades,
australia.com has continued to be a foundation
platform for Tourism Australia’s marketing activity.
In 2014/15, australia.com attracted more than
21 million unique visitors (including its firewallprotected Chinese version).
The new version of australia.com now offers
international travellers more personalised and
relevant content, depending on their home
country and interests. Consumers can get inspired,
find information, plan their travel experiences,
connect with tourism operators and share their
travel stories.
The site is available in 11 languages. It includes
more than 700 pages of tourism information,
works across all devices, and features content and
conversations from Tourism Australia’s popular
social media channels.

“Globally more than 50 per cent
of consumers use digital channels
to research, plan and book travel
and this is expected to grow
in the next decade. Marketing
Australia to consumers locally
and overseas is clearly changing
as a result of the advances in
technology. We recognise this
and that is why we invest in
australia.com – to  meet the needs
not just of today’s travellers but
also for future visitors.”
– John O’Sullivan, Managing
Director, Tourism Australia

AUSTRALIA.COM
australia.com

Number of unique
visitors at 30 June 2015
14,270,117

australia.com mobile site*

1,358,486

australia.cn

5,771,997

Total

21,400,600

*the australia.com mobile site was switched off in February 2015 as the
new version of australia.com is optimised for mobile devices.
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MAJOR EVENTS
In 2014, Tourism Australia undertook a review of
major events in Australia to assess opportunities
for us to play a bigger role in them.
The review showed that we could expand and
improve national-level marketing of Australia’s
major events to enhance the promotions already
undertaken by state and territory governments.

From 2015/16, Tourism Australia will pursue an
expanded marketing, strategic development and
coordination role with the aim of attracting more
international visitors and highlighting Australia’s
major events.

ICC Cricket World Cup

Chinese New Year, a boon for Australian tourism

The 2015 ICC World Cup was hailed as ‘the most
popular in history’ after a One Day International
record crowd of 93,013 saw Australia win over
New Zealand in the final at the Melbourne Cricket
Ground on 29 March 2015. More than 1 million
people attended the 49 matches in February and
March across Australia and New Zealand.

The 2015 Chinese New Year celebrations delivered
a significant boost in visits as travellers from across
Asia chose Australia as the ideal destination to
welcome in the Year of the Sheep.

To capitalise on the tourism opportunities presented
by the event, the Australian and New Zealand
Governments signed a new agreement to offer joint
visitor visa arrangements, which increased flexibility
for tourists, allowing them to move freely between
the two countries during the tournament.

Visitors from Greater China were the most significant
contributors, with arrivals from the region increasing
19 per cent during the March 2015 quarter. The spend
by Chinese visitors rose by a record 32 per cent during
the quarter. Additional capacity provided by Chinese
airlines, such as Air China and China Southern
Airlines, helped realise the tourism opportunities.

The Lanterns of the Terracotta Warriors,
Dawes Point | Sydney, New South Wales.
Image courtesy of Mark Seabury
(@markseabury)
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“The 2015 AFC Asian Cup was a 23-day ‘festival of football’ and provided
the perfect platform to showcase Australia’s credentials as a great place
to visit amongst some of our most important overseas markets. It was a
fantastic example of how a partnership with Tourism Australia can drive
international visitation to a major event – which ultimately benefits
both tourism and sport in Australia.”  – Michael Brown, Chief Executive,
2015 AFC Asian Cup Australian Local Organising Committee

2015 AFC Asian Cup – a tourism ‘free kick’
Australia’s hosting of the 2015 AFC Asian Cup
attracted the most viewers in the event’s history.
Around 1 billion people around the world tuned
in to matches held in January 2015 in Sydney,
Melbourne, Brisbane, Canberra and Newcastle.
More than 650,000 spectators attended live
games, surpassing the 500,000 target and
delivering ticket sales of $20 million above the
$14 million estimated.
Campaigns to promote the event were run in China,
South Korea and Japan, in partnership with the
2015 AFC Asian Cup Australian Local Organising
Committee, state and territory tourism bodies,
Austrade, the Department of Foreign Affairs and
Trade, and the Department of Health.
The promotion ran across print, online, outdoor and
broadcast platforms. It aimed to raise awareness
of Australia as a major event destination and to
showcase Australia as a holiday destination to
football fans and other visitors.
In China, a digital campaign on key websites and
apps drove consumers to the australia.cn/Asian Cup
landing page. Cooperative campaigns with two Key
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Distribution Partners – CTS and Shenzhen CITS –
included 2015 AFC Asian Cup packages for consumers.
Tourism Australia’s media hosting programme
supported seven visits from China with a potential
audience reach of more than 15 million people.
The campaign in South Korea featured four key
activities – an Asian Cup and Restaurant Australia
broadcast and media buy; a partnership marketing
campaign with Tourism and Events Queensland,
Samsung Card and Daum Kakao; a Facebook and
Kakao campaign; and aligned tactical trade activities.
Television slots secured during the final match
achieved a cumulative reach of 9.4 million people –
19 per cent of South Korea’s population. The digital
campaign generated 1.4 million views of the Asian
Cup television campaign and more than 1 million
clicks to the australia.com/Asian Cup landing page.
In Japan, a promotion with the Asahi Shimbun
newspaper reached 19 million readers, with more than
9,000 visiting the australia.com/Asian Cup landing
page and entering the Asahi/Asian Cup competition
(against a target of 7,000). Tourism Australia also
worked with travel agencies Japan Travel Bureau and
Nishitetsu to develop packages and tactical offers.
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THE BEAUTIFUL GAME
IS ABOUT TO GET
MORE BEAUTIFUL

THE AFC ASIAN CUP IS COMING
TO AUSTRALIA IN JANUARY 2015
SEE MORE AT AUSTRALIA.COM/ASIANCUP

Filming for AFC Asian Cup advertisement | Gold Coast, Queensland
Tourism Australia partnered with the 2015 AFC Asian Cup Australian Local Organising Committee to promote the event across key
Asian markets.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT

39

P E R F O R M A N C E

I N

D E T A I L

PROMOTING INDIGENOUS TOURISM
In 2014/15, 11 per cent of international visitors
included an Aboriginal cultural experience in their trip.
Tourism Australia supports Indigenous tourism
businesses through the Indigenous Tourism
Champions Programme (ITCP). In 2014/15, the
programme continued to grow under the joint
leadership of Tourism Australia and Indigenous
Business Australia by promoting businesses that offer
authentic Indigenous tourism experiences delivered
by Indigenous guides or hosts. Fifty-three Indigenous
tourism experiences are now promoted to consumers
and travel distributors. ITCP has three focus areas
– consumer marketing, trade engagement and
industry communications.
The major highlight of consumer marketing during
the year was the development of the inspirational
film Aboriginal Australia: Our country is waiting
for you, which showcases Australia’s Indigenous
tourism experiences.
Other activities included a joint marketing initiative
with Tourism Holdings Limited (thl) – the largest
provider of holiday vehicles for rent and sale under

the Maui, Britz, Mighty, KEA Australia and Motek
Vehicles brands – to promote Indigenous Tourism
Champions. The promotion ran from October
to December 2014 across thl’s social channels,
websites, print collateral and marketing activity.
Indigenous Tourism Champions also participated in
the Restaurant Australia campaign by hosting food
and wine influencers from Brazil, Canada, Singapore,
Indonesia and the USA during November 2014.
ITCP continued to have a strong presence within
Tourism Australia’s trade engagement activities.
This included participation in the G’Day USA Tourism
Summit and a dedicated stand at the Australian
Tourism Exchange, where Indigenous Tourism
Champions met with international wholesalers to
promote their experiences and products. Tourism
Australia also represented the Champions at
Tourism Australia’s Corroboree Europe trade event in
April 2015 – which provided dedicated training for
European Aussie Specialist travel agents. In follow-up
surveys, 79 per cent of travel agents who participated
in Corroboree said they intended to sell more ITCP
products as a result.

ABORIGINAL AUSTRALIA: OUR COUNTRY IS WAITING FOR YOU
To increase awareness and participation in Indigenous tourism experiences, Tourism Australia and Austrade
partnered to create an inspirational three-minute film – Aboriginal Australia: Our country is waiting for you
– to show a contemporary, welcoming and inclusive view of Indigenous touring.
Directed by leading Australian filmmakers Brendan Fletcher and Warwick Thornton, the film brings to life
the variety of Australia’s world-class Indigenous tourism offerings, which range from coastal adventure
activities to lush rainforest and urban experiences. Indigenous operators highlighted in the film include:
Davidson’s Arnhemland Safaris; Lirrwi Yolngu Tourism; Brian Lee Hunters Creek Tagalong Tours; Kooljaman
at Cape Leveque; Bundy’s Cultural Tours; Lombadina; Mossman Gorge Centre; Royal Botanical Gardens
Sydney; Silky Oaks Lodge and Uluru Aboriginal Tours.
Launched in July 2015, the film will be distributed globally through Tourism Australia’s international
networks. It has received strong support from the tourism industry and has been broadcast by
partners including Sydney Airport, Brisbane Airport, Virgin Australia, Etihad Airways, Accor Hotels and
InterContinental Hotels Group.
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Lirrwi | East Arnhem Land, Northern Territory.
Lirrwi Yolngu Tourism offers an immersive Aboriginal cultural experience where visitors can learn about the unique Yolngu culture,
language and kinship. The photograph shows behind the scenes at the Aboriginal Australia: Our country is waiting for you film shoot
and includes film-makers Brendan Fletcher (bottom right) and Warwick Thornton (middle right), filming a traditional dance of the
Yolngu people.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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INNOVATIVE SOCIAL MEDIA

Social media research projects

In 2014/15, Tourism Australia’s digital marketing
continued to personalise, socialise and mobilise its
offerings, enabling consumers to share their own
stories and experiences. Tourism Australia continued
to support this through its social media programme,
focusing on stimulating conversations about Australia
through Facebook, Twitter, Google+ and Instagram, as
well as Weibo and WeChat in China.

In 2014/15, Tourism Australia investigated its
Instagram and Facebook platforms. Research included
a dedicated survey of industry and government
stakeholders on the value of Tourism Australia’s
social media platforms to their business.

Tourism Australia’s social media platforms play an
increasingly important role in encouraging people
to take holidays in Australia. Tourism Australia’s
social media team curates images posted on
these platforms from the thousands submitted
by travellers and tourism operators each day.
These platforms also provide a stage for Australian
tourism businesses to showcase their product and
experiences to a global audience.

Followers on social media platforms
as at 30 June 2015

6.2 million www.facebook.com/seeaustralia

235,000

www.twitter.com/australia

2.1 million

www.google.com/+australia

1.4 million

@Australia

Instagram
Tourism Australia’s @Australia page attracted more
than 1 million followers in 2014/15, making it the
most successful national tourism organisation
page worldwide. In a 2014 survey of more than
1,300 Tourism Australia Instagram followers,
69 per cent of Australian respondents said they
thought posting photos on the site could help
promote travel to Australia. Another 88 per cent said
the page had increased their likelihood of travelling
around Australia. Of the international followers,
91 per cent said @Australia had inspired them to find
out more about Australia as a holiday destination,
and 87 per cent said the content made them more
likely to travel to Australia.
Facebook
Images of native animals, beaches and landscapes
posted on Tourism Australia’s Facebook page are
influencing international visitors to travel to Australia.
Results from an australia.com Facebook survey
highlight the role social media platforms and usergenerated content play in stimulating conversation
about Australia and promoting the country as a travel
destination of choice. The survey found 72 per cent of
followers used the page for holiday inspiration, while
82 per cent said the page influenced their likelihood
of travelling to Australia, and 16 per cent had actually
made a travel booking based on a post they liked.
Stakeholder study

413,000 www.weibo.com/seeaustralia
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With the growing importance of social media
as a destination promotion tool, Tourism
Australia undertook research in May 2015 to
understand the value of these platforms for its
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stakeholders – tourism industry operators, state and
territory tourism organisations and regional tourism
organisations. The survey aimed to understand the
benefit of involvement with Tourism Australia’s
social media programme.

Stakeholder benefits of involvement in
Tourism Australia’s social media programme
% RESPONDENTS

Likes and fans

94

Engagement and
interaction

81

Bookings

39

Tourism Australia’s social media was rated as significantly better
than others in the tourism sector by the majority of businesses
(94%) participating in the survey. Three-quarters of respondents
said they highly recommended Tourism Australia’s social media.

South Australia’s Adventure Bay Charters’ owner said
the site had given his business greater exposure to
international markets and had helped grow overseas
visitors to their site.

“We’ve learnt that if you want
to engage customers, the images
have got to be cute, funny or
sexy. They’ve got to make people
smile.” – Matt Waller, Adventure
Bay Charters

Top: Sydney Opera House | Sydney, New South Wales.
Image courtesy of @bridgeclimb
Centre: El Questro Wilderness Park | The Kimberley,
Western Australia. Image courtesy of @nicole_foster
Bottom: Breakfast at Lizard Island Resort | Lizard
Island, Queensland. Image courtesy of @jewelszee
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PARTNERING FOR SUCCESS
As a partnership marketing
organisation Tourism Australia
focuses on working with commercial
businesses and state and territory
tourism organisations to increase
international tourism expenditure.
Partnerships allow Tourism Australia
to extend the reach of campaigns
through bought media and the
partners’ own marketing channels.
Importantly, commercial partners
link consumers to booking channels,
driving people with an intention to
visit to take the next step and book
their Australian holiday.
In 2014/15, Tourism Australia worked
with more than 200 tourism industry
and other partners that contributed
almost $60 million. This involved
cooperative relationships with airlines
including Virgin Australia, Etihad
Airways, China Southern Airlines,
Singapore Airlines, China Eastern
Airlines, Air New Zealand, Air China,
Cathay Pacific Airways, Malaysian
Airlines and Air India.
Tourism Australia continues to build
and diversify relationships with online
distributors and retailers, the media
and financial service providers for
campaigns in 2015/16. These will
complement existing relationships
with tour operators and travel agents
through a Key Distribution Partner
programme in international markets.

I N
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Significant partnerships
2014/15 Memoranda of Understanding
Tourism Australia
undertook
Memoranda of
Understanding with
nine industry partners
in 2014/15
These partnerships
bolstered Tourism
Australia’s marketing
efforts around the
globe

Virgin Australia
Etihad Airways
China Southern Airlines
Singapore Airlines
China Eastern Airlines
Air New Zealand
Air China
STA Travel

In June 2015, Tourism Australia announced renewed
partnerships with Virgin Australia and Etihad Airways, which
will significantly increase joint funding for promoting tourism
to Australia in the USA and European markets. Under these
arrangements, which began on 1 July 2015, Tourism Australia
will increase cooperative marketing activities with Virgin
Australia to $50 million over five years, and with Etihad
Airways to more than $30 million over the same period.
Significant strategic marketing partnerships have also
been signed in China. These include a renewed partnership
agreement with China Eastern Airlines for the next three
years, and a new agreement with Alibaba, China’s leading
e-commerce retailer, designed to capitalise on its expansion
in the travel sector. Both partnerships will build on and be
integrated into Tourism Australia’s Key Distribution Partner
programme in China – involving 30 of China’s leading tour
operators and travel agencies focused on independent
travel itineraries.
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Campaign highlights
around the world

The Arkaba Walk | Flinders Ranges, South Australia.
The guided four-day Arkaba Walk takes visitors through the spectacular outback scenery of
Wilpena Pound and Elder Range. Kangaroos, wallaroos and emus are regular sightings along the walk.
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CHINA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM CHINA (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+22%

+32%

927,770

$7.0 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
China’s taste buds tempted with Restaurant Australia
The launch
Restaurant Australia whet China’s growing appetite
for travel to Australia at a Shanghai launch event
for 400 food and wine opinion leaders, key media
representatives, distribution and airline partners, and
representatives from federal and state government
organisations. The event was delivered in partnership
with Tourism Western Australia, China Eastern
Airlines, Austrade, M on the Bund and Ultimate
Winery Experiences of Australia.
Hosted by Australia’s Ambassador to China, Frances
Adamson and Tourism Australia Managing Director
John O’Sullivan, the event generated 169 news stories
across Chinese news media, achieving an equivalent
advertising value of $4 million.
The launch included premium wine tasting and a
dinner menu created by Hamish Pollitt (Executive
Chef of M on the Bund) of freshly shucked Australian
Pacific oysters, Western Australia lobster, Australian
Wagyu beef, Murray cod, M’s famous pavlova, and
Haigh’s salted chocolate truffles.

Consumer ‘activation’ with Key Distribution Partners
to drive bookings
In conjunction with the launch event, a Restaurant
Australia-themed interaction zone was set up in
Shanghai Super Brand Mall. Chinese consumers
experienced Australia through an augmented
reality display, learned about Australian produce and
wines, and were able to talk to representatives from
eight Key Distribution Partners about Australian
holiday packages.
The second phase of the Restaurant Australia
campaign, was held in Beijing in March 2015.
The event included representatives from seven
Key Distribution Partners, Singapore Airlines
and Air China. Participating partners reported
more than 10,000 enquiries about Australian
holiday packages during the event. Restaurant
Australia-themed product shows were also held
in Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Hangzhou and Nanjing,
each in partnership with local distribution partners.
More than 19,000 product enquiries were generated
during these events.
Following these consumer events, brand advertising
was rolled out across cinema, out-of-home, print,
in-taxi television and digital media in Shanghai,
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Pebble Beach restaurant, Qualia | Hamilton Island, Queensland.
At the relaxed Pebble Beach restaurant, the emphasis is on Pacific Rim cuisine and organic produce set amongst spectacular views of the
Great Barrier Reef’s turquoise waters.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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Popular Chinese actress Shu Chen and her husband Yin-Yin Zhao
visit Jacobs Creek (Barossa Valley, South Australia) during the
Invite the World to Dinner famil. Here they participate in a
cooking class in the estate’s outdoor kitchen, using fresh produce
from its kitchen garden.

Beijing, Guangzhou, Chengdu, Chongqing, Qingdao,
Hangzhou, Nanjing and Shenzhen. The campaign
reached an estimated 720 million Chinese consumers.
Its call to action was the Restaurant Australia
microsite restaurant.australia.cn, which featured
travel packages on the landing page.
President Xi Jinping’s visit to Australia
A six-day social media campaign run by Tourism
Australia on Chinese microblogging website Weibo
during Chinese President Xi Jinping’s Australian visit
in November 2014, attracted 120 million viewers,
helping to promote Australia as a top-of-mind
destination for Chinese travellers.
The campaign added 30,000 fans (a 10 per cent
increase) to Tourism Australia’s Weibo account.
Organic visits to australia.cn increased to five times
the usual daily traffic at the campaign’s peak on
20 November. Fifteen Key Distribution Partners
developed special itineraries that followed President
Xi’s visit. More than 400 travel packages were sold in
the six weeks following the visit.
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2015 AFC Asian Cup
The 2015 AFC Asian Cup campaign was delivered
in two phases. In November 2014, television and
digital advertising ran on travel and sports websites,
complemented by an Asian Cup campaign page on
australia.cn. Two Key Distribution Partners – China
Travel Service and CITS Shenzhen – developed Asian
Cup travel packages that they reported achieved
sales targets. The second phase was delivered in
January 2015. It included the Restaurant Australia
commercial as a pre-roll to the online broadcast of
China team matches and a social media campaign.
The promotion reached more than 10 million
viewers online and generated more than 2.5 million
conversations on social media platforms.
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HONG KONG
ABOUT VISITORS FROM HONG KONG (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+3%

+14%

203,800

$1.1 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Tasting Australia
Tourism Australia partnered with Cathay Pacific for
the Tasting Australia campaign, promoting Australian
food and wine experiences to Hong Kong travellers.
The campaign targeted 500,000 Cathay Pacific
Airways members and featured special airfares, food
and wine itineraries, and highlights of events and
festivals. The campaign ran in mid-2014 and achieved
social media engagement and booking targets.
Cathay Pacific reported a healthy increase in online
bookings during the campaign.
Promotion with OpenRice
In August 2014, Tourism Australia launched
Restaurant Australia marketing activity with
OpenRice, Hong Kong’s leading food and wine digital
platform. Marketing activity included a six-part mini
travelogue about the food and wine journeys of seven
Hong Kong-based gourmands and their experiences
in Australia’s states and territories.

Example of advertisement used in Hong Kong’s print media
for the OpenRice campaign, promoting holidays to Australia
through Kuoni.
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THE USA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM THE USA (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+9%

+14%

576,600

$3.0 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Virgin Australia and Tourism Australia capture
North American audience
A $4 million joint marketing campaign told North
Americans why There’s nothing like Australia and
‘There’s no better way to get there’ than with
Virgin Australia. The campaign ran in February
to March 2015 and targeted the large audiences
that tune in to Academy Awards coverage across
10 key US states. The campaign included television
commercials, sponsored social posts, digital display
and digital out-of-home media. Consumers were
directed to a custom landing page on australia.com
that included a TravelZoo booking widget that offered
packages from five wholesaler partners.
Other campaign elements included custom
vignettes that aired during Oscars coverage on Good
Morning America; content on The Huffington Post,
Los Angeles Times and Yahoo! websites, USA Today and
The Wall Street Journal. Tourism Northern Territory
and Destination New South Wales extended the
campaign with an aligned media buy with TravelZoo.
Virgin Australia and wholesaler partners reported
strong incremental growth during the campaign period.
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“This campaign is an example of Virgin
Australia’s significant investment in
inbound tourism. Our partnership with
Tourism Australia continues to go from
strength to strength and we’re delighted
to be jointly promoting Australia
on the world stage.” – Mark Hassell,
Chief Customer Officer, Virgin Australia

Air New Zealand gateway promotion
Tourism Australia and Air New Zealand launched
cooperative campaigns in the USA and Canada in
August 2014 and January 2015. The There’s nothing like
Australia digital campaign across 11 different media
sites offered one great price to six Australian gateways:
Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane, Cairns, Adelaide and
the Gold Coast. Extending the campaign reach, Aussie
Specialist travel agents were invited to join a webinar
to learn more about the campaign and promote the
special fare to customers.

P E R F O R M A N C E
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Avec Eric shares a culinary insider’s view of Australia
Michelin three-star chef, author and television
personality Eric Ripert of Le Bernardin restaurant in
New York City kicked off the third season of Avec Eric
with an insider’s view of his culinary adventures
across Australia. The Emmy Award-winning television
series was supported by Tourism Australia, Wine
Australia, Virgin Australia and state and territory
tourism organisations.
In the show, Ripert encourages prospective visitors
to come to Australia to experience its fine food and
wine firsthand. Each episode aired on the Cooking
Channel and was then shared on Yahoo!, Squarespace
and social media reaching an audience of 23.6 million
people per episode. It has aired in more than 40 other
countries and will run inflight with Virgin Australia.
The campaign delivered 122 million impressions
in the USA and public relations from the series
was valued at more than US$2 million, with Ripert
featured in broadcast appearances on The Late Show
with David Letterman, Live with Kelly and Michael,
and The Late Show with Seth Myers.

Australian food and wine made headlines in the
USA in April 2015 after 20 of America’s top food
and wine media were treated to a gourmet
nine-course Australian lunch at Eric Ripert’s
Le Bernardin restaurant in New York City. As
part of Tourism Australia’s ‘Invite the World to
Dinner’ event, Ripert visited Sydney and was so
impressed by his meal at Sepia that he invited
the Head Chef Martin Benn and his team to
New York City to showcase the restaurant to
local media.

Excerpt from the show Avec Eric shows Eric Ripert (right)
and James Viles of Biota Dining Bowral (left), fishing in
the Southern Highlands, New South Wales.
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THE UK
ABOUT VISITORS FROM THE UK (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

0%

-2%

666,200

$3.5 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Pop-up restaurant at Australia House, London
Tourism Australia ran a pop-up restaurant in London
to give British diners a taste of Australian food and
wine as part of the Restaurant Australia campaign.
Open from 22 to 27 September 2014 at Australia
House, the pop-up restaurant was hosted each night
by a different renowned Australian chef and themed
by a different state or territory. Etihad Airways and
the Mail on Sunday/MailOnline were our event
partners. Promotions included a Restaurant Australia
supplement in the Mail on Sunday and a 100-page
souvenir book given to diners and available at
WHSmiths bookstores.
Results of the campaign exceeded targets – Etihad
Airways’ bookings for flights to Sydney, Melbourne
and Brisbane increased 26 per cent (against a target
of 15 per cent); and bookings for flights to Perth
increased 82 per cent (against a target of 25 per cent).

Partnership campaign with Etihad Airways and
Mail on Sunday
Tourism Australia, Etihad Airways and the Mail on
Sunday launched a cooperative campaign across
UK television, digital and print in January 2015 to
inspire British travellers to choose Australia as their
next long-haul holiday. The campaign showcased
Australia’s premium food and wine, and unique
coastal and nature experiences. It promoted flying
to and around Australia with Etihad Airways and
Etihad Skypass – and offered a competitive lead-in
fare of £749.
A key component of the campaign was a multiplatform media partnership with The Mail Online
that included two-week itineraries for 2015 holidays
in Australia. The itineraries focused on four categories
– food and wine, nature and wildlife, coastal
adventures and Australia’s icons – and were featured
on an interactive map on the Daily Mail and Etihad
Airways websites.
The campaign was extended through a partnership
with Tourism Western Australia and exceeded its
targets. Readership across The Mail Online was
significant, exceeding 36 million views.
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‘Two weeks in Australia’ campaign
Tourism Australia launched ‘Two weeks in Australia’
to promote Australia as a viable two-week holiday
destination for UK travellers. Designed to move
Australia from the wish list to the shopping list of
Brits, the promotion included four weeks of television
and digital advertising, a 24-page supplement in
The Sunday Times and a 44-page Australia edition in
The Telegraph’s luxury travel magazine, Ultratravel.
The campaign ran in April 2015, with lead tour
operator AusTravel joined by luxury operator Wexas.
AusTravel reported a bookings increase of 14 per cent
(against a target of 10 per cent) and the number of
Australian holiday enquiries increased 23 per cent.
Queensland, Victoria and NSW received the majority
of the business.

Top: Pop-up Restaurant Australia 2014 at Australia House,
London, UK. Bottom: The cover of Ultratravel Australia, The Daily
Telegraph’s luxury travel magazine Australia special in 2015. The
magazine featured holiday experiences across Australia as well
as special offers and packages through travel distributors such as
Travelbag, Trailfinders, Flight Centre and Scenic Tours.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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CONTINENTAL EUROPE
ABOUT VISITORS FROM GERMANY (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Etihad Airways campaigns in Germany and France

+5%

-2%

188,400

$1.0 billion

ABOUT VISITORS FROM FRANCE (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+4%

+5%

118,800

$0.7 billion

ABOUT VISITORS FROM ITALY (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

-2%

-10%

Tourism Australia, Etihad Airways and airberlin’s
cooperative advertising campaign in Germany and
France promoted Australia’s diversity and unique
experiences to affluent long-haul travellers. The
campaign ran from February to April 2015 and
included television, cinema and online advertising
as well as promotions through Etihad Airways
and airberlin.
In addition, Tourism Australia, Etihad Airways,
Tourism Tasmania, Tourism Northern Territory and
the South Australian Tourism Commission launched
a Restaurant Australia consumer competition on
the German language Restaurant Australia site.
Consumers could win a trip to a food and wine
festival in participating Australian states. Etihad
Airways reported the campaign exceeded targets
– there was a 22 per cent increase in consumer
bookings from Germany and a 62 per cent increase
in bookings from France.
Australia the perfect outdoor destination across

72,300

$0.5 billion

Germany, France and Italy
In March 2015, Tourism Australia and state
and territory tourism organisations launched a
cooperative campaign – ‘Get vertical in Australia’ –
with European outdoor brand Salewa and four key
tour operators. The campaign showcased Australia’s
walking and outdoor experiences in five states and
featured Great Walks of Australia. Australia was
the first overseas destination to be featured in a
campaign with Salewa.
Campaign activity included a multilingual page
within the Salewa site; in-store promotions in
Salewa retail outlets across Germany, France and
Italy; public relations initiatives and promotions
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across digital and social channels. The campaign
included the opportunity to win a seven-day walking
trip to Australia in September 2015.
Australia’s food and wine featured in iconic bookazine
Working with Germany’s iconic food and wine
media brand Der Feinschmecker, Tourism Australia
partnered with Singapore Airlines, German tour
operators Art of Travel, Meier’s Weltreisen, and
six state and territory tourism organisations to launch
a 200‑page bookazine featuring Australia’s best food
and wine experiences. Australia is the first long-haul
destination featured as a stand-alone food and wine
bookazine with Der Feinschmecker.
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“It is terrific to see such great bookings
happen so quickly. We were delighted
when a new customer was so inspired
by the content of Der Feinschmecker
that they booked the Gourmet for
Two Tour (valued at EUR 55,000).” 
–  Bettina Bottcher, Product Manager
Australia/New Zealand/South Pacific, 
Art of Travel, Germany

The campaign was successful, with Art of Travel
reporting sales above target for packages promoted
as part of the bookazine.

Left: Der Feinschmecker’s Australia bookazine features 200 hundred pages of food and wine experiences across Australia. Right: Example
of a brochure distributed in Salewa stores across Italy, France and Germany, promoting the chance to win an outdoor experience in
Australia. The Salewa promotion was undertaken in partnership with Tourism Western Australia, South Australian Tourism Commission,
Tourism Northern Territory, Tourism Victoria, BMW, Plygiene and Vibram.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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SOUTH KOREA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM SOUTH KOREA (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+8%

+7%

214,800

$1.2 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Youth campaign

Tasty Road visits Australia

In May 2015, Tourism Australia launched a largescale youth campaign in South Korea with four Key
Distribution Partners to highlight Australia as a
desirable working holiday and travel destination.
The There’s nothing like Australia campaign featured
testimonials from young South Koreans who have
visited Australia on a working holiday. Called
‘Awaken Your Potential’, the promotion ran across
digital channels (Naver, YouTube, SMR, dawin,
on-campus video media) and also featured in print
advertisements in campus magazines and at outdoor
venues frequented by students – cinemas, campuses
and subways near colleges and universities.

Leading South Korean food and wine television
show Tasty Road filmed two episodes inspired by
Restaurant Australia for its 2015 season. Viewers
were taken on a journey of Australia’s unique food
and wine experiences in Melbourne and Brisbane.
The episodes were broadcast in June 2015 to
audiences of 5.7 million and 7 million viewers
respectively, generating an equivalent advertising
value of $4.8 million. Seven distribution partners
participated in the promotion.

The campaign website on australia.com generated
more than 450,000 unique visitors (exceeding
the target of 381,000) and sales from distribution
partners were positive. The campaign included a
competition for four young South Koreans to win
a working holiday to Australia. The competition
attracted more than 7,700 entries. The winners
will travel to Australia in late 2015. Testimonials
from their trips will be used to further promote
the programme.
K-Pop reality television programme, Tasty Road follows hosts Park
Soo Jin and Lizzy as they review local and overseas restaurants.
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JAPAN
ABOUT VISITORS FROM JAPAN (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

-4%

-1%

323,900

$1.3 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

allows users to search for information on restaurants
recommended by Australians, Japanese communities
in Australia and Japanese tourists, to assist with
travel planning.
The launch of the partnership with Cookpad included
the opening of an official Tourism Australia ‘HighProfile Kitchen’ page. The campaign also featured
special recipes from well-known Australian chefs
and cooking experts, including chef Matthew Crabbe,
who works in Japan, and popular celebrity and author
Erica Angyal.

New airline routes get a boost
Tourism Australia partnered with Tourism and Events
Queensland, Brisbane Marketing, Gold Coast Tourism,
Tourism Victoria and wholesaler Japan Travel Bureau
(JTB) to promote new Qantas Airline services – Narita
to Brisbane and Haneda to Sydney – that commence
in August 2015.
The campaign ran in June 2015 and featured There’s
nothing like Australia creative in print, digital, social
and out-of-home (OOH) channels, as well as packages
and offers from JTB. OOH advertising was located
near major JTB stores, resulting in a 50 per cent lift in
sales of Australia packages (year on year).
Partnerships with Tabelog and Cookpad raise
awareness of Australia’s food culture
In May 2015, Tourism Australia launched partnerships
with Tabelog and Cookpad, heightening awareness of
Australia’s restaurants and food culture. Tabelog is a
gourmet ranking and review website that showcases
restaurants around the world. It attracts 69 million
visitors each month. Cookpad is Japan’s largest
recipe website, with more than 2 million recipes and
attracting more than 52.5 million visitors each month.
Tabelog’s partnership with Tourism Australia is its first
with a national tourism organisation and involves its
first overseas destination app in Japanese. The app

Billboard advertisement promoting packages to the Gold Coast, in
partnership with Gold Coast Tourism and Japan Travel Bureau.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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INDIA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM INDIA (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+19%

+39%

220,200

$1.0 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Cricket major event drives growth in trips from India
In the lead-up to the ICC Cricket World Cup in
March 2015, Tourism Australia undertook an
extensive marketing campaign in India across print,
digital, television and out-of-home channels. This
included a partnership with Yatra.com, one of India’s
top online travel portals; a feature on the Cricket
World Cup in the August 2014 issue of Lonely Planet
Magazine India; and content and advertising on
Star Sports during high-interest tournaments held
in Australia. Yatra reported 159 per cent growth in
bookings to Australia compared to the same period
last year. Key Distribution Partners and airline
partners Malaysia Airlines, Singapore Airlines and Air
India reported more than 22,700 bookings during the
campaign period, exceeding targets.
The campaign also featured an extensive media
visit programme and advocacy by Friend of Australia
Harsha Bhogle. Bhogle’s YouTube content was seen
more than 640,000 times. Public relations coverage
was significant, achieving an equivalent advertising
value of $4.3 million.
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Tourism Australia also participated in the launch
of Austrade’s ‘Match Australia International Sports
Business’ networking programme for the Cricket
World Cup in Delhi and Mumbai. Renowned sporting
figures joined senior Australian Government officials
to showcase Australia as a leading destination for
business events to more than 500 corporate clients.
Airline cooperative campaigns drive bookings in India
Tourism Australia, Destination NSW, and Tourism
and Events Queensland joined Singapore Airlines
on a promotional campaign in August 2014,
which was followed by a cooperative campaign
with Malaysia Airlines and Destination NSW. The
campaigns featured attractive airfares to Australia
and showcased Australia’s world-class food and
wine experiences across print and digital platforms.
Singapore Airlines achieved 40 per cent growth in
bookings to Australia during the campaign, and
Malaysia Airlines had 20 per cent growth in bookings
to Australia during the campaign period.
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MALAYSIA
ABOUT VISITORS FROM MALAYSIA (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+5%

+7%

327,800

$1.1 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Tourism Australia partner with Malaysia Airlines
Tourism Australia and Malaysia Airlines partnered
on two key campaigns in 2014/15. In October 2014,
a There’s nothing like Australia campaign led with
special promotional fares, with five-day minimum
stay restrictions. The campaign ran across print and
digital and also featured a mini-travel fare. Bookings
increased during the campaign period, and overall
sales exceeded targets.

Top: Example of a print advertisement used for the cooperative
campaign with Singapore Airlines in India. Bottom: Example of
a print advertisement used for the cooperative campaign with
Malaysia Airlines in Malaysia.

An innovative ‘Enrich Hearts Australia’ promotion
targeted Malaysia Airlines frequent flyer members
during January 2015. The campaign, which ran across
print, online and radio, allowed members to redeem
flights between Adelaide, Brisbane, Sydney, Perth
and Kuala Lumpur or Kota Kinabalu, with savings
of 30–50 per cent. The resulting increase in use
of frequent flyer miles on sectors to Australia was
well above target. Promotional activity included a
special programme with Malaysia Airlines Enrich
Luxe Retreat – three couples from the airline’s
Platinum Plus category were invited on a special
famil experience in Australia. The couples were filmed
during their stay and videos from the visit were aired
on Malaysia Airlines in-flight entertainment service as
well as through Malaysia Airlines social media sites.
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SINGAPORE

INDONESIA

ABOUT VISITORS FROM SINGAPORE (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

ABOUT VISITORS FROM INDONESIA (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+2%

+13%

+3%

-8%

371,900

$1.2 billion

152,100

$0.6 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS

Self-drive campaign with Singapore Airlines and key
distribution partners

Garuda campaign targets Indonesian travellers

Tourism Australia joined Singapore Airlines and
11 Key Distribution Partners to promote Restaurant
Australia and self-drive gourmet trails during
2014/15. The campaign ran predominantly across
digital channels and generated a 19 per cent increase
in bookings, through the distribution partners.
Samsung ‘NX Traveller’ promotion in South East Asia –
Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia

Tourism Australia and Garuda Indonesia ran a joint
campaign from April to June 2015 with seven Key
Distribution Partners. Shown across television,
outdoor, digital and print media, the campaign aimed
to boost Garuda’s services to the gateway cities of
Sydney, Melbourne, Brisbane and Perth. Special travel
itineraries were adapted from the There’s nothing
like Australia campaign to showcase Australia as a
romantic destination with adventure, exotic plants
and animals, and world-class food and wine.

Tourism Australia partnered with Samsung to
showcase tourism experiences in New South
Wales and Victoria. Two teams of South East Asian
photographers visited Sydney and Melbourne to
capture images of each destination’s unique food and
wine, city and country experiences, and landscapes.
The photos were shared across Tourism Australia’s and
Samsung’s digital and social media platforms, with a
reach of more than 10 million Asian consumers.
Billboard advertisement
in downtown Jakarta
promoting holiday
packages available
through Key Distribution
Partners.
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Top: Webb Bridge, a pedestrian and cycle bridge over the Yarra River in Melbourne’s Docklands area, Victoria. Image courtesy of RJ Olaso,
Samsung NX Traveller. Bottom: Degraves Street, a mecca for Melbourne’s cafe culture. Image courtesy of Bill Dam, Samsung NX Traveller.
Tourism Australia partnered with Sumsung NX Traveller to bring 22 people from across Singapore, Malaysia and Indonesia to experience
the allure and eclecticism of Australia and photograph their experiences. For six days, they explored around Sydney and Melbourne – from
Sydney’s city skyline to the artistic laneways of Melbourne; from the majesty of the Blue Mountains to the sprawling expanse of the
Great Ocean Road.
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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NEW ZEALAND
ABOUT VISITORS FROM NEW ZEALAND (AT 30 JUNE 2015)

+4%

+5%

1,266,900

$2.5 billion

CAMPAIGN HIGHLIGHTS
Savouring Australia
Tourism Australia, Air New Zealand and six of
Australia’s state and territory tourism organisations
joined forces to entice New Zealanders to travel to
and beyond Australia’s gateway cities.

ran segments that included the hosts’ firsthand
stories of their recent Queensland travels and videos
on www.thecoast.net.nz.
In the media partnership with NZME, consumers were
driven to a digital hub on nzherald.co.nz that included
top recommendations on ‘what to do in Queensland’
from Kiwis living in Queensland. Packages and offers
from retail partner House of Travel were included
throughout campaign activity.
House of Travel reported a 20 per cent increase in
Australia sales (target 18 per cent), while Air New
Zealand reported a 20 per cent incremental increase
in revenue and 18 per cent growth in passengers on
relevant sectors.

‘Savouring Australia: An 80 course degustation of
discovery’ showcased an appetising series of blogs
and imagery on Yahoo!NZ and in Tangible Media’s
Dish magazine. The 12-week promotion started in
September 2014 and exceeded targets, with more
than 250,000 unique visitors to the campaign
site (against a target of 130,000) and more than
96,000 competition entries (target 45,000).
Winter campaign
Tourism Australia, Tourism and Events Queensland,
Air New Zealand and House of Travel joined forces
to entice Kiwis to escape the New Zealand winter
for the warmer climes of Queensland. Launched in
February 2015, the campaign ran for 10 weeks. The
There’s nothing like Australia campaign ran on digital,
print, radio and television broadcast. Campaign
activity included a TVNZ Breakfast weather promotion
that ‘interrupted’ winter weather bulletins to show
Kiwis ‘where the sun shines’ – in Queensland. New
Zealand’s most listened-to radio station, Coast, also
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The joint winter campaign between Tourism Australia, Tourism
and Events Queensland, Air New Zealand and House of Travel
drove consumers to a digital hub on nzherald.co.nz that contained
content and partner offers to ‘escape the New Zealand winter’.
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BUSINESS EVENTS MARKETING – KEY MARKETING INITIATIVES IN 2014/15

TOTAL BUSINESS EVENTS DELEGATES SPEND AT 30 JUNE 2015

Business events is one of the highest yielding sectors in
Australia’s visitor economy. Business Events Australia –
Tourism Australia’s business events team – promotes
Australia internationally as a destination for conferences,
incentives, exhibitions and events

THERE’S NOTHING LIKE AUSTRALIA
FOR BUSINESS EVENTS
Throughout 2014/15, marketing activity continued
to promote the message ‘There’s nothing like Australia
for business events’ through all communications
channels. Tourism Australia bought media in nine
markets, including print and digital advertising
in business events publications, and content
across websites and social media. The media
strategy targeted business events agents and
corporate decision makers in the conference and
incentive sectors as well as the association sector.
A comprehensive public relations campaign was also
undertaken, which resulted in articles in trade, news
and online publications.

DEVELOPING THE BUSINESS EVENTS TRADE
In 2014/15, Business Events Australia continued
with its comprehensive trade development
programme. This included 12 educational visits for
business events and corporate decision-makers from
China, Hong Kong, New Zealand, South East Asia,
South Korea, the UK and the USA. The programme
was undertaken in partnership with state convention
bureaux and the tourism industry to showcase how
Australia’s tourism offering can deliver exceptional
experiences to the incentive sector. On average,
98 per cent of attendees said their perception of
Australia as a business events destination improved
after their educational visit.
Business Events Australia and state and territory
tourism organisations also showcased Australia’s
business events offerings with dedicated in-market
events in Shanghai, Singapore and Kuala Lumpur.
These events provided the opportunity for Australian
industry to meet one on one with business events
decision-makers and business events media.
Participants reported that the events enabled them to
pitch business events in Australia better to their clients.
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Events and programmes delivered and supported by Business Events Australia in 2014/15
Represented Australia’s business events
sector at 10 trade shows

China Incentives and Business Travel and Meeting exhibition
(CIBTM); IMEX in the USA and Germany; Pacific Area
Incentives and Conferences Expo (PAICE) in New Zealand;
Incentive Travel & Conventions, Meetings (IT&CM) China;
Exhibition for Incentive Business Travel and Meetings (EIBTM)
in Spain; International and European Association Congress;
Destination South Australia; Top Secret Canberra; Incentives
and Meetings Expo (AIME) in Melbourne

Delivered three business events showcases

North Asia (China) and South East Asia (Singapore
and Malaysia)

Supported 14 business events through
the delegate boosting programme

Destinations promoted through the programme were:
Cairns, Brisbane, Gold Coast, Sydney, Canberra, Melbourne,
Adelaide, Perth and Darwin

DELEGATE BOOSTING

COLLABORATION WITH GOVERNMENT AGENCIES

In 2014/15, Business Events Australia’s delegate
boosting programme supported 14 business events.
The programme provided dedicated marketing to
increase attendance at confirmed events to be held
in Australia.

In June 2015, Business Events Australia and Austrade
released Attracting Business Events to Australia. This
document details Australian Government assistance
available to the business events industry to attract
international business events. Assistance is delivered
in collaboration with Austrade both domestically and
internationally. Business Events Australia will play a
lead role in communications.

To participate in the programme, organisations must
meet specific criteria and show how the event will
deliver economic benefit to Australia.
Activity during the year included the creation and
management of social media platforms and social
media marketing; target-market research; video
and rich-content production; media buy-in targeted
publications; and public relations activity to inspire
editorial coverage.
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LOOKING FORWARD
Research undertaken in 2014 identified the benefit
of a more focused marketing approach for Tourism
Australia’s business events activities. From 2015/16,
the Business Events Australia team will concentrate
on two sectors – associations and incentives – with
specific initiatives for each sector. This focus will drive
activity in the key regions where Business Events
Australia will be most active in 2015/16: UK-Europe,
North America, China and New Zealand. These
regions present the best potential for business events
in the near future.
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Business Events Australia partnered with
Business Events Sydney for a marketing
campaign to boost delegate numbers at the
World Parks Congress in Sydney in November
2014. The congress achieved double the
attendees of the previous congress held in
Durban, South Africa in 2003, with more than
3,500 international visitors from 170 countries.

Delegates at the World Parks Congress, Sydney Olympic Park, New South Wales.
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Australian Government programme: Industry development
Objective: To create an Australian tourism industry that is competitive and sustainable, and delivers on the
needs of the target consumer.
PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW

Overall result: Performing well. Key deliverables achieved.
KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
>> Delivered quality trade events, providing platforms
for the tourism industry to do business with
distributors of Australian tourism products around
the globe. This included the Australian Tourism
Exchange, which hosted more than 2,000 delegates
from 30 countries.
>> Worked with state and territory tourism
organisations on development of national
distribution of Australian tourism experiences,
including laying the foundation for a new Aussie
Specialist Program approach. This partnership is the
largest ‘one voice’ initiative undertaken to date.
>> Increased cooperative marketing with Key
Distribution Partners, amplifying campaign
messaging and driving bookings by presenting
quality Australian holidays to the consumer.
>> Supported aviation development and demand-led
investment in tourism infrastructure, providing
advice on the needs of the target consumer,
delivering marketing tools for Austrade teams
offshore, and coordinating investor events for
the Minister.
>> Delivered the Destination Australia Conference and
industry briefings with state and territory tourism
organisations. Attendee satisfaction was high.
KEY CHALLENGES
>> The tourism industry is competitive and fastchanging and highly influenced by changes in
consumer behaviour and advances in technology.
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>> Australian tourism relies on aviation to bring
travellers to its shores, and while the outlook is
positive, some bilateral agreements are close to
capacity, which could impact growth potential.
>> While Australia’s tourism industry is mainly
focused on domestic tourism, Tourism Australia
works to increase international tourism. This
presents resourcing issues for the tourism
industry and Tourism Australia over partnership
and development activities.
LOOKING FORWARD
>> Tourism Australia will heighten its effort on
conversion, with marketing activity linked to
distributors who can help consumers book trips
to Australia.
>> We will relaunch the Aussie Specialist Program. This
best-of-class platform will have full mobile capability.
>> We will continue working with airlines, airports,
and state and territory tourism organisations to
help sustain existing aviation capacity and build
new routes.
>> Opportunities to improve the competitiveness
of Australia’s visa processes will be highlighted,
working in partnership with the Department of
Immigration and Border Protection, Austrade and
relevant ministers and staff.
>> Our partnership with Austrade to promote
investment in Australian tourism will continue
to strengthen.
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INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT – KEY INITIATIVES IN 2014/15

A key pillar of Tourism 2020 is to increase the
quality of Australia’s tourism offerings to ensure
Australia is globally competitive. We can do this
by training sellers of Australian tourism products
and experiences around the world, and working
with the Australian tourism industry, federal and
state governments to help improve access to and
develop Australian tourism products, experiences
and infrastructure. We will also keep the tourism
industry informed about developments that can
help them and ensure the collective success of
Australian tourism.
DEVELOPING THE DISTRIBUTION SYSTEM
Tourism Australia targets Chinese free and
independent travellers with new distribution strategy
Tourism Australia embarked on a high-yield
distribution strategy in China in 2014/15, aiming
to build a network of specialist travel companies
whose staff are trained to sell high-quality Australian
holiday packages to the country’s rapidly growing
middle classes. In 2014, 31 specialist travel companies
were selected to join a new Key Distribution Partner
programme in China. These companies are based
primarily in the ‘Tier 1’ cities of Beijing, Shanghai,
Guangzhou and Shenzhen, plus a selection of
‘Tier 2’ cities, including Nanjing, Hangzhou, Qingdao,
Chengdu and Chongqing. Tourism Australia and
state and territory tourism organisations worked
closely with these companies to develop innovative
Australian tourism products for Chinese travellers.
This included developing specific products and
packages to include in campaign activity for the
2015 AFC Asian World Cup and Restaurant Australia.

“Shenzhen CEPT International
Travel Service is privileged to
be a Key Distribution Partner
with Tourism Australia. The
‘Best of Australia’ programme in
particular, has given us a leading
edge with our customers by
providing quality and high-yield
experiences in golf, wine, walking
and luxury lodges that we can
book for our customers. We look
forward to continuing to work
with Tourism Australia to develop
quality products and experiences
that meet our customers’ needs.”
– Reder Wang, General Manager
of Shenzhen CEPT International
Travel Service, China
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PROFILING AUSTRALIA WITH DISTRIBUTORS AND PROVIDING PLATFORMS TO DO BUSINESS
Familiarisation and educational activities
Corroboree, a training and famil event for qualified
Aussie Specialist travel agents, is designed to
showcase the diversity and quality of tourism
experiences in Australia. Corroboree events are
hosted by Tourism Australia in partnership with state
and territory tourism organisations.
Corroboree Europe brought 300 UK and European
Aussie Specialists to Australia in April 2015. The group
spent three days in Adelaide, meeting with more
than 100 Australian sellers of tourism products and
experiences, before embarking on one of 27 different

famil trips around Australia. Overall satisfaction
with the event was very positive, with all delegates
reporting they were satisfied with the experience.
In May 2015, more than 200 Aussie Specialists
from China, Hong Kong and Taiwan travelled to the
Whitsundays as part of Corroboree Greater China.
Delegates participated in a three-day training
workshop in addition to famils in every state and
territory. Satisfaction with the event was very high,
with delegates reporting that it was value for money
and that they would attend again in the future.

Left: Corroboree Europe travel agents enjoy a dinner hosted by Great Southern Rail (GSR) at Adelaide Parkland Terminal. GSR is the owneroperator of The Ghan, Indian Pacific and The Overland rail journeys, the only service of its type in Australia. (Image courtesy of the South
Australian Tourism Commission). Right: Delegates at Corroboree Greater China, Hamilton Island, Queensland.
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Australian Tourism Exchange

715 buyers from 30 countries

1,500 Australian tourism sellers
from 500 companies

ATE rating against other trade
events by buyers and sellers

The Australian Tourism Exchange (ATE) is Tourism
Australia’s premier annual business-to-business
tourism travel trade event. It brings together travel
wholesalers and agents from 30 countries to meet
and do business with 1,500 Australian tourism seller
delegates from 500 companies.
Organised by Tourism Australia in partnership with
Tourism Victoria, Virgin Australia and Etihad Airways,
ATE was held in Melbourne in June 2015 and included
a dedicated International Media Marketplace,
attended by more than 80 global media delegates.

In 2014/15, a strategy to increase the number
of new sellers and buyers was implemented.
The strategy was a success, with both seller and
buyer targets exceeded – 91 new Australian
tourism sellers attended against a target of
68, and 91 new overseas buyers took part
against a target of 53. There were also 22 new
specialist buyers, up from 10 in 2013/14.

The trade floor, Australian Tourism Exchange, Melbourne
Convention and Exhibition Centre, Melbourne, Victoria.

“Events such as ATE really help to put the spotlight on the exciting and diverse range of
Australia’s tourism product and strengthen our connection with the global travel sellers
of Australian holidays internationally. ATE also gives our international distributors the
opportunity to travel to different parts of the country to experience the destination
firsthand and to share these experiences with their customers so we can attract more
high-spending international visitors from across the globe.”
– Frances-Anne Keeler, Deputy CEO, Tourism Australia
2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT
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KEEPING THE TOURISM INDUSTRY INFORMED
ON KEY DEVELOPMENTS AND INSIGHTS
Destination Australia Conference

Excellent 47%

Very Good 42%

In March 2015, Tourism Australia introduced the
Destination Australia Conference to focus on
how Australia can attract more high-spending
international visitors to grow the tourism industry
and boost business. The Hon. Andrew Robb AO MP,
Minister for Trade and Investment, opened the
conference, outlining his vision for tourism as the
fastest growing sector in Australia this decade and
identifying aviation, visas and infrastructure as
key priorities.
More than 300 tourism professionals attended the
conference, with 97 per cent of delegates rating the
event as ‘good to excellent’ (Figure 9). All attendees
rated the effectiveness of Tourism Australia as ‘good
to excellent’ in marketing Australia overseas as a
tourism destination.
Industry briefings
During 2014/15, Tourism Australia hosted more than
1,300 participants at industry briefings with state
and territory tourism organisations. These briefings
provided an overview of Tourism Australia’s marketing
initiatives, consumer insights, business events
activities and partnership opportunities. Delegate
satisfaction with the events was positive – 87 per cent
of delegates rated the events highly and 97 per cent
said they were likely to attend future briefings.
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Fair 3%

Good 8%

Figure 9: Delegate rating of Destination Australia Conference,
2015.
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Destination Australia Conference |  Sydney, New South Wales.
As we strive towards achieving the Tourism 2020 goal, the importance of distribution and how best to maximise yield was discussed.
Participants from left to right: Emcee James O’Loghlin, with panellists Henrik Berglind, Accor Australia; Ian Swain, Swain Destinations, and
Kate Meldrum, Tourism Holdings Limited.
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PROMOTING THE BEST OF AUSTRALIA
The ‘Best of Australia’ programme identifies worldclass experiences that will attract high-yielding
visitors willing to travel beyond Australia’s major
gateways to enjoy an area of special interest. Tourism
Australia works with these experiences to bundle and
promote them with the aim to increase their reach
across international consumers and trade.
Tourism Australia has collaborated with:
>> Great Walks of Australia
>> Great Golf Courses of Australia
>> Luxury Lodges of Australia
>> Ultimate Winery Experiences Australia.

Highlights of the ‘Best of Australia’ programme
in 2014/15
>> Integration into the global Restaurant Australia
campaign, including influencer famils
>> Increased distribution – each group gained
more than 70 distribution partners globally
>> Increased exposure through participation
in Tourism Australia famils, including
the ATE Specialist Buyer programme
(32 VIP buyers)
>> Increased media coverage through
International Media Hosting Programme famils
>> Asset development via videos promoting
golf, walks and wine, and content for
australia.com
>> Heightened awareness of programme
products and experiences through
participation in Tourism Australia
trade events including ATE, Corroboree,
Internationale Tourismus Börse (ITB),
International Association of Golf Travel
Operators (IAGTO) and Marketplace USA
>> Participation in sales calls to China, the USA,
Canada, the UK, Singapore and Malaysia.

“Participating in the Ultimate Winery Experiences of Australia
programme has enabled us to increase international distribution of our
premium wine tourism experiences. Awareness of Australia’s amazing
food and wine offer has grown with both trade and consumers as a
result of the Restaurant Australia campaign.” – Greg Stirling, Head of
Brand Sites and Visitation, Jacobs Creek Visitor Centre, South Australia
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Twelve Apostles Lodge Walk | Great Ocean Road, Victoria.
The four day Twelve Apostles Lodge Walk takes in rugged coastline, marine sanctuaries, old rainforests and remote beaches. On the
final day, trekkers walk into the Twelve Apostles. They then complete their visit with a helicopter flight over the coastline they have
just travelled.
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SUPPORTING AVIATION GROWTH
To support the growth of aviation
capacity to and in Australia,
Tourism Australia worked with
airlines, airports, and state and
territory tourism organisations to
identify gaps and opportunities
in the aviation market. Capacity
growth has been substantial in
recent years, with further increases
in 2014/15 (see Figure 10).
During the year, Tourism Australia
worked with Etihad Airways
when it launched daily services
from Abu Dhabi to Perth, with
Scoot for the introduction of five
weekly services from Singapore
to Melbourne, and with Air China
for the launch of new services
between Beijing and Melbourne.
We also continued to collaborate
with airlines, airports, and state
and territory tourism organisations
to provide marketing support and
enhance capacity on current routes.
In January 2015, the Australian and
Chinese governments finalised a
landmark air-services agreement
that opens the way for new routes.
The cap on seats from China’s
largest cities to Australia’s gateway
cities of Sydney, Melbourne,
Brisbane and Perth will triple to
almost 67,000 seats each week by
2016. Routes to other cities such
as Adelaide and Cairns will have no
limits. This will provide significant
flexibility and opportunities for
travellers from China.
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Figure 10: Aviation seat capacity, 2011/12 to 2014/15

2014/15

273,000 additional seats
HIGHLIGHTS
>> Scoot: Singapore to Melbourne
>> Etihad Airways: Abu Dhabi to Perth
>> Air China: Beijing to Melbourne

2013/14

1,619,000 additional seats
HIGHLIGHTS
>> AirAsia X: Kuala Lumpur to Gold Coast/
Melbourne/Perth
>> Scoot: Singapore to Perth
>> Malaysia Airlines: Kuala Lumpur to Darwin
>> Etihad Airways: Abu Dhabi to Perth
>> Sichuan Airlines: Chongqing to Sydney

2012/13

927,000 additional seats
HIGHLIGHTS
>> Qatar Airways: Doha to Perth
>> China Eastern Airlines: Shanghai to Cairns
>> Sichuan Airlines: Chengdu to Melbourne
>> Silk Air: Singapore to Darwin
>> Emirates: Dubai to Adelaide

2011/12

825,000 additional seats
HIGHLIGHTS
>> China Southern Airlines: Guangzhou
to Perth
>> Scoot: Singapore to Sydney
(first Scoot destination)
>> Scoot: Singapore to Gold Coast
>> AirAsia X: Kuala Lumpur to Sydney
>> Silk Air: Singapore to Darwin
>> Qantas: Santiago to Sydney

Source: Bureau of Infrastructure, Transport and Regional Economics.
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PROMOTING INVESTMENT IN TOURISM INFRASTRUCTURE
Investment partnership with Austrade
The Australian Government’s tourism investment
attraction strategy was put into action in May 2012
with a five-year partnership between Austrade and
Tourism Australia. This partnership identifies, markets
and facilitates investment opportunities in Australia
by supporting potential international investors.
At the start of the partnership, the tourism
investment environment had a limited new supply of

assets, constrained liquidity and financing difficulties.
Three years later, Australia has experienced good
growth in accommodation rooms and the investment
pipeline is on track to achieve the Tourism 2020 target
of 20,000 new rooms. This growth in rooms across
both hotels and mixed-use1 developments is shown
in Figure 11.

Hotels

Mixed-use
18,315
18,315
rooms
rooms
é 113%
é 113%
15,915
15,915
rooms
rooms
é 32%
é 32%
12,025
12,025
rooms
rooms
é 23%
é 23%
9,7609,760
rooms
rooms
é 19%
é 19%

8,6058,605
rooms
rooms
é 244%
é 244%

8,1718,171
rooms
rooms

2,5002,500
rooms
rooms

2011
2011

2012
2012

2013
2013

2012
2012 2013
2013 2014
2014

2014
2014

Figure 11: Growth in new accommodation in Australia from 2012 to 2014

Australia needs significant investment in tourism
infrastructure to realise the potential of the
booming global tourism market. In 2013, the
Australian Government named tourism as one of
five National Investment Priorities. Over the past
two years, Australia has achieved record levels of
international investment in tourism infrastructure.

In 2014, Tourism Research Australia reported
a potential pipeline of 34,230 new short‑term
accommodation rooms (15,915 in hotel‑only
developments and 18,315 in mixed-use
developments) valued at $42.1 billion.

1 Mixed use development is defined as development that comprises a mixture of two or more land uses (for example, commercial, retail, hotel or
residential), either within a single building or multiple buildings of different uses within a distinct development site.
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Chinese Entrepreneur Club visit
Members of the China Entrepreneur Club, a
non‑profit organisation of Chinese business
leaders, academics and diplomatic advisors, visited
Australia in December 2014 to discuss business
opportunities with Australian industry and
government representatives. Tourism Australia and
Austrade hosted the group in Sydney to highlight the
country’s tourism investment opportunities during a
programme that included a site visit to Barangaroo
and a workshop and business lunch with Australian
industry leaders.
B20 roundtables
The Tourism Infrastructure Roundtable – ‘Australia:
Unlocking the tourism investment opportunity’ –
was one of four investment roundtables held as
part of the Australian Investment Forum, hosted
by the Minister for Trade and Investment, the
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Hon. Andrew Robb AO MP, in July 2014 in Sydney.
The roundtable was designed to highlight and discuss
tourism investment opportunities in Australia.
Investment app
Tourism Australia and Austrade unveiled a new
investment app at the Hotel Investment Conference
Asia Pacific (HICAP) in Hong Kong in October 2014.
The app, called ‘Australian Tourism: Open for
investment’, provides information on 40 tourism
infrastructure investment opportunities, as well
as up-to-date information about Australia’s
tourism industry.
Investment media hosting
To coincide with the Australian Tourism Exchange
and the International Media Marketplace, Tourism
Australia hosted a media famil programme for
financial journalists from Asia, introducing them to
Australian tourism investment opportunities.

Welcoming the China Entrepreneur Club to Australia. From left: John O’Sullivan, Tourism Australia; Frank Wu, Chairman Central China Real
Estate Limited; Bruce Gosper, Austrade.
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SkyPoint, Surfers Paradise | Gold Coast, Queensland.
Situated on top of one of the world’s tallest residential towers, Q1, visitors
can take in 360 degree views from the surf to the hinterland or they can
enjoy the SkyPoint Climb – Australia’s highest external building climb.
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The Lighthouse | Byron Bay, New South Wales
Byron Bay is Australia’s easternmost town – home to sweeping surf
beaches, lush rainforests, great regional dining and new-age retreats.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
KEY ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2014/15

LOOKING FORWARD

>> Good results in the staff engagement index, with
an 85 per cent staff engagement rate

Tourism Australia will continue to build on its current
People Strategy, focusing on identifying and developing
great talent, improving skills and competencies and
delivering an efficient organisational structure. This
will involve:

>> Strong diversity within Tourism Australia –
including 67 per cent female representation in the
organisation as a whole, 80 per cent at executive
leadership team level; and 4.7 per cent Indigenous
representation in the Australian workforce
>> Successful delivery of executive and leadership
development programmes and appropriate,
cost‑effective and consistent core skills training
>> Corporate costs at 8 per cent of total organisational
costs are well below the average for Australian
Government bodies
>> No major health or safety incidents
>> Significant business systems upgrades, improving
business efficiency and effectiveness.

>> Managing Tourism Australia’s talent and creating a
globally oriented workforce with strong capabilities
in Asia
>> Developing Tourism Australia’s leadership
capabilities
>> Evolving Tourism Australia’s employer-of-choice
profile through digital platforms such as LinkedIn,
Facebook and Twitter to build a path of strong
talent for all key business segments.
We will also continue to streamline, digitise and
integrate systems and processes, in line with
ministerial direction to cut red tape and fine tune
internal processes. This will include:
>> Embedding Tourism Australia’s new business
systems and building organisational efficiencies
through improved systems and technology
>> Continuing to build Tourism Australia’s business
capability and digital know-how
>> Using timely, targeted, evidence-based information
to inform commercial decision making.
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People

207
Staff

AUSTRALIA >
120

OVERSEAS >
87

We work in 13 offices
around the world

FULL-TIME >
178

PART-TIME >
29

We have a flexible workforce

At 30 June 2015, Tourism Australia employed
207 people. Ninety two (45 per cent) worked
overseas, and 67 per cent were female (compared
with the 49 per cent industry average). The
executive leadership team was 80 per cent women.
Tourism Australia’s workforce has an average age of
39, younger than the Australian average of 41.2.

FEMALE >
142

MALE >
65

We have a high
representation of women

Figure 12: Staff engagement 2011 to 2015

87%

91%
85%

76%
69%

INDIGENOUS PARTICIPATION AND EMPLOYMENT
Tourism Australia’s Reconciliation Action Plan aims to
increase demand for Indigenous tourism experiences
by improving trade and consumer awareness of their
quality and diversity.
In November 2012, Tourism Australia committed
to achieving 5 per cent Indigenous representation
in its Sydney office by 2014/15. By the end of 2014,
the Sydney office had 4.7 per cent Indigenous
representation. It is also increasing its employment
of Indigenous Australians by collaborating with other
Australian Government agencies, Reconciliation
Australia, the Tourism Employment Plan Indigenous
Working Groups, and Indigenous stakeholders and
their communities.
In 2015, Tourism Australia introduced the Lirrwi
Volunteer Programme, a unique opportunity for two
Tourism Australia staff to experience life in a remote
coastal Aboriginal community in Arnhem Land,
Northern Territory. Volunteers work on the ground as
logistical support for Lirrwi Tourism, contributing to
the overall success of Lirrwi’s tours and core business
activities, and assisting with building the skills
and capability of local tourism operators. Tourism
Australia is a partner of the programme that is being
delivered through the Yolngu Masterplan.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Staff engagement

STAFF ENGAGEMENT

96% 95%

Staff engagement89%
was 85 per cent90%
in 2015, down
from 91 per 82%
cent in 2014 (see Figure 12).
Role expectations and clarity were at 90 per cent,
compared with 95 per cent in 2014.
All staff members said they were proud to work for
Tourism Australia – the same result as in 2014.

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Role expectations and clarity

90%

97% 94%

100% 100%
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VALUES

RETAINING AND ATTRACTING STAFF

The organisation’s values are based on the>
following principles:

Staff retention rates remained within industry
averages in 2014/15. Ninety-five per cent of new
staff stayed for at least 12 months (surpassing the
90 per cent target) and 93 per cent stayed for at
least two years (against a target of 80 per cent).
Both are improvements on the previous year’s results.
Voluntary turnover for 2014/15 was 14.6 per cent
(with a target of 12.5 per cent), higher than in
2013/14. This was due to leadership change and an
organisational restructure.

>> There’s nothing like getting value for money.
Tourism Australia encourages staff to be
accountable in managing and planning work
effectively, looking for efficiencies and achieving
value for money in all their endeavours.
>> There’s nothing like an enquiring mind. Tourism
Australia’s staff members are enthusiastic,
collaborative and creative. They are hungry for
knowledge and are always looking for ways to
improve outcomes for Australian tourism.
>> There’s nothing like sharing for success. Tourism
Australia expects its staff members to work together
cooperatively and professionally, to be respectful
and trusting of others, to collaborate freely, to focus
on the consumer, and to use their expertise and
experience to get the best possible results.
ETHICS
All new staff members are inducted under Tourism
Australia’s Code of Conduct, which includes the
corporate values and governance basics. They are
required to sign a copy of the Code to declare they
accept its provisions and commit to upholding them.
The Code and other ethics policies are updated
regularly and can be accessed via the Tourism
Australia intranet. Certain ethics policies are also
published on Tourism Australia’s corporate site in the
About Us section.
RECOGNISING GOOD PERFORMANCE
In 2014/15, Tourism Australia continued its
recognition scheme for high-performing staff.
The ‘Above and Beyond Award’ recognises teams
or individuals who demonstrate outstanding and
exceptional work or work on projects of significance
for Tourism Australia. The awards are designed to
reinforce Tourism Australia’s values and behaviours.
Managers or colleagues can nominate employees
for recognition.
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WORK HEALTH AND SAFETY
Tourism Australia is committed to protecting its
key asset – its people – and strives to provide a
workplace that is safe for all workers, poses no risk
to the environment and is compliant with relevant
legislation, standards and codes of practice.
Tourism Australia also ensures that its
key employment policies, procedures and
practices comply with the requirements of the
Work Health and Safety Act 2011, the Disability
Discrimination Act 1992 (Commonwealth), the
Racial Discrimination Act 1975 (Commonwealth) and
the Sex Discrimination Act 1984 (Commonwealth).
Key work health and safety initiatives in 2014/15
>> A Safety and Governance Week raised staff
awareness about work health and safety
practices and responsibilities. The event
featured information sessions on issues
including bullying and harassment, health
and safety.
>> Tourism Australia’s event strategy was
revised to enhance the safety management
of our events.
>> A new ‘Safe Workplace’ online induction
module was created for training all new>
staff members.
>  A new online safety training module was
developed for staff hosting international guests
on media or trade familiarisation visits.
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WELLBEING
Tourism Australia continued to provide a range of
initiatives to support the wellbeing of its staff. This
included annual health assessments, influenza
vaccinations and an Employee Assistance Programme.
INCIDENTS AND DISPUTES
While work health and safety incidents increased,
the incidents were minor in nature and resulted in no
days away from work.
2014/15 2013/14 2012/13
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These new systems and processes will maximise
business performance. The tools, technology and
increased mobile capability have led to better
collaboration and innovation among teams.
WORKFORCE PLANNING
Tourism Australia continued to create a culture of
high performance and to evolve its organisational
capabilities and structure to meet the changing
demands of a digital and content-driven industry.
Attracting and managing staff with the required skills
are central to achieving the Tourism 2020 goal.
TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

Workers compensation
and industrial disputes

1

1

0

Work health and safety
incidents

5

4

0

Organisational capability
SYSTEMS, TECHNOLOGY AND PROCESSES
Tourism Australia’s corporate transformation
programme has been central to improving its systems
and technology. The programme commenced in 2012
to consolidate and simplify Tourism Australia’s large
number of aging back-office systems. The programme
culminated in July 2014, with the start of a single
finance, procurement and human resources system
that consolidated 32 different systems. In addition,
enterprise systems, software and devices have been
or are scheduled to be upgraded or replaced by
December 2015. Overall, the roll-out of new systems
has gone well, with early implementation issues
around approvals and work flows now rectified.

An annual learning needs analysis was conducted
in late 2014 and informed the development of the
Learning and Development Strategy. This strategy
identified the key focus areas for the year, which led
to programmes supporting the Business Systems
project, leadership and executive coaching.
Training continued regularly across the business
throughout 2014/15, including induction, corporate
governance, risk management, work health and
safety, and first aid. Functional heads have continued
to manage business-unit-specific training for their
teams, in areas such as technology, marketing,
digital strategy, social media and communications.
Procurement, payroll and human resources training
has also been delivered to support the business
system replacement activities.

Another significant achievement was the completion
of the digital integration project, which delivered
an enterprise content management, infrastructure
and web delivery platform. This included the
consolidation of more than 50 websites to a consumer
platform (australia.com) and a corporate platform
(tourism.australia.com).
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Environmental performance

Organisational changes

ENERGY AND WASTE

ORGANISATIONAL RESTRUCTURE

Tourism Australia’s Sydney head office is situated in
the MidCity complex at 420 George Street, which
has an unassisted 5 Star National Australian Built
Environment Rating System rating and a 5 Star Green
Star rating. All lighting in the head office is activated
by motion sensors, with the timing function set at the
lowest workable level.

An organisational restructure was undertaken in
September 2014 to improve Tourism Australia’s ability
to deliver on its Tourism 2020 goals and its capability
in the key areas of marketing operations, distribution,
partnership and research.
SENIOR MANAGER APPOINTMENTS AND DEPARTURES
Appointments

Tourism Australia continued to minimise
its environmental impact in 2014/15.

>> Lisa Ronson, Chief Marketing Officer

Key practices included:

>> Adele Labine-Romain, Executive General>
Manager Strategy and Research

>> Default double-sided printing and copying on all
printers and photocopiers

>> Andrew Hogg, Regional General Manager>
Greater China

>> Installing paper and waste recycling systems in
workspaces and kitchen areas for a variety of office
supplies and consumables.

>> Michael Newcombe, Regional General>
Manager South-South East Asia and Gulf

>> Contract cleaners ensured recyclable materials
were not contaminated by food waste.

>> Nick Baker, Chief Marketing Officer

During the year, Tourism Australia continued to
maintain energy-efficient printers and video and
web-conferencing systems at its head office. These
facilities are also available across its 11 international
offices. This has lowered energy consumption and
helped reduce carbon emissions generated by
staff travel.
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Departures

>> Nell Anderson, Executive General Manager>
Strategy and Research
>> Tony Everitt, Regional General Manager>
Greater China
>> Karyn Kent, Regional General Manager >
South-South East Asia and Gulf
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Organisational structure as at 30 June 2015
MINISTER FOR TRADE AND INVESTMENT
The Hon. Andrew Robb AO MP

CHAIRMAN
Geoff Dixon

BOARD
Deputy Chair Directors
Kate Lamont Andrew Fairley am

Brett Godfrey Anna Guillan

Sandra McPhee am

Anthony South Mark Stone

AUDIT AND FINANCE
COMMITTEE

MANAGING DIRECTOR
John O’Sullivan

Chair
Sandra McPhee am
Members>
Mark Stone
Anthony South

DEPUTY CEO
Frances-Anne Keeler

INTERNATIONAL

MARKETING

Chief Marketing>
Officer
Lisa Ronson

INTERNATIONAL
OPERATIONS,
DISTRIBUTION
AND EVENTS

CORPORATE AFFAIRS,
GOVERNMENT AND
INDUSTRY

STRATEGY AND
RESEARCH

CORPORATE
SERVICES

Executive>
General Manager
Karen Halbert

Executive>
General Manager
Adele Labine-Romain

Executive>
General Manager
Mark Craig

BUSINESS EVENTS
AUSTRALIA

INDUSTRY
ADVISORY PANELS

INTERNATIONAL
Chair
Brett Godfrey

BUSINESS EVENTS
Chair
Kate Lamont
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Executive Leadership Team profiles
John O’Sullivan | Managing Director
As Managing Director of
the nation’s global tourism
marketing agency, John is
responsible for driving Tourism
Australia’s strategies to increase
demand for Australia’s tourism
experiences and help to grow the sector to more than
$115 billion by the end of the decade as part of the
Tourism 2020 strategy.
John joined Tourism Australia in March 2014. He
was previously Chief Operating Officer of Fox Sports.
John has also held executive positions with Events
Queensland (Chief Executive) and Football Federation
Australia (Chief Commercial Officer), as well as with
the Sydney 2000 Olympic and Paralympic Organising
Committee. John has over 20 years’ experience in
sports marketing, event management and media
across Australia, the UK and the Middle East.
INTERNATIONAL>
Frances-Anne Keeler | Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Tourism Australia’s international
division is responsible for global
marketing operations, distribution
development, industry events,
global partnerships and Business
Events Australia, working in
partnership with the Australian tourism industry
to grow the inbound market. Tourism Australia’s
international hubs undertake consumer marketing
and industry development in 17 international markets.
Business Events Australia focuses on marketing and
trade events in nine international markets.
Frances-Anne is the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.
Frances-Anne joined Tourism Australia in July 2008.
Before that she was Regional Director Europe for
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VisitBritain, the UK’s national tourist board, where
she was responsible for marketing and operations in
18 countries. She has more than 20 years’ experience
in destination marketing and has managed teams
across Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Asia, North
America and the Pacific.
GLOBAL MARKETING>
Lisa Ronson |  Chief Marketing Officer
Global Marketing is responsible
for creating and developing
Tourism Australia’s brand assets
for global campaigns. Global
Marketing manages the roll-out
of Tourism Australia’s marketing
strategy, ensuring that Australia’s tourism marketing
efforts continue to cut through in the competitive
international marketplace.
Lisa joined Tourism Australia in February 2015. She
has 16 years experience in marketing across a diverse
range of brands and industries. Prior to joining
Tourism Australia, Lisa was General Manager, Brand
and Advertising for Westpac. She has also held roles
with Carlton and United Breweries (Senior Marketing
Manager), Visa International (Marketing Director for
Australia and NZ), Telstra (Head of Marketing Services)
and David Jones (General Manager, Marketing).
Lisa has previously held board positions with the
Australian Association of National Advertisers and the
Global Banking Alliance for Women.
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Karen Halbert | Executive General Manager
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CORPORATE SERVICES>
Mark Craig |  Executive General Manager

The Corporate Affairs,
Government and Industry
team is Tourism Australia’s
main liaison with government,
Australian news media and the
tourism industry.
Karen has extensive experience in corporate affairs,
with a strong background in government and media
relations. She joined Tourism Australia in January
2013. Prior to that, Karen worked as Principal Advisor,
Media Relations for Rio Tinto and also held senior
positions at Macquarie Group and AstraZeneca. Karen
has also worked for a Federal MP.

Corporate Services is
responsible for improving
corporate governance through
information technology,
finance, administration, human
resources, legal advice and board
secretariat duties.
Mark joined Tourism Australia in June 2011.
Previously Mark was Chief Financial Officer at the
NSW Human Services Department. He also held
senior executive roles with EnergyAustralia, Scottish
Water and Ernst & Young.

STRATEGY AND RESEARCH>
Adele Labine-Romain |  Executive General Manager
Strategy and Research is
responsible for Tourism
Australia’s strategic planning
aligned to the Tourism 2020
strategy, as well as undertaking
research that informs the
organisation’s direction, and reporting on the tourism
industry and Tourism Australia’s performance.
Adele joined Tourism Australia in October 2014.
She has extensive experience working in tourism
policy, strategy and research. Prior to joining Tourism
Australia, Adele was Executive Director with the
Tourism & Transport Forum where she led research
and strategy and delivered its tourism policy agenda.
In Canada, Adele held roles with the Ministry of
Tourism in the Ontario Government in research and
industry relations, and worked with a boutique brand
consultancy across a range of disciplines.
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Wineglass Bay | Freycinet Peninsula, Tasmania.
Wineglass Bay’s crescent of dazzling white sand, sapphire-coloured sea and pink granite peaks is
one of Australia’s most beautiful natural environments – the perfect location for fishing, sailing,
bushwalking, sea kayaking, rock-climbing, or simply soaking up the spectacular coastal scenery.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
KEY ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2014/15

LOOKING FORWARD

>> External audits found no material issues or
compliance breaches.

Tourism Australia will continue to enforce the highest
standards of accountability through:

>> Tourism Australia’s Risk Policy was updated to
improve its usefulness for staff.

>> Delivering on the Minister’s Statement
of Expectations and policies of the
Australian Government

>> We continue to operate under a robust governance
framework, ensuring Tourism Australia’s day-to-day
operations are accountable, transparent>
and efficient.

>> Adhering to statutory and legislative requirements
prescribed by the Tourism Australia Act 2004
and the Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013
>> Implementing the Australian Government Public
Management Reform Agenda principles, ensuring
Tourism Australia’s financial management,
accountability and audit obligations are met
>> Delivering a risk-management framework that
addresses strategic, operational and project risk.
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Enabling legislation
and responsible minister
Tourism Australia’s governance arrangements
are prescribed by the Tourism Australia Act 2004
(TA Act) and the Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act). The TA Act is
Tourism Australia’s enabling legislation and describes
the organisation’s specific objectives, functions
and powers. The PGPA Act sets out governance and
accountability requirements for Commonwealth
entities, with an emphasis on planning, performance
and risk management. As a portfolio agency,
Tourism Australia must also consider and implement
Ministerial Directions and Statements of Expectations
issued from time to time by the Minister for Trade and
Investment, the Hon. Andrew Robb AO MP.
LEGISLATIVE FUNCTIONS
While the TA Act outlines domestic functions, Tourism
Australia is not currently engaged in domestic
tourism marketing activity. This change in Tourism
Australia’s remit came into effect in 2013 and is
outlined in the Minister for Trade and Investment’s
Statement of Expectations for Tourism Australia.
Under the TA Act, Tourism Australia’s functions are to:
>> increase the awareness of potential international
travellers of Australia as a destination
>> increase the awareness of potential domestic
travellers of Australia as a place to travel
>> increase the knowledge of potential travellers,
both international and domestic, of Australia
>> increase the desire of potential international
travellers to travel to Australia

The Hon. Andrew Robb AO MP
Minister for Trade and>
Investment

>> communicate effectively with the Australian
tourism industry on issues that may affect it
>> increase awareness throughout Australia of the
contribution of tourism to Australia’s economy,
society and environment.
PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY
Tourism Australia is accountable to the Australian
Parliament through the Senate Estimates process,
Senate Orders, and the tabling of its annual report
and PGPA Act compliance report. Tourism Australia
participated in the Senate Standing Committees on
Foreign Affairs, Defence and Trade Supplementary
Budget Estimates hearings in October 2014 and
June 2015, and the committee’s Additional Budget
Estimates hearing in February 2015.

“Tourism is a critical component
of my focus to increase export

>> increase the desire of potential travellers,
both international and domestic, to travel
throughout Australia

income, attract more international

>> conduct research into and analysis of
international and domestic travel

strengthen Australia’s prosperity.”

>> report on trends in international and
domestic travel

investment, create more jobs and
– The Hon. Andrew Robb AO MP
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Governance framework and practices
Figure 13: Tourism Australia governance framework

Tourism Australia Act 2004

Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013

Minister for Trade and Investment

Tourism Australia Board

Audit and Finance
Committee

Tourism Australia Managing Director

Tourism Australia
Executive Leadership team

Tourism Australia is committed to implementing
best practice in matters of corporate governance, and
to ensuring accountability, integrity, transparency
and efficiency in its day-to-day operations. Tourism
Australia places a strong emphasis on the importance
of these values by ensuring that:
>> We focus on project planning and the performance
of key projects and monitor contracts in line with
best practice
>> We communicate openly with the Australian
Government, the Minister for Trade and Investment
and the applicable regulatory bodies
>> We put in place sound risk-management policies
and procedures, including rolling programmes of risk
assessment and planning.
Tourism Australia’s framework ensures business
operations comply with local and foreign legislation
and enable strong commercial performance.
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Tourism Australia assesses the effectiveness and
risk exposure of its governance framework through
annual corporate and operational planning processes,
quarterly business evaluations and an annual internal
audit programme. Tourism Australia also undertakes:
>> Systematic scrutiny of operations through
internal and external audits, and checking of
internal controls set out in organisational policies
and procedures
>> Regular review of key governance documents
such as the Board Charter and Audit and Finance
Committee Charter, the Delegations Instrument
and Instructions, and the Code of Conduct
>> Regular training in corporate governance for staff in
Australia and overseas
>> Standard internal and external compliance reporting.
RISK MANAGEMENT
Tourism Australia updated its Risk Management
Policy in June 2015 to ensure it remains contemporary
and useful. This policy drives all risk management

C O R P O R A T E

activities and establishes appetites and boundaries
for risk taking at all levels of the organisation. Tourism
Australia maintains a detailed risk register and tracks
its risks at quarterly intervals throughout the year.
AUDIT AND EXTERNAL SCRUTINY
In 2014/15, Tourism Australia’s internal audit
function was performed by Ernst & Young to provide
independent, objective assurance and advice. This
year’s internal audit plan was developed in line with
Tourism Australia’s strategic risks and focused on key
areas of operation, including marketing guidelines,
event planning and delivery, fraud, implementing
new business systems, and the strategic planning and
budgeting processes.
Tourism Australia’s external audit function is
performed by the Australian National Audit Office,
and this report is included in the financial statements.
No material audit issues or compliance breaches were
noted during the year.
FRAUD CONTROL
Chairman’s statement on fraud control:
“I am satisfied that Tourism Australia has in place
appropriate fraud prevention, detection, investigation,
reporting and data collection procedures and processes,
in line with its fraud risk assessment and fraud control
plan. I am also satisfied that these arrangements meet
the specific needs of Tourism Australia, and that all
reasonable measures to minimise the incidence of
fraud, as well as investigate and recover the proceeds of
fraud, have been taken. There were no reported fraud
incidents during 2014/15.” – Geoff Dixon, Chairman
FREEDOM OF INFORMATION
Tourism Australia is required to comply with the
Freedom of Information Act 1982 (Commonwealth).
Tourism Australia received two Freedom of
Information requests during 2014/15 and has
published this information on its corporate
site, www.tourism.australia.com, in line with
the Australian Government’s Information
Publication Scheme.

G O V E R N A N C E

JUDICIAL DECISIONS AND REPORTS
No judicial or tribunal decisions were made and no
parliamentary reports were published in respect of
Tourism Australia in 2014/15.
PROCUREMENT INITIATIVES TO
SUPPORT SMALL BUSINESS
Tourism Australia supports small business
participation in the Australian Government
procurement market. Statistics on the participation
of small and medium-sized enterprises are
available on the Department of Finance’s
website: www.finance.gov.au/procurement/
statistics-on-commonwealth-purchasing-contracts.
Tourism Australia’s procurement practices support
small and medium-sized enterprises by:
>> Using electronic systems and processes to
facilitate on-time payment, including the use
of payment cards
>> Communicating in clear, simple language and
presenting information in an accessible format
>> Providing standard 30-day payment terms for>
all suppliers.
These practices are consistent with paragraph
5.4 of the Commonwealth Procurement Rules.
CONSULTANCIES AND CONTRACTS
In 2014/15 Tourism Australia undertook two
consultancies. These consultancies were completed
within the year – there were no ongoing contracts.
All major contracts undertaken in 2014/15 included
a requirement for contractors to allow access to their
premises by the Australian National Audit Office.  
In accordance with Commonwealth Procurement
Rules, Tourism Australia’s 2014/15 annual
procurement plan and information on all contracts
over $400,000 were published on the AusTender
website at tenders.gov.au.
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Board activities and committees
TOURISM AUSTRALIA BOARD
Tourism Australia is governed by a nine-person Board
of Directors, three members of which are women. As
prescribed in Part 3 of the TA Act, the Board’s main
responsibilities are to ensure the proper and efficient
performance of Tourism Australia’s functions and to
determine Tourism Australia’s policies.
Areas of focus for the Board in 2014/15 included
Tourism Australia’s initiatives in digital marketing
and continued implementation of digital capability
across the organisation, increased emphasis on
high‑yielding sectors and providing strong advocacy
for one-voice activities with state and territory
tourism organisations and governments across
Australia. Board members Brett Godfrey and Kate
Lamont chaired the International and Business
Events Industry Advisory Panels respectively. These
panels provide Tourism Australia with insights that
help develop its marketing activities. The Advisory
Panels have no delegated authority from the Board.

The Board is accountable for ensuring that Tourism
Australia’s governance framework is able to fulfil
its statutory mandate, and that the organisation
acts in line with the general policies, guidelines and
directions of the Australian Government.

Under the Board Charter, the Board’s>
responsibilities include:
>> Setting Tourism Australia’s strategic direction,
including approving strategies and targets and
establishing policies
>> Monitoring Tourism Australia’s business
>> Communicating with the Minister for Trade
and Investment
>> Complying with general government policy as
directed by the Minister for Trade and Investment
and according to Tourism Australia’s statutory
obligations
>> Determining, upholding and promoting Tourism
Australia’s corporate values and Code of Conduct
>> Ensuring that Tourism Australia performs its
functions and exercises its powers in a manner
consistent with, and designed to give effect to, the
current Corporate Plan and Annual Operational Plan
>> Selecting and monitoring the performance of the
Managing Director
>> Reviewing the performance of executive management
>> Ensuring Tourism Australia’s corporate governance
is sound, including its risk management, legal
compliance, strategic direction and structure.
In addition to these responsibilities, the Board must
balance Tourism Australia’s competing demands,
remain independent from executive management,
and consider the particular interests of stakeholders
and the wider public.
Tourism Australia holds directors’ and officers’
liability insurance to the amount of $100 million
with Comcover, the Australian Government’s general
insurance fund.
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The Board meets regularly. During 2014/15 seven
board meetings were held – one in Perth, one in
Melbourne and the remainder in Sydney. Industry
events were held to coincide with board meetings in
Perth and Melbourne, enabling the Board to meet and
discuss Tourism Australia’s activities with key tourism
operators and government colleagues.
A summary of attendance by directors at board
meetings is provided below:
Board meeting attendance
by directors in 2014/15

Total
attended

Geoff Dixon

Chairman

7

Kate Lamont

Deputy Chair

7

Anna Guillan

Director

7

Brett Godfrey

Director

6

Anthony South

Director

6

Sandra McPhee AM Director

7

Mark Stone

Director

7

Andrew Fairley AM

Director

7

John O’Sullivan

Managing Director

7
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AUDIT AND FINANCE COMMITTEE
Under the PGPA Act, Tourism Australia needs an Audit
Committee. The Committee provides independent
assurance and assistance to the Board on Tourism
Australia’s risk, performance, internal control and
financial reporting responsibilities. The Committee
is also responsible for advising the Board on Tourism
Australia’s legislative compliance, and on internal and
external audit programmes.
During 2014/15 five Audit and Finance Committee
meetings were held. There are three members of the
Audit and Finance Committee – Sandra McPhee, Mark
Stone and Anthony South. A summary of attendance
is provided below:
Audit and Finance Committee
attendance by directors in 2014/15

Total
attended

Sandra McPhee AM

Chairman

5

Mark Stone

Member

5

Anthony South

Member

5
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Board profiles
GEOFF DIXON |  CHAIRMAN

SANDRA MCPHEE AM |  DIRECTOR

Geoff Dixon is Chairman of
the Garvan Medical Research
Foundation and sits on the
boards of publicly listed
Australian companies Crown
Limited and Adslot Limited. Geoff
is also on the boards of the Museum of Contemporary
Art Australia, was on the Local Organising Committee
of the 2015 AFC Asia Cup, and is an ambassador for
the Australian Indigenous Education Foundation.
Geoff was Managing Director and Chief Executive
Officer of Qantas Airways Limited from 2001 to 2008.
He joined Qantas in 1994 and also acted as Chief
Commercial Officer and, for two years, Deputy Chief
Executive. He has worked in the media, mining and
government sectors. Geoff was Chairman of Tourism
Australia from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2015.

Sandra McPhee currently serves
on the boards of Fairfax Media
Limited, AGL Energy Limited
and Kathmandu Limited and
is on the Advisory Council of
St Vincents and Mater Health.
Sandra has previously held non-executive director
roles at Scentre Group (previously Westfield Retail
Trust), Australia Post, Coles Group Limited, CARE
Australia, Perpetual Limited and SA Water. She has
extensive international senior executive leadership
experience in consumer-focused roles with major
international brands, including Qantas and the
Traveland Group. Sandra was a member of Tourism
Australia’s Board from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2015.

>
KATE LAMONT |  DEPUTY CHAIR
Kate Lamont has three decades
of experience in culinary tourism
in Western Australia. She is a
managing partner in the Lamont’s
family business, an integrated
food and wine operation
incorporating grape growing, wine production and
sales, which produces more than 8,000 cases annually.
The business operates restaurants, liquor stores and
bars in the Swan Valley, Margaret River, Perth CBD and
Cottesloe. Previously, Kate served as the Chair of Tourism
Western Australia. Kate was a member of Tourism
Australia’s Board from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2015.
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BRETT GODFREY  |  DIRECTOR
Brett Godfrey serves on the
boards of Auckland International
Airport and Canadian airline,
Westjet. He was the founding
Chief Executive Officer of
Virgin Australia. He has a focus
on establishing startup businesses including a strong
emphasis on Australian tourism investments. He has
a financial background and has been awarded the
2003 Centenary Medal for services to the Queensland
tourism industry, the 2004 CEO of the Year at the
Customer Service Institute Awards and the 2003
Outstanding Chartered Accountant in Business
Award. Brett is a chartered accountant. He joined
Tourism Australia’s Board on 1 July 2010 and remains
a Director.
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ANNA GUILLAN  |  DIRECTOR

ANDREW FAIRLEY AM  |  DIRECTOR

With a respected career in
tourism sales and marketing,
Anna Guillan is the Australia and
New Zealand Regional Director of
Sales and Marketing for Kerzner
International, a global operator
of luxury resorts. A Southern Cross University
alumnus of the year (2010), and with an MBA in
Tourism and Hotel Management, Anna served as Vice
Chair of the Australian Tourism Export Council and
was acknowledged with its Outstanding Contribution
to Industry Award in 2013. Anna currently serves on
the board of Tourism and Events Queensland, and
is also a non-executive director of CareFlight, and a
co-founder and director of cancer support group, The
NELUNE Foundation. Anna joined Tourism Australia’s
Board in July 2014 and remains a Director.

Andrew Fairley has developed
a distinguished association
with ecotourism, conservation,
parks and resort management
over many years and has
significant international tourism
experience. In addition to his Board position with
Tourism Australia, Andrew is the Chairman of Parks
Victoria and a Director of Tourism Victoria. Andrew
is also the Chairman of Equipsuper, an industry
superannuation fund that manages $6.5 billion in
assets for the energy and water sector. He is one of
Australia’s leading superannuation lawyers. He has
been awarded a number of prestigious accolades in
the tourism sector, including the 2006 Australian Travel
Innovators Award from Travel + Leisure magazine.
Andrew joined Tourism Australia’s Board in July 2014
and remains a Director.

ANTHONY SOUTH  |  DIRECTOR
A chartered accountant, Tony
South has more than 40 years
accounting, management,
property brokerage and
consulting experience, mostly
in the tourism, hospitality and
leisure sectors. He is currently a director of Campus
Living Funds Management Limited and CAMS Limited
(the Confederation of Australian Motor Sport), and an
Advisory Board member of Quest Apartments Group.
Tony joined Tourism Australia’s Board in July 2014 and
remains a Director.

MARK STONE  |  DIRECTOR
Mark Stone is currently the
Chief Executive Officer of the
Victorian Employers’ Chamber
of Commerce and Industry. He
has extensive experience in
the areas of natural resources,
tourism investment and infrastructure. He has held
senior positions in four natural resource management
agencies, in regional and metropolitan Victoria. Mark
Stone joined Tourism Australia’s Board on 1 July 2010
and remains a Director.
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PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW
Excluding foreign exchange losses, Tourism
Australia’s net financial result at 30 June 2015 of
$129.7 million is within 0.1 per cent of our budget for
the year. Overall, gross revenue exceeded budget by
$1.3 million, with a similar increase in expenditure
resulting in net expenditure in line with budget.
The decrease in value of the Australian dollar from
the previous financial year (between 6 per cent
and 11 per cent in the UK, the US, South East Asia
and China markets) resulted in an overall foreign
exchange loss for the year of $6 million compared to
budget parameter rates. This resulted in a $6 million
increase to net expenditure in the statutory accounts.
REVENUE
Tourism Australia’s direct revenue increased by
14 per cent to $37.6 million (2014: $33.1 million),
including $13.5 million (2014: $12.5 million) from
the Australian Government in relation to the
Asia Marketing Fund. The other major components
included co-operative advertising revenue of
$11.2 million, industry contributions of $7.9 million,
bank interest of $1.3 million and sub-lease income
of $1 million.
This revenue was supplemented by indirect
partnership contributions of $35.3 million from state
and territory tourism organisations, airline partners
and other industry participants that are not reflected
in the statutory accounts.
EXPENDITURE
Overall expenditure of $176 million is in line with
the previous year ($175.3 million). Advertising
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costs of $89.5 million are the largest contributor
while promotion and publicity expenditure is up by
18 per cent year on year to $26.1 million, reflecting
increased public relations and other promotions
around Restaurant Australia globally.
Remuneration costs of $29.9 million (2014: $29.3 million)
are only 2 per cent higher than last year, despite
a weaker Australian dollar. This reflects the focus
on minimising wage growth in an environment of
3 per cent increases in Australia (as per our Enterprise
Bargaining Agreement) and generally higher wage
growth in eastern markets.
BALANCE SHEET
Financial assets
Net assets increased by $3.2 million to $19.5 million,
primarily due to the return of the prior year foreign
exchange loss of $9.1 million, offset by the current
year foreign exchange loss of $6 million.
Trade and other receivables were $1.6 million lower
than the previous year with 94 per cent of receivables
less than 30 days old and only $5,000 of debts more
than 60 days old.
Fixed assets
During the year, Tourism Australia had capital
expenditure of $5.5 million consisting primarily
of $1.5 million on australia.com, $1.1 million on
new business systems, $0.7 million on Restaurant
Australia assets and $0.6 million on the Indigenous
film project. Total fixed assets at year end were
$12.9 million (2014: $12.2 million).
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Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2015
> Independent auditor report
> Statement by officers
> Statement of comprehensive income
> Statement of financial position
> Statement of changes in equity
> Cash flow statement
> Schedule of commitments
> Notes to the financial statements
• Note 1: Summary of significant
accounting policies
• Note 2: Events after the reporting period
• Note 3: Expenses
• Note 4: Own-source income
• Note 5: Financial assets
• Note 6: Non-financial assets
• Note 7: Payables
• Note 8: Provisions
• Note 9: Cash flow reconciliation
• Note 10: Contingent liabilities and assets
• Note 11: Related party disclosures
• Note 12: Senior executive remuneration
• Note 13: Remuneration of auditors
• Note 14: Financial instruments
• Note 15: Reporting of outcomes
• Note 16: Budgetary reports and explanations of
major variances
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Statement by officers
Statement by the Acting Board Chairman, Managing Director
and Executive General Manager Corporate Services

In our opinion, the attached financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 comply with subsection
42(2) of the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 (PGPA Act), and are based on properly
maintained financial records as per subsection 41(2) of the PGPA Act.
In our opinion, at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that Tourism Australia
will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.
This statement is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Anthony K. South
Acting Board Chairman, Tourism Australia
26 August 2015

John O’Sullivan
Managing Director

Mark Craig
Executive General Manager Corporate Services

26 August 2015

26 August 2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Net Cost of Services

Notes

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Expenses
Employee benefits

3A

29,924

29,270

Suppliers

3B

134,964

134,789

Depreciation and amortisation

3C

4,460

3,308

Finance costs

10

30

Write-down and impairment of assets

11

19

6,625

7,936

175,993

175,352

Other expenses

3D

Total expenses
Less
Own-source income
Own-source revenue
Provision of services

4A

12,099

6,406

Interest

4B

1,299

1,817
8,774

Contributions revenue

4C

7,931

Rental income

4D

1,044

1,063

Other revenue

4E

15,277

15,032

37,649

33,092

2,623

2,793

10

175

Total own-source revenue
Gains
Foreign exchange

4F

Other gains
Total gains
Total own-source income
Net cost of services
Revenue from Government
Surplus / (Deficit) attributable to the Australian Government

4G

2,632

2,968

40,281

36,060

135,712

139,292

138,865

130,351

3,153

(8,941)

Other Comprehensive Income
Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to net cost of services
Changes in asset revaluation surplus

26

120

Total comprehensive loss attributable to the Australian Government

26

120

Total comprehensive income

3,179

(8,821)

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2015

2015

2014

Notes

$’000

$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

5A

13,929

10,002

Trade and other receivables

5B

5,954

7,529

Investments

5C

–

–

19,883

17,531

4,233

Assets
Financial Assets

Total financial assets
Non-Financial Assets
Land and buildings

6A

3,675

Infrastructure, plant and equipment

6B

1,040

973

Intangibles

6C

8,176

6,981

Other non-financial assets

6D

4,793

3,096

Total non-financial assets

17,685

15,283

Total assets

37,568

32,814

Liabilities
Payables
Suppliers

7A

6,544

4,619

Other payables

7B

6,808

7,583

13,352

12,202

3,497

Total payables
Provisions
Employee provisions

8A

3,948

Other provisions

8B

766

792

Total provisions

4,714

4,289

Total liabilities

18,066

16,491

Net assets

19,502

16,323

Contributed equity

1,543

1,543

Reserves

1,990

1,964

Retained surplus

15,969

12,816

Total equity

19,502

16,323

Equity

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Retained earnings

Asset revaluation
surplus

Contributed
equity/capital

Total equity

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Opening balance
Balance carried forward from
previous period

12,816

19,060

1,964

1,844

1,543

1,543

16,323

22,447

Adjusted opening balance

12,816

19,060

1,964

1,844

1,543

1,543

16,323

22,447

3,153

(8,941)

(8,941)

Comprehensive income
–

–

–

–

3,153

Other comprehensive income

–

–

26

120

–

–

26

120

Total comprehensive income

3,153

(8,941)

26

120

–

–

3,179

(8,821)

2,697

–

–

–

–

–

Surplus/(Deficit) for the period

Transactions with owners
Return of foreign exchange
Total transactions with owners
Closing balance as at 30 June

–

2,697

–

2,697

–

–

–

–

–

2,697

15,969

12,816

1,990

1,964

1,543

1,543

19,502

16,323

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Notes

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

138,865

130,351

37,926

29,303

1,286

1,803

3,344

3,005

181,421

164,462

Operating Activities
Cash received
Receipts from Government
Sales of goods and rendering of services
Interest
Net GST received
Total cash received
Cash used
(29,502)

(28,525)

Suppliers

(145,073)

(146,636)

Total cash used

(174,575)

(175,161)

Employees

Net cash from / (used by) operating activities

9

6,845

(10,699)

Investing Activities
Cash used
(762)

(1,100)

(4,779)

(5,405)

Total cash used

(5,541)

(6,505)

Net cash used by investing activities

(5,541)

(6,505)

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangibles

Financing Activities
Cash received
Contributed equity
Total cash received
Net cash from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period
Effect of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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2,697
2,697

–

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

–
–

5A

2,697

1,304

(14,507)

10,002

21,716

2,623

2,793

13,929

10,002
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Schedule of Commitments

1

as at 30 June 2015

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Sublease rental income

2,230

1,247

Other commitments receivable

3,753

–

Net GST recoverable on commitments

2,936

4,427

Total commitments receivable

8,919

5,674

Operating leases3

(23,688)

(22,601)

Other commitments4

(28,036)

(30,121)

Total other commitments

(51,724)

(52,722)

Net commitments by type

(42,805)

(47,048)

One year or less

3,824

2,881

From one to five years

4,661

2,065

433

728

8,919

5,674

By Type
Commitments receivable2

Commitments payable
Other Commitments

By Maturity
Commitments receivable

Over five years
Total commitments receivable
Commitments payable
Operating lease commitments
One year or less
From one to five years
Over five years
Total operating lease commitments

(4,634)

(4,159)

(14,300)

(11,160)

(4,754)

(7,282)

(23,688)

(22,601)

(20,938)

(22,485)

(7,073)

(7,636)

Other commitments
One year or less
From one to five years
Over five years

(25)

–

Total other commitments

(28,036)

(30,121)

Net commitments by maturity

(42,805)

(47,048)

Note:
1. Commitments are GST-inclusive where relevant.
2. Commitments receivable comprises sublease rental receivable and GST-recoverable.
3. Operating leases comprise leases for office accommodation and equipment leases.
4. Other commitments comprise amounts payable under project agreements in respect of which the recipient is yet to either
perform the services required or meet eligibility conditions.
The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Schedule of Commitments

1

(continued)

as at 30 June 2015

Nature of lease

General description of leasing arrangement

Lease for office accommodation

The lease payments for some offices are subject to annual increases in
accordance with the terms of the leases. The initial period of the office
accommodation leases are still current and some of the leases are still
current and some of the leases may be renewed for up to five years at
Tourism Australia's option, with adjustment of rent according to the
terms of the leases.

Leases in relation to computer
equipment held as at 30 June 2015

The lessors provide all computer equipment and software designated
as necessary in the supply contract for two to three years. Items of
computer equipment supplied under these leases have useful lives of
two to three years from the commencement of the contracts.

The above statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes

Note 1: Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies
1.1 Objectives of Tourism Australia
Tourism Australia is a not-for-profit Australian
Government corporate entity. Its objective is to
promote tourism to and within Australia. Its revenues
are sourced primarily from government funding
and industry revenues. Tourism Australia’s activities
to promote Australia as an international tourism
destination are focused primarily overseas with
the majority of expenditure incurred by Tourism
Australia’s international offices.
Tourism Australia’s statutory objectives are to:
>> Influence people to travel to Australia, including
for events;
>> Influence people travelling to Australia to also
travel throughout Australia;
>> Influence Australians to travel throughout
Australia, including for events;
>> Help foster a sustainable tourism industry in
Australia; and
>> Help increase the economic benefits to Australia
from tourism.
While the Tourism Australia Act 2004 outlines
domestic functions, Tourism Australia is not currently
engaged in domestic tourism activity. This change
in Tourism Australia’s remit came into effect in
2013, and is outlined in the Minister for Trade
and Investment’s Statement of Expectations for
Tourism Australia.
The Outcome for Tourism Australia is to grow demand
and foster a competitive and sustainable Australian
tourism industry through partnership marketing to
targeted global consumers in key markets.

1.2 Basis of Preparation of the
Financial Statements
The financial statements are general purpose
financial statements and are required by
section 42 of the Public Governance, Performance and
Accountability Act 2013.
The financial statements and notes have been
prepared in accordance with:
>> The Financial Reporting Rule (FRR) for reporting
periods ending on or after 1 July 2014;
>> Australian Accounting Standards and
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB) that apply for the
reporting period.
The financial statements have been prepared on an
accrual basis and in accordance with historical cost
convention, except for certain assets and liabilities at
fair value. Except where stated, no allowance is made
for the effect of changing prices on the results or the
financial position.
The financial statements are presented in Australian
dollars and values are rounded to the nearest thousand
dollars unless otherwise specified.
>> Unless an alternative treatment is specifically
required by an accounting standard or the
FRR, assets and liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when and only
when it is probable that future economic benefits
will flow to the entity or a future sacrifice of
economic benefits will be required and the
amounts of the assets or liabilities can be reliably
measured. However, assets and liabilities arising
under executory contracts are not recognised
unless required by an accounting standard.
Liabilities and assets that are unrecognised are
reported in the Schedule of Commitments or the
contingencies note.
>> Unless alternative treatment is specifically required
by an accounting standard, income and expenses
are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income when and only when the flow, consumption
or loss of economic benefits has occurred and can be
reliably measured.
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1.3 Significant Accounting Judgements
and Estimates

will need to be considered once the related Income
for NFP project is completed.

No accounting assumptions or estimates have been
identified that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

1.5 Revenue

1.4 New Australian Accounting Standards

>> the amount of revenue, stage of completion
and transaction costs incurred can be reliably
measured; and

Adoption of new Australian Accounting
Standard requirements
Tourism Australia has elected to early adopt
AASB2015-7 which provides relief for not-forprofit (NFP) public sector entities from making
certain specified disclosures about the fair value
measurement of assets measured at fair value and
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
All other standards that were issued prior to the
sign‑off date and are applicable to the current
reporting period did not have a material effect, and
are not expected to have a future material effect, on
the entity’s financial statements.
Future Australian Accounting Standard Requirements
Accounting Standard
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Summary of changes
AASB 15: establishes principles for reporting
information about the nature, amount, timing and
uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from
an entity’s contracts with customers, with revenue
recognised as ‘performance obligations’ are satisfied;
and will apply to contracts of NFP entities that are
exchange transactions. AASB 1004 Contributions
will continue to apply to non-exchange transactions
until the Income for NFP project is completed.
Effective date
1 January 2017
Possible impact
Depending on the nature of the transaction the
new Standard may have a significant impact on the
timing of the recognition of revenue. Final outcome
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Revenue from rendering of services is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of contracts at
the reporting date. The revenue is recognised when:

>> the probable economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to Tourism Australia.
The stage of completion of contracts at the reporting
date is determined by reference to the proportion
that costs incurred to date bear to the estimated total
costs of the transaction.
Receivables for goods and services, which have 30 day
terms, are recognised at the nominal amounts due
less any impairment allowance account. Collectability
of debts is reviewed at end of the reporting period.
Allowances are made when collectability of the debt is
no longer probable.
Interest revenue is recognised using the effective
interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
Resources received free of charge
Resources received free of charge are recognised as
revenue when, and only when, a fair value can be
reliably determined and the services would have been
purchased if they had not been donated. Use of those
resources is recognised as an expense. Resources
received free of charge are recorded as either revenue
or gains depending on their nature.
Revenue from Australian Government
Funding received or receivable from non-corporate
Commonwealth entities (appropriated to the noncorporate Commonwealth entity as a corporate
Commonwealth entity payment item for payment
to this entity) is recognised as Revenue from
Government by the corporate Commonwealth entity
unless the funding is in the nature of an equity
injection or a loan.
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1.6 Gains
Resources received free of charge
Resources received free of charge are recognised
as gains when, and only when, a fair value can be
reliably determined and the services would have been
purchased if they had not been donated. Use of those
resources is recognised as an expense.
Resources received free of charge are recorded as
either revenue or gains depending on their nature.

1.7 Employee Benefits
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits (as
defined in AASB 119 Employee Benefits) and
termination benefits expected within 12 months of
the end of the reporting period are measured at their
nominal amounts.
The nominal amount is calculated with regard to
the rates expected to be paid on settlement of
the liability.
Other long-term employee benefits are measured as
net total of the present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the end of the reporting period minus
the fair value at the end of the reporting period of
plan assets (if any) out of which the obligations are to
be settled directly.
Leave
The liability for employee benefits includes provision
for annual leave and long service leave. No provision
has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is
non‑vesting and the average sick leave taken in future
years by employees of the entity is estimated to be
less than the annual entitlement for sick leave.
The leave liabilities are calculated on the basis of
employees’ remuneration, at the estimated salary
rates that will be applied at the time the leave
is taken, including Tourism Australia’s employer
superannuation contribution rates to the extent that
the leave is likely to be taken during service rather
than paid out on termination.
The liability for long service leave has been
determined by reference to the work of an actuary
and calculated as at 30 June 2015. The estimate of

S T A T E M E N T S

the present value of the liability takes into account
attrition rates and pay increases through promotion
and inflation.
Separation and redundancy
Provision is made for separation and redundancy
benefit payments. Tourism Australia recognises a
provision for termination when it has developed a
detailed formal plan for the terminations and has
informed those employees that it will carry out the
terminations.
Tourism Australia incurred or provided $0.7 million
(2014: $0.7 million) in separation or redundancy costs
during the current financial year.
Superannuation
Australia: Staff of Tourism Australia are members
of the Australian Government Employee
Superannuation Trust (AGEST), Commonwealth
Superannuation Scheme (CSS), the Public Sector
Superannuation Scheme (PSS), the PSS accumulation
plan (PSSap) or a plan of their own choice.
The CSS and PSS are defined benefit schemes for
the Australian Government. The PSSap is a defined
contribution scheme.
The liability for defined benefits is recognised in the
financial statements of the Australian Government
and is settled by the Australian Government in due
course. This liability is reported in the Department of
Finance’s administered schedules and notes.
Tourism Australia makes employer contributions
to the employees’ superannuation scheme at rates
determined by an actuary to be sufficient to meet the
current cost to the Government. Tourism Australia
accounts for the contributions as if they were
contributions to defined contribution plans.
The liability for superannuation recognised as at
30 June 2015 represents outstanding contributions
for the final fortnight of the year.
The contribution rate for Tourism Australia as
a Group 2 Authority was 9.5 per cent for AGEST
(2013/14: 9.25 per cent), 18.4 per cent for CSS
(2013/14: 18.4 per cent), 12.9 per cent for PSS
(2013/14: 12.9 per cent), 15.4 per cent for PSSap

2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT

113

F I N A N C I A L

S T A T E M E N T S

Notes

(2013/14: 15.4 per cent) and other choice of fund
between 9.25 per cent to 15.4 per cent of salaries
in 2014/15.
In addition, Tourism Australia remitted Employer
Productivity Superannuation Contributions to
ComSuper for employees in defined benefits schemes
only. The contribution rate was variable and banded
according to earnings between 2 per cent and
3 per cent of salaries in 2014/15.
In Hong Kong, in accordance with local regulations
Tourism Australia provided superannuation for its
locally engaged staff with HSBC Life (International)
Ltd. The contribution rate was 11.5 per cent of
gross salaries in 2014/15 for staff that joined before
1 December 2000 (11.5 per cent in 2013/14). Tourism
Australia matched employees’ contributions up to a
maximum of 5 per cent of gross salary in 2014/15.
In India, Tourism Australia provided superannuation
for its locally engaged staff with Provident Fund. The
contribution rate was 13 per cent of base pay and
the associated administration fees varied between
1.13 per cent and 1.39 per cent since 2009.
In Malaysia, Tourism Australia provided
superannuation for its locally engaged staff with
Provident Fund at a rate of 12 per cent.
In Singapore, Tourism Australia provided
superannuation for its locally engaged staff with
the Central Provident Fund at a regulated rate
of 15.5 per cent (capped at a monthly ceiling of
SGD$4,500) until August 2011. From September 2011
the contribution rate was 17 per cent (capped at a
monthly ceiling of SGD$5,000).
In Korea, Tourism Australia provided superannuation
for its locally engaged staff with funds run by the
National Pension Service. The contribution rate was
4.5 per cent of salaries in 2014/15 (4.5 per cent in
2013/14) with a cap of KRW4.21 million per annum.
In China, Tourism Australia provided superannuation
for its locally engaged staff with the local official
agency FESCO. The monthly contribution for resident
staff is between 37 per cent and 44 per cent of index
salary (set annually by the local government) per staff
member in 2014/15 and the contribution ranged
from around CNY2,100 to CNY6,600 (unchanged
from 2013/14).
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In Japan, Tourism Australia provided superannuation
for its locally engaged staff with Japan’s Pension
Service where the contribution rate was
8.844 per cent of salaries in 2014/15 (8.206 per cent
in 2013/14) with a cap of JPY620,000 per annum.
In the USA, Tourism Australia provided an optional
employee retirement benefit for its locally engaged
staff in Los Angeles with Mutual of America. Tourism
Australia matched employees’ contributions up to a
maximum of 3 per cent of gross salary in 2014/15 with
an annual limit of US$11,500 for employees less than
50 years of age. For employees who are 50 years of age
or older, the limit is US$14,000. These limits apply to
employee contributions only on a calendar year basis.
In the United Kingdom, in accordance with locally
engaged terms and conditions of employment,
Tourism Australia provided a group personal pension
scheme for its locally engaged staff in London
with Standard Life Assurance Co. Contributions to
the scheme were fixed at 10 per cent in 2014/15
(10 per cent in 2013/14).
In Germany, Tourism Australia contributed an
inclusive social amount to the statutory insurance
government fund for its locally engaged staff. The
level of contribution made by Tourism Australia is set
by the German Government and in the majority of
cases is approximately 1:1.
In New Zealand, Tourism Australia provides the
opportunity for all staff to join the New Zealand
Government superannuation scheme – Kiwisaver.
The scheme is not mandatory for locally engaged
staff; however Tourism Australia currently
contributes 4 per cent toward the scheme – staff
can contribute between the equivalent amount of
2 per cent, 4 per cent or 8 per cent depending on the
employee’s preference.

1.8 Leases
An operating lease is a lease where the lessor
effectively retains substantially all risks and benefits.
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis
which is representative of the pattern of benefits
from the leased assets.
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1.9 Cash

1.11 Financial liabilities

Cash is recognised at its nominal amount. Cash and
cash equivalents include:

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or other
financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are recognised
and derecognised upon ‘trade date’.

a) Cash on hand;
b) Demand deposits in bank accounts with an
original maturity of three months or less that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and
subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

1.10 Financial assets
Tourism Australia classifies its financial assets in the
following category:
a) loans and receivables.
Effective Interest Method
The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and
of allocating interest income over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.
Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that
have fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market are classified as ‘loans and
receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
less impairment. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest rate.
Impairment of Financial Assets
Financial assets are assessed for impairment at the
end of each reporting period.
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss
has been incurred for loans and receivables held at
amortised cost, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount is reduced by way
of an allowance account. The loss is recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, net of transaction costs. These liabilities
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, with interest expense
recognised on an effective yield basis.
The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period.
Supplier and other payables
Supplier and other payables are recognised at cost.
Liabilities are recognised to the extent that the goods
or services have been received (and irrespective of
having been invoiced).

1.12 Contingent liabilities and
contingent assets
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are not
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
but are reported in the relevant schedules and notes.
They may arise from uncertainty as to the existence
of a liability or asset, or represent an existing liability
or asset in respect of which settlement is not
probable or the amount cannot be reliably measured.
Contingent assets are disclosed when settlement is
probable but not virtually certain, and contingent
liabilities are recognised when the possibility of
settlement is greater than remote.

1.13 Acquisition of assets
Assets are recorded at cost on acquisition except
as stated below. The cost of acquisition includes
the fair value of assets transferred in exchange and
liabilities undertaken. Financial assets are initially
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measured at their fair value plus transaction costs
where appropriate.
Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal
consideration, are initially recognised as assets and
income at their fair value at the date of acquisition,
unless acquired as a consequence of restructuring
of administrative arrangements. In the latter case,
assets are initially recognised as contributions
by owners at the amounts at which they were
recognised in the transferor’s accounts immediately
prior to the restructuring.

1.14 Property, Plant and Equipment
Asset recognition threshold
Purchases of property, plant and equipment are
recognised initially at cost in the Statement of
Financial Position, except for purchases costing
less than $5,000, which are expensed in the year of
acquisition (other than where they form part of a
group of similar items that are significant in total).
The initial cost of an asset includes an estimate
of the cost of dismantling and removing the item
and restoring the site on which it is located. This is
particularly relevant to ‘make good’ provisions in
property leases taken up by Tourism Australia where
there exists an obligation to restore the property to
its original condition. These costs are included in the
value of Tourism Australia’s leasehold improvements
with a corresponding provision for the ‘make
good’ recognised.
Revaluations
Following initial recognition at cost, property, plant
and equipment is carried at fair value less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Valuations are conducted with
sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying
amounts of assets do not differ materially from
the assets’ fair values as at the reporting date. The
regularity of independent valuations depends on
the volatility of movements in market values for the
relevant assets.
Revaluation adjustments are made on a class basis.
Any revaluation increment is credited to equity
under the heading of asset revaluation reserve
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except to the extent that it reverses a previous
revaluation decrement of the same asset class that
was previously recognised in the surplus/deficit.
Revaluation decrements for a class of assets are
recognised directly in the surplus/deficit except to
the extent that they reverse a previous revaluation
increment for that class.
Any accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation
date is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the asset is restated to
the revalued amount.
Depreciation
Depreciable property, plant and equipment
assets are written-off to their estimated residual
values over their estimated useful lives to Tourism
Australia using, in all cases, the straight-line method
of depreciation.
Depreciation rates (useful lives), residual values
and methods are reviewed at each reporting date
and necessary adjustments are recognised in the
current, or current and future reporting periods,
as appropriate.
Depreciation rates applying to each class of
depreciable asset are based on the following
useful lives:

Leasehold
improvements
Infrastructure

2015

2014

Lease term

Lease term

3 to 10 years 3 to 10 years

Impairment
All assets are assessed for impairment at 30 June.
Where indications of impairment exist, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment
adjustment made if the asset’s recoverable amount is
less than its carrying amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. Value in use is the present value of the future
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.
Where the future economic benefit of an asset is not
primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate
future cash flows, and the asset would be replaced if

F I N A N C I A L

the entity were deprived of the asset, its value in use
is taken to be its depreciated replacement cost.
Derecognition
An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no further
economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal.

1.15 Intangibles

S T A T E M E N T S

Note 2: Events After the
Reporting Period
Subsequent to 30 June 2015, Tourism Australia
disposed of its 11.9 per cent shareholding
in Australian Data Warehouse Pty Ltd. This
investment, which is carried at cost less provision
for diminution in value, reflected a carrying value of
nil at 30 June 2015 (refer Note 5C). The proceeds on
disposal of shares was $29.

Tourism Australia’s intangibles comprise internally
developed software for internal use, campaign
production and trade marks. These assets are
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses.
Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over
its anticipated useful life. The useful lives of Tourism
Australia’s software are two to five years. All software
assets are assessed for indications of impairment as
at 30 June.
Campaign production is amortised on a straight-line
basis over three years and is assessed for indications
of impairment as at 30 June.
The useful life of trademarks is estimated at ten years
(2014: 10 years).

1.16 Taxation
Tourism Australia is exempt from all forms of
taxation in Australia except for Fringe Benefits Tax
(FBT) and the Goods and Services Tax (GST).
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of
GST except:
>> Where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office; and
>> For receivables and payables.
Tourism Australia is exempt from all foreign taxation
laws except for any consumption taxes.
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Note 3: Expenses
Expenses

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

23,460

23,100

Note 3A: Employee benefits
Wages and salaries
Superannuation
498

481

Defined contribution plans

2,151

1,845

Leave and other entitlements

2,456

2,216

Separation and redundancies

683

718

Other employee benefits expense

676

910

29,924

29,270

Advertising

89,500

91,617

Promotion and publicity

26,114

22,046

Films, publications and distribution

1,539

2,877

Information systems and telecommunications

6,686

6,061

Research, service fees and travel

5,684

7,029

129,523

129,630

5,401

5,146

Defined benefit plans

Total employee benefits
Note 3B: Suppliers
Goods and services supplied or rendered

Total goods and services supplied or rendered
Other supplier expenses
Operating lease rentals in connection with related parties
Minimum lease payments
Workers compensation premiums
Total other supplier expenses
Total supplier expenses
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13

5,440

5,159

134,964

134,789
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2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Note 3C: Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation
Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Total depreciation

815

694

815

694

Amortisation
Intangibles
Computer software

1,098

737

Campaign production

2,468

1,723

Trademarks

18

28

Make good

61

126

Total amortisation

3,645

2,614

Total depreciation and amortisation

4,460

3,308

Other operating expenses

6,625

7,936

Total other expenses

6,625

7,936

Note 3D: Other expenses
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Note 4: Own-Source Income
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

External Parties

12,099

6,406

Total rendering of services

12,099

6,406

Deposits

1,299

1,817

Total interest

1,299

1,817

Industry contributions*

7,931

8,774

Total contributions revenue

7,931

8,774

Own-Source Revenue
Note 4A: Rendering of Services
Rendering of Services in connection with:

Note 4B: Interest

Note 4C: Contributions revenue

* Industry contributions reflect the actual value of industry support for Tourism Australia’s activities from direct revenue. In
addition to direct revenues from the industry, joint marketing programmes were undertaken. Through these programmes
the industry supplements funds provided by Tourism Australia for product development, visiting journalists and tactical
marketing programmes. Due to the nature of the programmes, these funds do not form part of the reported level of industry
contributions for Tourism Australia, but are in addition to it.

Note 4D: Rental income
Operating lease
Office sub-tenancies

1,044

1,063

Total rental income

1,044

1,063

Note 4E: Other revenue
1,777

1,039

Related – payments from other government bodies

13,500

13,993

Total other revenue

15,277

15,032

Other revenue
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2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Non-speculative

2,623

2,793

Total foreign exchange gains

2,623

2,793

129,872

130,351

8,993

–

138,865

130,351

Gains
Note 4F: Foreign exchange

Note 4G: Revenue from Government1
Appropriation Bill 1
Appropriation Bill 32
Total revenue from Government

1 Tourism Australia received $42,263 (2014: $85,054) under the Paid Parental Leave Scheme.
2 Appropriation Bill 3 comprises the return of prior year foreign exchange losses of $9.115m, offset by whole of government
saving of $0.122 million.

Note 5: Financial Assets
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

8,682

5,608

Note 5A: Cash and cash equivalents
Australian dollars
Canadian dollars
Chinese yuan
Euro
British pounds

81

78

650

1,442

1,213

329

645

303

Hong Kong dollars

97

41

Japanese yen

83

48
469

South Korean won

246

Malaysia ringgit

104

95

New Zealand dollars

235

117

Singapore dollars

189

472

29

129

1,600

809

Indian rupee
Unites States dollars
Taiwan dollars
Cash at bank or on deposit
Cash on hand
Total cash and cash equivalents

71

59

13,925

9,999

4

3

13,929

10,002
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Note 5: Financial Assets (continued)
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Note 5B: Trade and other receivables
4,432

5,425

GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office

515

1,176

Deposits and advances

990

936

Goods and services receivable

Other
Interest
Total other receivables
Total trade and other receivables (gross)

26

13

26

13

5,963

7,550

Less impairment allowance account
Goods and services receivable
Total trade and other receivables (net)

(9)

(21)

5,954

7,529

4,003

3,481

Receivables are aged as follows
Not overdue
Overdue by
1,572

3,037

31 to 60 days

383

6

61 to 90 days

4

3

More than 90 days

1

1,023

5,963

7,550

Less than 30 days

Total receivables (gross)
The impairment allowance account is aged as follows
Overdue by
30 to 60 days

(4)

–

61 to 90 days

(4)

(3)

More than 90 days
Total impairment allowance account

(1)

(18)

(9)

(21)

(21)

(26)

12

5

(9)

(21)

Reconciliation of the impairment allowance account
Goods and services
Opening balance
Amounts reversed
Closing balance
Receivables are expected to be recovered in
No more than 12 months
Total trade and other receivables (net)
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2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Note 5C: Investments
Shares in other company – unlisted (at cost)
Less provision for diminution in value
Total investments

400

400

(400)

(400)

–

–

–

–

–

–-

Investments are expected to be recovered in
More than 12 months
Total investments

Tourism Australia holds 11.9 per cent interest in Australian Tourism Data Warehouse Pty Limited (ATDW), which is carried
at cost less provision for diminution in value. ATDW's principal activity is the development of a database for Australian
tourism products.
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Note 6: Non-Financial Assets
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Note 6A: Land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
–

161

Fair value

11,184

11,691

Accumulated depreciation

(7,938)

(8,110)

Total leasehold improvements

3,245

3,742

Work in progress

Leasehold improvements make good
Fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Total leasehold improvements make good
Total land and buildings

711

720

(281)

(229)

430

491

3,675

4,233

Leasehold improvements and make good were subject to revaluation. The carrying amount of $26,000 was included in the
valuation figures above. No indicators of impairment were found for land and buildings. No land or buildings were expected to
be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.

Note 6B: Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Computer and office equipment
Fair value
Work in progress
Accumulated depreciation
Impairment losses
Total computer and office equipment

2,038

1,885

184
(1,259)

–
(1,022)

–

–

963

864

Furniture and fittings
Fair value
Accumulated depreciation
Total furniture and fittings
Total infrastructure, plant and equipment

265

450

(188)

(340)

77

110

1,040

974

No indicators of impairment were found for infrastructure, plant and equipment. No infrastructure, plant or equipment is
expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months.
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2015

2014

$’000

$’000

6,796

2,407

Note 6C: Intangibles
Software at cost
In use
Work in progress
Accumulated amortisation

–
(2,745)

1,544
(1,418)

Writeback amortisation

–

Impairment losses

–

–

4,051

2,304

Total software

(229)

Campaign production at cost
Work in progress
In use
Accumulated amortisation
Impairment losses
Total campaign production

1,444

182

16,633

16,029

(14,154)

(11,686)

–

–

3,923

4,525

180

180

Trademarks
At cost
In progress
Accumulated amortisation
Impairment losses

69

–

(47)

(28)

–

–

Total trademarks

203

152

Total intangibles

8,176

6,981

No intangibles are expected to be sold or disposed of within the next 12 months. No indicators of impairment were found for
intangibles.

Note 6D: Other non-financial assets
Prepayments

3,502

1,620

Lease incentive

1,291

1,476

Total other non-financial assets

4,793

3,096

No more than 12 months

3,686

1,804

More than 12 months

1,107

1,292

4,793

3,096

Total other non-financial assets are expected to be recovered in

Total other non-financial assets
No indicators of impairment were found for other non-financial assets.
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Note 6: Non-Financial Assets (continued)
Note 6E: Reconciliation of the opening and closing balances of
property, plant and equipment (2014/15)

Leasehold
Improvements

Plant and
Equipment

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

As at 1 July 2014
Gross book value

12,572

2,335

14,907

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

(8,339)

(1,361)

(9,700)

Total as at 1 July 2014

4,233

974

5,207

227

535

762

Additions
By purchase
Amortisation expense

(61)

Depreciation expense

(357)

Disposals
Reversal of depreciation lease incentive
Total as at 30 June 2015

–
(367)
3,675

–
(458)

(61)
(815)

(11)

(11)

–

(367)

1,040

4,715

Total as at 30 June 2015 represented by
Gross book value

11,895

2,487

14,383

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

(8,220)

(1,447)

(9,667)

3,675

1,040

4,715

Total as at 30 June 2015
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Note 6E (continued): Reconciliation of the opening and
closing balances of property, plant and equipment (2013/14)
As at 1 July 2013
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Total as at 1 July 2013
Additions
By purchase
Effect of exchange rate movements
Revaluation on leasehold improvements
Revaluation on make good
Depreciation expense
Disposals
Reversal of depreciation lease incentive
Total as at 30 June 2014
Total as at 30 June 2014 represented by
Gross book value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Total as at 30 June 2014

Leasehold
Improvements

Plant and
Equipment

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

12,071
(7,583)

2,290
(1,691)

14,361
(9,274)

4,488

599

5,087

334
14
152
68
(452)
(10)
(361)

752
–
–
–
(368)
(9)
–

1,086
14
152
68
(820)
(19)
(361)

4,233

974

5,207

12,572
(8,339)

2,335
(1,361)

14,907
(9,700)

4,233

974

5,207
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Note 6: Non-Financial Assets (continued)
Note 6F: Reconciliation of the opening and
closing balances of intangibles (2014/15)

Computer software
internally developed

Campaign
production

Trademarks

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

As at 1 July 2014
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Total as at 1 July 2014

3,951

16,211

180

20,342

(1,647)

(11,686)

(28)

(13,361)

2,304

4,525

152

6,981

Additions
By purchase or internally developed
Amortisation
Total as at 30 June 2015

2,845

1,865

69

4,779

(1,098)

(2,468)

(18)

(3,584)

4,051

3,923

203

8,176

Total as at 30 June 2015 represented by
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Total as at 30 June 2015 represented by

18,077

249

25,122

(14,154)

(47)

(16,946)

4,051

3,923

203

8,176

Computer software
internally developed

Campaign
production

Trademarks

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

12,123
(10,831)

12,864
(9,953)

90
(0)

25,077
(20,784)

Total as at 1 July 2013

1,292

2,911

90

4,293

Additions
By purchase or internally developed
Effect of exchange rate movements
Amortisation
Write-back of amortisation and impairment

1,977
–
(736)
(229)

3,333
5
(1,724)
–

90
–
(28)
–

5,400
5
(2,488)
(229)

Total as at 30 June 2014

2,304

4,525

152

6,981

3,951
(1,647)

16,211
(11,686)

180
(28)

20,342
(13,361)

2,304

4,525

152

6,981

Note 6F (continued): Reconciliation of the
opening and closing balances of intangibles
(2013/14)
As at 1 July 2013
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Total as at 30 June 2014 represented by
Gross book value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Total as at 30 June 2014
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The following tables provide an analysis of assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value.
The different levels of the fair value hierarchy are defined below.
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access
at measurement date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Note 6G: Fair value measurements
Fair value measurements at the end of the
reporting period by hierarchy for assets and
liabilities in 2015

Fair value measurements at the end of the reporting period using
Fair value

Level 1 inputs

Level 2 inputs

Level 3 inputs

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Non-financial assets
Leasehold improvements
11,184

–

–

11,184

Leasehold improvements make good

Leasehold improvements

711

–

–

711

Infrastructure, plant and equipment
Computer and office equipment
Furniture and fittings

2,038
265

–
–

–
–

2,038
265

Total non-financial assets

14,199

–

–

14,199

Total fair value measurements of assets in
the statement of financial position

14,199

–

–

14,199

No transfers between levels have occurred in 2015. The highest and best use of all non-current assets are the same as their
current use. No change in valuation technique occurred during the period. A reconciliation of movements in non-financial assets
has been included in Note 6.
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Note 7: Payables
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Trade creditors and accruals

6,544

4,619

Total supplier payables

6,544

4,619

6,544

4,619

6,544

4,619

1,261

1,297

Note 7A: Suppliers

Supplier payables expected to be settled within 12 months
External parties
Total supplier payables
Settlement is usually made within 30 days.

Note 7B: Other payables
Salaries and wages

67

59

Prepayment received/unearned income

1,613

1,858

Lease incentive

3,809

4,360

Other liabilities

59

9

6,808

7,583

No more than 12 months

3,518

3,407

More than 12 months

3,290

4,176

6,808

7,583

Superannuation

Total other payables
Total other payables are expected to be settled in

Total other payables
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Note 8: Provisions
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Leave

3,948

3,497

Total employee provisions

3,948

3,497

No more than 12 months

2,426

2,286

More than 12 months

1,522

1,211

Total employee provisions

3,948

3,497

Provision for restoration obligations

766

792

Total other provisions

766

792

Note 8A: Employee provisions

Employee provisions are expected to be settled in

Note 8B: Other provisions

Other provisions are expected to be settled in
68

132

More than 12 months

698

660

Total other provisions

766

792

792

864

No more than 12 months

Provision for restoration
Carrying amount as at 1 July
Additional provisions made

–

26

Amounts used for restoration of premises

–

(36)

Amounts adjusted for revaluation

(26)

84

Amounts reversed for expired leases

(10)

(176)

10

30

766

792

Unwinding of discount or change in discount rate
Closing balance as at 30 June

Tourism Australia currently has seven (2014:eight) agreements for the leasing of premises that have provisions requiring
Tourism Australia to restore the premises to their original condition at the conclusion of the lease. Tourism Australia has made a
provision to reflect the present value of these obligations.
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Note 9: Cash Flow Reconciliation
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Cash flow statement

13,929

10,002

Statement of financial position

13,929

10,002

–

–

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents as per
Statement of Financial Position to Cash Flow Statement
Cash and cash equivalents as per

Difference
Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash from operating activities
Net cost of services
Add revenue from Government

(135,712)

(139,292)

138,865

130,351

4,460

3,308

Adjustments for non-cash items
Depreciation/amortisation
Revaluation of restoration provision

26

–

Reversal of restoration provision

10

43

Finance cost

(10)

30

Bad debts

(12)

5

11

19

Write-down of non-financial asset
Other gains
Net foreign exchange gain

(10)

(175)

(2,623)

(2,793)

1,575

(1,969)

Changes in assets/liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in net receivables
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions
Increase/(decrease) in other provisions
Increase/(decrease) in supplier payables
Increase/(decrease) in other payables
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities
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(1,697)
451

294
233

0

(72)

2,287

(1,631)

(775)
6,845

950
(10,699)
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Note 10: Contingent Liabilities and Assets
Tourism Australia has no contingent assets or liabilities, quantifiable, unquantifiable or significant remote
contingencies (2014: nil).

Note 11: Related Party Disclosures
No director has entered into any transaction with Tourism Australia during the year ended 30 June 2015
(2014: $nil).

Note 12: Senior Executive Remuneration
2015

2014

$

$

7,420,349

7,164,518

Note 12A: Senior executive remuneration expenses for the reporting period
Short-term employee benefits
Salary

327,000

–

7,747,349

7,164,518

650,898

557,987

650,898

557,987

Long-service leave

139,164

100,274

Annual leave and other long term benefit

555,878

451,915

695,041

552,189

Performance Bonus
Total short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Superannuation
Total post-employment benefits
Other long-term employee benefits

Total other long-term employee benefits
Termination benefits
Total Senior Executive Remuneration Expenses

–

–

9,093,288

8,274,694

Notes:
1. Note 12A is prepared on an accrual basis.
2. The total number of senior management included in the above table is 32 (2014: 31). Included in this are 4 personnel who
commenced during the financial year and 3 personnel who departed during the financial year.
3. The total number of non-executive directors of Tourism Australia that are included in the above table are 8 (2014: 8).
4. Total remuneration received or due and receivable by non-executive directors of Tourism Australia for 2015 is $518,979
(2014: $492,071).
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Note 13: Remuneration of Auditors

Fair value of the services received for auditing the financial statements for the
reporting period.

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

111

113

No other services were provided by the Auditor-General during the reporting period.

Note 14: Financial Instruments
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

13,929

10,002

Note 14A: Categories of financial instruments
Financial Assets
Loans and receivables
Cash at bank and cash equivalents

5,439

6,353

Total

19,368

16,355

Carrying amount of financial assets

19,368

16,355

Trade creditors and other payables

13,352

12,202

Carrying amount of financial liabilities

13,352

12,202

Trade and other receivables

Financial Liabilities
At amortised cost

Note 14B: Net income and expense from financial assets
Loans and receivables
Interest revenue (refer to Note 4B)

1,299

1,817

Net gain from loans and receivables

1,299

1,817

Net gain from financial assets

1,299

1,817

The total interest income from financial assets not at fair value through profit and loss in the year ended 30 June 2015 was
$1,299,000 (2014: $1,817,000).
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2015

2014

$’000

$’000

2,623

2,793

Net gain financial liabilities – at amortised cost

2,623

2,793

Net gain from financial liabilities

2,623

2,793

Note 14C: Net income and expense from financial liabilities
Financial liabilities – at amortised cost
Exchange gains (refer to Note 4F)

Notes

Carrying
Amount

Fair Value

Carrying
Amount

2015

2015

2014

2014

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

Fair Value

Note 14D: Fair values of financial instruments
Financial Assets
Cash at bank

5A

7,347

7,347

6,568

6,568

Deposits at call

5A

6,582

6,582

3,434

3,434

Receivables for goods and services

5B

Total financial assets

5,439

5,439

6,353

6,353

19,368

19,368

16,355

16,355

Financial liabilities (recognised)
Trade creditors

7A

6,544

6,544

4,619

4,619

Other payables

7B

6,808

6,808

7,583

7,583

13,352

13,352

12,202

12,202

Total financial liabilities

2014/15 ANNUAL REPORT

135

F I N A N C I A L

S T A T E M E N T S

Notes

Note 14: Financial Instruments (continued)
Note 14E: Credit risk exposures
Tourism Australia is exposed to minimal credit risk as the majority of loans and receivables are cash at bank and on
deposit, and trade receivables for goods and services. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the risk that arises
from potential default of a debtor. This amount is equal to the total amount of trade receivables (2015: $5,955,000;
2014: $7,529,000). Tourism Australia has assessed the risk of the default on payment and has allocated $9,000 in
2015 (2014: $21,000) to an impairment allowance account. Tourism Australia managed its credit risk by undertaking
background and credit checks prior to allowing a debtor relationship.
Tourism Australia has established debt collection policies and procedures.
Tourism Australia holds no collateral to mitigate credit risk.
Credit quality of financial instruments not past due or individually determined as impaired
Not past
due nor
impaired

Cash and cash equivalents

Past
due or
impaired

Past
due or
impaired

2015

2014

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

13,929

10,002

–

–

3,488

2,305

1,960

4,069

17,417

12,307

1,960

4,069

Receivables for goods and services
Total

Not past
due nor
impaired

Ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 2015
0 to 30
days

31 to 60
days

61 to 90
days

90+
days

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Receivables for goods and services

1,572

383

4

1

1,960

Total

1,572

383

4

1

1,960

31 to 60
days
$'000

61 to 90
days
$'000

90+
days
$'000

Total
$'000

Ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired for 2014
0 to 30
days
$'000
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Receivables for goods and services

3,037

6

3

1,023

4,069

Total

3,037

6

3

1,023

4,069

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F I N A N C I A L

S T A T E M E N T S

Note 14F: Liquidity risk
Tourism Australia’s financial liabilities are supplier payables. The exposure to liquidity risk is based on the notion
that Tourism Australia will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities. This
is highly unlikely due to Government funding and internal policies and procedures put in place to ensure there are
appropriate resources to meet its financial obligations. Tourism Australia has no derivative financial liabilities in
either 2015 or 2014.
Maturities for non-derivative financial liabilities 2015
On
demand

within
1 year

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Trade creditors

–

(6,544)

–

(6,544)

Other payables

–

(3,518)

(3,290)

–

–

(6,808)

Total

–

(10,062)

(3,290)

–

(13,352)

On
demand

within
1 year

1 to 5
years

More than
5 years

Total

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

Trade creditors
Other payables

–
–

4,619
3,407

–
4,176

–
–

4,619
7,583

Total

–

8,026

4,176

–

12,202

Maturities for non-derivative financial liabilities 2014

Tourism Australia receives funding from the Australian Government. Tourism Australia manages its budgeted funds to
ensure it has adequate funds to meet payments as they fall due. In addition, Tourism Australia has policies in place to
ensure timely payments are made when due and has no past experience of default.
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Note 14: Financial Instruments (continued)
Note 14G: Market risk
Tourism Australia holds basic financial instruments that do not expose Tourism Australia to major market risks.
Due to the basic nature of Tourism Australia’s financial instruments no sensitivity analysis has been performed,
as there is deemed to be no material impact to the financial statements. Tourism Australia accounts for its financial
instruments (cash and cash equivalents) in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and reports these instruments under AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures.
Foreign exchange
Tourism Australia maintains foreign bank accounts that facilitate local transactions and at balance date reported
an Australian dollar equivalent cash balance of $5.2 million (2014: $4.4 million). Assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currency are converted to Australian dollar equivalents at the exchange rate prevailing on balance date.
Realised and unrealised gains and losses on foreign currency are taken to profit and loss.
Tourism Australia expends a significant amount of revenue from Government in foreign currencies and uses budget
parameter rates to measure its performance against budgets. In 2015 the movement of the Australian dollar against
foreign currencies resulted in an estimated loss of $5.9 million (2014: loss of $9.1 million). This movement also
contributed to a decrease in the overall cash balance.
The principal exchange rates affecting the foreign exchange loss are the Chinese yuan, the US dollar, British pound,
euro and the Japanese yen.
Interest rate
Tourism Australia maintains operating and investment bank accounts to manage cash. The operating bank accounts
are non-interest bearing and investment accounts are designated in liquid and short-term interest-bearing deposits.
All cash deposits are held in operating accounts at balance date(2015: $13.9 million; 2014: $10.0 million).
The average interest rates during the year for the interest bearing accounts were between 2.0 and 3.0 per cent.

2015

2014

$’000

$’000

19,883

17,531

Note 14H: Financial Assets Reconciliation
Total financial assets as per statement of financial position
Less: Non-financial instrument components
GST receivable from the Australian Taxation Office
Total financial assets as per financial instruments note
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Note 15: Reporting of Outcomes
Outcome 1
2015

2014

$’000

$’000

Note 15A: Net cost of outcome delivery
Departmental
Expenses

(175,993)

(175,352)

Total Expenses

(175,993)

(175,352)

Own-source income:
12,099

6,406

Industry contribution

7,931

8,774

Interest

1,299

1,817

Gains

2,632

2,968

Rental Income

1,044

1,063

Other revenue

15,277

15,032

Advertising

Total own-source income
Net cost of outcome delivery

40,281

36,060

(135,712)

(139,292)

Net costs shown include intra-government costs that are eliminated in calculating the actual Budget Outcome.
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Note 16: Budgetary Reports and Explanations of Major Variances
The following tables provide a comparison of the original budget as presented in the 2014/15 Portfolio Budget
Statements (PBS) to the 2014/15 final outcome in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards for the entity.
The budget is not audited.
Note 16A: Departmental budgetary reports
Statement of comprehensive income for not-for-profit reporting
entities for the year ended 30 June 2015

Actual

Budget estimate
Original

Variance

2015

2015

2015

$’000

$'000

$'000

NET COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
29,924

28,788

1,136

134,964

128,869

6,095

4,460

4,500

(40)

Finance costs

10

33

(23)

Write-down and impairment of assets

11

–

6,625

6,701

175,993

168,891

7,102

12,099

Employee benefits
Suppliers
Depreciation and amortisation

Other expenses
Total expenses

11
(76)

Own-source income
Own-source revenue
12,099

–

Interest

1,299

1,800

Rental income

1,044

–

Other revenue

23,207

28,226

(5,019)

37,649

30,026

7,623

2,623

–

2,623

10

–

10

2,632

–

2,632

40,281

30,026

10,255
(3,153)

Sale of goods and rendering of services

Total own-source revenue

(501)
1,044

Gains
Foreign exchange gains
Reversals of previous asset write-downs and impairments
Total gains
Total own-source income
Net cost of services

135,712

138,865

Revenue from Government

138,865

138,865

–

3,153

–

3,153

Surplus/(Deficit) before income tax on continuing operations
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Note 16A: Departmental budgetary reports (continued)
Statement of comprehensive income for not-for-profit reporting
entities for the year ended 30 June 2015

Actual

Budget estimate
Original

Variance

2015

2015

2015

$’000

$'000

$'000

26

–

26

3,179

–

3,179

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to net cost of services
Changes in asset revaluation surplus
Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to the
Australian Government
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Note 16: Budgetary Reports and Explanations of Major Variances (continued)
Note 16A: Departmental budgetary reports (continued)
Statement of financial position for not-for-profit reporting entities
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Actual

Budget estimate
Original

Variance

2015

2015

2015

$’000

$'000

$'000

Cash and cash equivalents

13,929

10,902

3,027

Trade and other receivables

5,954

7,529

(1,575)

19,883

18,431

1,452

Land and buildings

3,675

4,233

Property, plant and equipment

1,040

974

66

Intangibles

8,176

6,981

1,195

ASSETS
Financial assets

Total financial assets
Non-financial assets

(558)

4,793

3,095

1,698

Total non-financial assets

17,685

15,283

2,402

Total assets

37,568

33,714

3,854

Suppliers

6,544

5,519

1,025

Other payables

6,808

6,227

581

13,352

11,746

1,606

3,948

4,853

(905)

766

792

(26)

Other non-financial assets

LIABILITIES
Payables

Total payables
Provisions
Employee provisions
Other provisions
Total provisions

4,714

5,645

(931)

Total liabilities

18,066

17,391

675

Net assets

19,502

16,323

3,179

Contributed equity

1,543

1,543

–

Reserves

1,990

1,964

26

15,969

12,816

3,153

19,502

16,323

3,179

EQUITY
Parent entity interest

Retained surplus/(Accumulated deficit)
Total equity
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Note 16A: Departmental budgetary reports (continued)
Statement of changes in equity for not-for-profit reporting entities
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Actual

Budget estimate
Original

Variance

2015

2015

2015

$’000

$'000

$'000

Balance carried forward from previous period

12,816

12,816

–

Adjusted opening balance

12,816

12,816

–

Opening balance

Comprehensive income
Surplus/(Deficit) for the period

3,153

–

3,153

Total comprehensive income

3,153

–

3,153

Transactions with owners
Contributions by owners
Return of foreign exchange

–

–

–

Total transactions with owners

–

–

–

Closing balance as at 30 June

15,969

12,816

3,153

Closing balance attributable to the Australian Government

15,969

12,816

3,153
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Note 16: Budgetary Reports and Explanations of Major Variances (continued)
Note 16A: Departmental budgetary reports (continued)
Cash flow statement for not-for-profit reporting entities
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Actual

Budget estimate
Original

Variance

2015

2015

2015

$’000

$'000

$'000

138,865

138,865

–

37,926

–

37,926

Interest

1,286

1,800

Net GST received

3,344

–

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received
Receipts from Government
Sale of goods and rendering of services

Other
Total cash received

(514)
3,344

–

28,226

(28,226)

181,421

168,891

12,530

Cash used
Employees
Suppliers
Other
Total cash used
Net cash from operating activities

29,502

28,788

714

145,073

127,969

17,104

–

7,634

174,575

164,391

10,184

6,845

4,500

2,345

762

4,500

(3,738)

4,779

–

(7,634)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash used
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangibles
Total cash used
Net cash used by investing activities
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Note 16A: Departmental budgetary reports (continued)
Cash flow statement for not-for-profit reporting entities
for the year ended 30 June 2015

Actual

Budget estimate
Original

Variance

2015

2015

2015

$’000

$'000

$'000

–

9,115

(9,115)

–

9,115

(9,115)

–

9,115

(9,115)

–

9,115

(9,115)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Cash received
Other
Total cash received
Cash used
Other
Total cash used
Net cash from financing activities

–

–

–

1,304

–

1,304

Total cash used
Effect of exchange rate movements on cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the reporting period

10,002

10,002

(0)

2,623

–

2,623

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period

13,929

10,002

3,927

Net increase in cash held
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Note 16: Budgetary Reports and Explanations of Major Variances (continued)
Note 16B: Departmental major budget variances for 2015
Explanations of major variances

Affected line items
(and statement)

Employee benefits of $29,924 thousand are $1,136 thousand greater than
budget, driven by foreign exchange losses on benefits for overseas employees
and unbudgeted separation and redundancy costs.

Employee benefits
(Statement of Comprehensive
Income)

Supplier expenses of $134,964 thousand are $6,095 thousand greater than
budget. Tourism Australia's focus on engaging with partners to supplement
outcome delivery has resulted in higher than budgeted revenue, which in turn
has been spent with suppliers. A weaker Australian dollar has also contributed
to higher overseas costs.

Suppliers
(Statement of Comprehensive
Income)

Interest income of $1,299 thousand is $501 thousand lower than budget,
driven by lower interest rates in Australia and reduced bank balances due to
foreign exchange losses.

Interest
(Statement of Comprehensive
Income)

Total own-source revenue of $37,649 thousand is $7,623 thousand higher
than budget, driven by additional co-operative advertising revenue and
industry contribution from industry partners and state and territory tourism
organisations. This is due to a concerted effort by Tourism Australia to focus on
engaging with partners to supplement outcome delivery.

Total own-source revenue
(Statement of Comprehensive
Income)

Foreign exchange gains of $2,623 thousand represent foreign exchange
purchases where Tourism Australia finance staff secured a higher rate than
the monthly rate of exchange thereby partly offsetting the negative impacts of
foreign exchange movements for the Government.

Foreign exchange gains
(Statement of Comprehensive
Income)

Total non-financial assets of $17,683 thousand are $2,400 higher than budget,
driven by capital expenditure of $5.5 million primarily for australia.com
$1.5 million, new business systems $1.1 million, Restaurant Australia campaign
assets $0.7 million and the Indigenous film project $0.6 million.

Total non-financial assets
(Statement of Financial Position)

Total payables increased by $1,606 thousand to $13,352 thousand. This is largely
driven by the fact that at 30 June 2014, almost all trade creditors were paid
before year-end to facilitate the cutover to the new financial system. In addition,
some large activities such as the Australian Tourism Exchange took place in
June 2015 (2014: May).

Total payables
(Statement of Financial Position)

The decrease in value of the Australian dollar from the previous financial year
(between 6 per cent and 11 per cent in the UK, the US, South-East Asia and
China markets) resulted in an overall foreign exchange loss for the year of
$6 million compared to budget parameter rates. This has had the impact of
a $5,962 thousand increase to net expenditure in the statutory accounts.

Deficit for the period
(Statement of Changes in Equity)

146

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Laneway street art | Melbourne, Victoria
Melbourne’s laneways have increasingly become spaces for artistic expression.
Colourful, constantly-changing graffiti murals can be found in Hosier Lane and
along Union Lane. Cocker Alley features the work of grafitti artist Banksy, while
Jane Bell, Rutledge and Spark lanes have been tattooed with local street culture.
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Kangaroo | Esperance, Western Australia
This image of Fluffy the kangaroo continually rates in the top three
downloaded images from Tourism Australia’s Image Gallery. Photographs and
videos are available free of charge as long as they are used to promote tourism
to Australia. Visit Tourism Australia’s Image Gallery here: images.australia.com.
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History
1967

The Australian Tourist Commission Act receives Royal Assent on 23 May 1967 and $1.52 million
in Australian Government funding to encourage visitors to Australia. Joint promotional
activities result in an additional $445,000 being generated from industry.
Australia welcomed 222,000 visitors in the calendar year, with New Zealanders accounting for
around one-third of arrivals ahead of North America, Britain, Europe and Asia.

1970

The Australian Tourist Commission (ATC) Visiting Journalist Programme begins. The
programme generates publicity about Australia’s tourism offering to audiences around
the world.

1971

The International Visitor Survey (IVS) is introduced. It is still in place, providing valuable
information on international visitor travel patterns in Australia, including length of stay,
destinations visited and spending.

1983

The ATC’s appropriation doubles to $19.5 million. Paul Hogan works with the ATC and
advertising agency Mojo to create advertisements that portray Australia as a friendly,
accessible country that is ‘only a day away’. Visitor numbers from the USA increase 23 per cent
as a result.

1984

Australian tourism enters a period of significant growth. International visitor numbers exceed
one million for the first time. Tourism product and infrastructure becomes more sophisticated
and varied.

1987

The ATC significantly restructures, including relocating its head office from Melbourne
to Sydney.

1988

Australia hosts World Expo 88 and experiences a third successive year of 25 per cent growth in
international visitors in its bicentennial year.

1989

An eight-month domestic pilot strike devastates Australia’s tourism industry. The ATC receives
an additional $18.5 million to re-energise the sector following the strike.

1991

Australian tourism recovers, with 2.4 million international travellers visiting Australia and
spending a total of $7.9 billion, making tourism Australia’s top export earner. The number of
staff members at the ATC increases to 130.

1999

The ATC receives an additional $50 million over four years to capitalise on the Sydney 2000
Olympic Games. It also begins marketing activity to promote the country as a destination for
business events.

2000

The Sydney 2000 Olympic Games are held in September. Australia welcomes a record
4.9 million visitors.
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2001

The September 11 attacks affect global consumer confidence in air travel and have a negative
impact on the post-Olympics growth in tourism.

2003

The Australian Government releases the Tourism White Paper, which proposes structural
changes to establish Tourism Australia by bringing together the functions of the ATC, See
Australia, the Bureau of Tourism Research and the Tourism Forecasting Council.

2004

The ‘Australia. A different light’ campaign launches in May as the first truly global campaign
for the organisation.
Inbound tourism to Australia recovers and visitor arrivals exceed 5 million for the first time.
Tourism Australia opens for business at a new head office in Sydney’s Sussex Street.

2009

The Jackson Report Informing the National Long-Term Tourism Strategy, is released in July and
outlines the importance of addressing supply-side issues and the need for industry goals. The
National Long-Term Tourism Strategy (NLTTS) is released in December.

2010

Tourism Australia works with governments and industry to develop the 2020 Tourism Industry
Potential, providing a long-term goal for improving Australian tourism’s competitiveness.
The first evolution of the There’s nothing like Australia campaign launches in Australia and
around the world.
Television queen Oprah Winfrey kicks off her final season with an ‘ultimate adventure’ in
Australia. The show is screened to more than 40 million viewers in 145 countries.

2011

The Australian Government releases Tourism 2020, integrating the NLTTS with the growth
aspirations of the 2020 Tourism Industry Potential.
Tourism Australia releases its ‘China 2020 Strategic Plan’.

2012

The second evolution of There’s nothing like Australia is launched in China, with a greater focus
on high-quality products and experiences to create a ‘halo’ effect for industry.
Tourism Australia releases its ‘India 2020 Strategic Plan’.
Tourism Australia’s Facebook page becomes the number 1 destination page in the world.
Australia welcomes more than 6 million international visitors for the first time.
State and territory tourism organisations adopt Tourism 2020 strategies for their
long-term plans.

2014

The latest iteration of There’s nothing like Australia, Restaurant Australia, is launched.
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Glossary
Appropriation An authorisation by the Australian
Parliament to spend moneys from the Consolidated
Revenue Fund for a particular purpose.
Approved destination status A bilateral arrangement
between the Chinese Government and a destination
country, allowing Chinese tourists to undertake group
leisure travel to that country.
Asia Marketing Fund Announced in May 2012,
the fund aims to generate greater visitation and
economic returns from Asia, Australia’s fastest
growing tourism region.
Assets Future economic benefits controlled by
an entity as a result of past transactions or other
past events.
Corporate governance The process by which
agencies are directed and controlled. Corporate
governance is generally understood to encompass
authority, accountability, stewardship, leadership,
direction and control.
Depreciation A method of allocating the cost of
a tangible asset over its useful life. Businesses
depreciate long-term assets for both tax and
accounting purposes.
Enterprise agreement An outline of employment
conditions. An enterprise agreement is approved by
the Workplace Authority.
Estimates An agency’s expected revenues, expenses,
assets, liabilities and cash flows. They are prepared
for each output in the agency’s budget in consultation
with the Department of Finance and Deregulation.
Expenses The full costs of an activity, the total value
of all the resources consumed in producing goods
and services, or the loss of future economic benefits
in the form of asset reductions or increases in an
entity’s liabilities.
Inbound tour operator A tour operator that arranges
tours for people coming from abroad in their
home countries.
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Outcomes The Australian Government’s
objectives for an agency or portfolio. Outcomes
are desired results, impacts or consequences for the
Australian community as influenced by the actions
of the Australian Government. The outcomes are
assessments of the end results or impacts
actually achieved.
Portfolio Additional Estimates Changes in funding
requirements that occur after the Australian
Government’s budget is presented. These changes to
funding require the House of Representatives and the
Senate to consider the additional estimates.
Portfolio Budget Statements Budget papers that
inform senators and members of the Australian
Parliament of the proposed allocation of resources
to government outcomes by agencies within
the portfolio.
Programme An activity or group of activities that
delivers benefits or services. Programmes are the
primary vehicles for government agencies to achieve
the intended results of their outcomes statement.
Reconciliation Action Plan A plan that outlines
efforts to develop strong and productive relationships
with Indigenous peoples the lives of Indigenous
Australians and provide a better future for
Indigenous children.
Revenue The total value of resources earned or
received to cover the production of goods and services.
Unique visitors A count of how many different
people look at a website. For example, if a user leaves
and comes back to the site five times during the
measurement period, that person is counted as one
unique visitor, but would count as five ‘user sessions’
or ‘visits’.
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Abbreviations and acronyms
AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board
ADS Approved Destination Status
AGEST Australian Government Employee
Superannuation Trust
AMF Asia Marketing Fund
ASP Aussie Specialist Program
ATC Australian Tourist Commission
ATDW Australian Tourism Data Warehouse
ATE Australian Tourism Exchange
AWA Australian Workplace Agreement
CIBTM China Incentive, Business Travel
and Meetings Exhibition
CSS Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme
FFR Financial Reporting Rule
HICAP Hotel Investment Conference Asia Pacific
IAGTO International Association of Golf Travel
Operators
ITB Internationale Tourismus Borse
ITCP Indigenous Tourism Champions Programme
IVS International Visitor Survey
KPI Key performance indicator
MONA Museum of Old and New Art
NABERS National Australian Built Environment
Rating System
NFP Not-for-profit
NLTTS National Long-Term Tourism Strategy
PAES Portfolio Additional Estimates Statements
PAICE Pacific Asia Incentives and Conference Expo
PBS Portfolio Budget Statement
PGPA Act Public Governance Performance and
Accountability Act 2013
PSS Public Sector Superannuation Scheme
PSSap PSS accumulation plan
TA Act Tourism Australia Act 2014
TRA Tourism Research Australia
UNWTO United Nations World Tourism Organization
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Compliance index
REQUIREMENT
Letter of transmittal

NOTE

PAGE

Mandatory

Inside Front

Table of contents

Mandatory

3

Index

Mandatory

156

Glossary

Mandatory

152

Contact officer(s)

Mandatory

Inside Back

Internet home page address and internet address for report

Mandatory

Inside Back

Reviews by Chairman and Managing Director
Review by Chairman

Mandatory

16

Review by Managing Director

Mandatory

18

Summary of significant issues and developments

Suggested

16–20

Overview of performance and financial results

Suggested

22–23

Outlook for following year

Suggested

12–14

Significant issues and developments – portfolio

–

Agency overview
Role and functions

Mandatory

6, 91

Organisational structure

Mandatory

85

Outcome and programme structure

Mandatory

6

Where outcome and programme structures differ from Portfolio Budget Statements (PBS)/
Portfolio Additional Estimates Statements (PAES) or other portfolio statements accompanying
any other additional appropriation bills (other portfolio statements)

n/a

–

Portfolio structure

n/a

–

Review of performance in relation to programmes and outcomes

Mandatory

30–77

Performance in relation to deliverables and KPIs in PBS and PAES

Mandatory

22, 30–77

Where performance targets differ from the PBS and PAES, details of both former and new
targets and reasons for the change

n/a

–

Narrative discussion and analysis of performance

Mandatory

16–76, 80, 90

Trend information

Mandatory

12–13, 22, 23,
26–27, 74–75

Significant changes in nature of principal functions or services

n/a

–

Performance of purchaser and provider arrangements

n/a

–

Factors, events or trends influencing performance

Suggested

12–13, 16–17, 18–20

Contribution of risk management in achieving objectives

Suggested

93

Performance against service charter, customer service standards and complaints data
Discussion and analysis of financial performance
Discussion of significant changes in financial results from the prior year, from budget or
anticipated to have impact on future operations.
Agency resource statement and summary resource tables by outcomes

n/a

–

Mandatory

23, 100

n/a

–

Mandatory

139
102–103

Management accountability – corporate governance
Certification that agency complies with the Commonwealth Fraud Control Guidelines

Mandatory

Statement of the main corporate governance practices in place

Mandatory

92

Names of the senior executive and their responsibilities

Suggested

86–87

Senior management committees and their roles

Suggested

95

Corporate and operational planning and associated performance reporting and review

Suggested

92

Internal audit arrangements, approach adopted to identify areas of financial or operational risk
and arrangements to manage those risks

Suggested

93

Policy and practices on the establishment and maintenance of appropriate ethical standards

Suggested

82

How the nature and amount of remuneration for Senior Executive Service Officers is determined

Suggested

n/a
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REQUIREMENT

NOTE

PAGE

Mandatory

93

Management accountability – external scrutiny
Significant developments in external scrutiny
Judicial decisions and decisions of administrative tribunals
Reports by the Auditor-General, a Parliamentary Committee or the Commonwealth Ombudsman

n/a

–

Mandatory

N/A

Management accountability – management of human resources
Assessment of effectiveness in managing and developing human resources to achieve objectives Mandatory
Workforce planning, staff turnover and retention
Impact and features of enterprise or collective agreements, individual flexibility arrangements
(IFAs), determinations, common law contracts and Australian Workplace Agreements (AWAs)

Suggested

80–81
81

n/a

–

Training and development undertaken and its impact

Suggested

83

Work health and safety performance

Suggested

82

Productivity gains
Statistics on staffing

n/a

–

Mandatory

81

Statistics on employees who identify as Indigenous

Mandatory

81

Enterprise or collective agreements, IFAs, determinations, common law contracts and AWAs

Mandatory

n/a

n/a

–

Mandatory

102–103

Mandatory

102–103

Mandatory

93

Mandatory

93

Mandatory

n/a

Mandatory

101–147

Mandatory

93

Mandatory

82

n/a

–

Mandatory

84

Performance pay
Management accountability – assets management
Assessment of effectiveness of assets management
Management accountability – purchasing
Assessment of purchasing against core policies and principles
Management accountability – consultants
Summary statement detailing the number of new consultancy services contracts let during the
year, the total actual expenditure on all new consultancy contracts let during the year (inclusive
of GST), the number of ongoing consultancy contracts that were active in the reporting year,
and the total actual expenditure in the reporting year on the ongoing consultancy contracts
(inclusive of GST). A statement noting that information on contracts and consultancies is
available through the AusTender website.
Australian National Audit Office access clauses
Absence of provisions in contracts allowing access by the Auditor-General
Exempt contracts
Contracts exempt from the AusTender website
Financial statements
Financial Statements
Small business
Procurement initiatives to support small business
Other mandatory information
Work health and safety (Schedule 2, Part 4,Work Health and Safety Act 2011)
Advertising and Market Research (Section 311A of the Commonwealth Electoral Act 1918) and
statement on advertising campaigns
Ecologically sustainable development and environmental performance (Section 516A of the
Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999)
Compliance with the agency’s obligations under the Carer Recognition Act 2010

n/a

–

Grant programmes

n/a

–

Disability reporting – explicit and transparent reference to agency level information available
through other reporting mechanisms
Information Publication Scheme statement
Correction of material errors in previous annual report
Agency resource statements and resources for outcomes

n/a

–

Mandatory

Inside Back

n/a

–

Mandatory

139

n/a = not applicable
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Alphabetical index
A
abbreviations and acronyms, 153
Aboriginal Australia: Our country is waiting
for you (film), 40
Aboriginal people see Indigenous people
‘Above and Beyond Award’, 82
accommodation, 14, 20, 75
accountability, 91
AFC Asian Cup, 19, 38, 48
agents see travel agents
Air China, 74
Air New Zealand, 50, 62
airberlin, 54
airlines see aviation
Alibaba, 20, 44
app for investment, 76
appointments, 84
arrivals
Australian Government programme, 66
by country of residence, 26–27
increased, 12, 13–14
numbers, 13
spend see spending by visitors
Art of Travel, 55
Asia, 14, 16, 19, 38, 56–60
Asian Cup, 19, 38
Asia Marketing Fund, 23
assets
contingent, 133
financial, 100, 121–123
fixed, 100
non-financial see non-financial assets
‘Attracting Business Events
to Australia’, 19, 64
audit
internal and external, 93
remuneration, 133
report, 102–103
Audit and Finance Committee, 95
Aussie Specialist Program, 66
Austrade, 23, 58, 64, 66, 75
australia.cn, 32
australia.com, 32, 35, 56, 83
Australian government programmes
increasing demand, 32–33
industry development, 66–67
overview, 6
performance summary, 22
Australian Investment Forum, 76
Australian Tourism Exchange (ATE), 40, 69
Australian Tourism Exchange (ATE)
Specialist Buyer programme, 72
‘Australian Tourism: Open for investment’
app, 76
Avec Eric (TV show), 51
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aviation
development, 66
growth, 74
improvement, 16, 66
India campaigns, 58
Japan–Australia service, 57
outlook, 14
routes, 57
‘Awaken Your Potential’ campaign, 56
awards, 28–29
B
B20 roundtables, 76
back-office systems, 83
balance sheet, 100
‘balanced portfolio’ approach, 16
‘Best of Australia’ programme, 72
blogs, 62
Board, 94–97
Audit and Finance committee, 95
Charter, 94
meeting attendance, 95
profiles, 96–97
bookazine on food and wine, 55
Brisbane Marketing, 57
budgetary reports, 140–146
business capability, 80
business events
awards, 29
integrated marketing and trade
programme, 19
marketing, 63–65
Business Events Australia, 63
business systems upgrades, 80
business-to-business tourism
travel trade event, 69
C
Canada, 50
cash flow
reconciliation, 132
statement, 108
Chairman, 96
report, 16–17
changes in equity, 107
China
aviation support, 74
bilateral agreement with, 14
distribution, 67
focus on, 16
event campaigns, 37–38
strategic marketing partnerships, 44
travel agents, 19
visitors from, 46–62
China Eastern Airlines, 20
Chinese Entrepreneur Club, 76
Chinese New Year, 37

commitments schedule, 109
competition, 13, 17, 32, 66
competitions, 38, 54, 56
compliance index, 154–155
conferences, 66, 70
Consumer Demand Project (CDP), 34
contingent liabilities and assets, 133
conversion, 66
Cookpad, 57
cooperative marketing, 66
corporate governance, 88–97
Corroboree (training event), 68
cost savings, 17
costs, 23, 80
Country Brand Index, 13
cricket, 19, 37, 58
D
data analytics, 32
delegate boosting programme, 64
Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade, 23
departures, staff, 84
Destination Australia Conference, 66, 70
Destination NSW, 58
digital integration project, 83
digital marketing, 22, 94
digital media, 32
see also social media; websites
sporting campaigns, 38
disputes, staff, 83
distribution see travel agents
diversity, staff, 80
Dixon, Geoff, 16–17, 96
domestic travel, 14
E
e-commerce, 20, 44
economic outlook, 14
educational visits, 63, 68
enabling legislation, 91
energy-efficiency, 84
energy use, 84
‘Enrich Hearts Australia’ promotion, 59
environmental performance, 84
ethics, 82
Etihad Airways, 20, 44, 52, 54, 69, 74
Europe, 44, 54–55
events, 19, 37–38
executive
development programmes, 80
leadership team profiles, 86–87
reports, 16–20
expenditure
Tourism Australia’s, 14, 23, 100
tourists’ see spending by visitors
expenses, 118–119
external scrutiny, 93
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Facebook, 32, 42
Fairley, Andrew, 97
famil programmes
‘Best of Australia’, 72
Corroboree, 68
gastronomic, 35
Malaysian travellers, 34
media hosting, 76
Der Feinschmecker, 55
film, Aboriginal Australia: Our country is
waiting for you, 40
financial assets, 100, 121–123
financial instruments, 134–138
financial position, 106
financial statements, 23
financials, 98–146
fixed assets, 100
focus, 8
food and wine
see also Restaurant Australia campaign
demand for, 13
German travellers, 55
India campaigns, 58
Japan, 57
New Zealand travellers, 62
US travellers, 51
food trucks, 18
France, 54
fraud control, 93
freedom of information, 93
FutureBrand, 13

ICC Cricket World Cup, 19, 37, 58
Ignite the World, 35
IMEX Frankfurt, 19
income, 105, 120–121
India, 58
Indigenous Business Australia, 40
Indigenous Film Project, 32
Indigenous people
staff participation and employment, 81
tourism, 40
Indigenous Tourism Champions
Programme (ITCP), 40
Indonesia, 19, 60
Industry Advisory Panels, 94
industry briefings, 70
industry development, 66–76
infrastructure, 20
Instagram, 42
internal audit, 93
internal processes, 23
international marketing campaigns, 16
International Media Hosting Programme,
72
International Media Marketplace, 69
international visitors see arrivals
investment app, 76
Italy, 54

G
Garuda campaign, 60
G’Day USA Tourism Summit, 40
Germany, 54, 55
‘Get vertical in Australia’ campaign, 54
glossary, 152
goal of Tourism Australia, 6
Godfrey, Brett, 96
Gold Coast Tourism, 57
governance framework and practices, 92
government agencies, collaboration
with, 64
government programmes see Australian
government programmes
Great Walks of Australia, 54
Guillan, Anna, 97
H
health and safety, 80, 82
‘High- Profile Kitchen’ page, 57
highlights, 2
history of Tourism Australia, 150–151
Hong Kong, 49
House of Travel, 62

J
Japan, 38, 57
Japan Travel Bureau, 57
judicial decisions and reports, 93
K
Key Distribution Partner programme,
Chinese, 44, 48
key events, 24–25
key performance indicators, 22
L
Lamont, Kate, 96
leadership development programmes, 80
legislation, 91
liabilities, 133
Lirrwi Volunteer Programme, 81
Lonely Planet Magazine India, 58
M
Mail on Sunday, 52
major events, 19, 37–38
Malaysia, 59
Malaysia Airlines, 58, 59
management overview, 23
managing, 78–87
Managing Director, 86
report, 18–20

marketing agreements, 20
awards, 28–29
Indigenous tourism, 40
international, 16, 45–62
opportunities, 19
partnerships see partnerships
‘Match Australia International Sports
Business’, 58
McPhee, Sandra, 96
media coverage, 72
media events, 19
media hosting, 76
Memoranda of Understanding, 44
Minister, 91
mission, 6
N
national distribution development, 66
New Zealand, 62
non-financial assets, 124–129
NZME, 62
O
online distributors and retailers, 44
OpenRice, 49
operating environment, 12–14
operations, 23
organisational structure
chart, 85
restructure, 84
O’Sullivan, John, 18
outcomes, reporting, 139
outlook, 14
overnight expenditure, 6–7
overview, 6, 10–29
P
parliamentary accountability, 91
partnerships
Aussie Specialist Program, 66
importance of, 32
investment, 75
Japan, 57
Malaysia, 59
UK, 52
payables, 130
People Strategy, 80
performance, 30–76
corporate governance, 88–97
financials, 100
management, 80
summary, 22–23
photographers, Singaporean, 60
pop-up restaurant at Australia House, 52
procurement initiatives, 93
provisions (financial statement), 131
Public Governance Performance and
Accountability Act 2013, 5
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Alphabetical index
Q
Qantas, 57
R
Rally Cry phase, 35
receipts, 12
Reconciliation Action Plan, 81
related party disclosures, 133
remuneration
auditors, 134
senior executives, 133
reporting of outcomes, 139
Restaurant Australia campaign
‘Best of Australia’ programme, 72
China, 46
Europe, 54
Hong Kong, 49
Indigenous tourism, 40
investment in, 16
launch, 13
overview, 32, 34–35
Singapore, 60
South Korea, 56
UK, 52
restaurant.australia.com, 35
restructure, 84
revenue, 23, 100
risk management, 93
S
‘Safe Workplace’ online induction module,
82
Safety and Governance Week, 82
sales calls, 72
Salewa, 54
Samsung ‘NX Traveller’ promotion, 60
‘Savouring Australia’, 62
Senate Standing Committees, 91
senior executive remuneration, 133
senior manager appointments and
departures, 84
Singapore
travel agents, 19
visitors from, 60
Singapore Airlines, 20, 55, 58, 60
small business participation in the
Commonwealth Government
procurement market, 93
Smaller Government Efficiency Reform
Programme, 23
social media, 32, 42–43
software upgrade, 83
South, Anthony, 97
South East Asia, 16
see also Malaysia; Singapore
South Korea, 38, 56
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spending by visitors
by country of residence, 26–27
goal, 6–7, 16
increased, 13
per visitor, 12
sporting events, 37–38
staff, 81–83
diversity, 80
engagement, 80, 81
ethics, 82
Indigenous, 81
numbers, 81
performance recognition, 82
retention, 82
training and development, 83
wellbeing, 83
work health and safety see work health
and safety
workforce planning, 83
Star Sports, 58
Stone, Mark, 97
strategies, 16
strategy, 7
systems, 80, 83
T
Tabelog, 57
target markets, 9
Tasting Australia campaign, 49
Tasty Road (TV show), 56
technology, 80, 83
television series, 51
There’s nothing like Australia campaign
Australian Government
programme, 32, 33
Japan, 57
launch, 18
Malaysia, 59
New Zealand, 62
Singapore, 60
South Korea, 56
There’s nothing like Australia for business
events campaign, 63
tour operators, 44
Tourism and Events Queensland, 38, 57,
58, 62
Tourism Australia Act 2004 (TA Act), 5, 91
Tourism Holdings Limited (thl), 40
Tourism Infrastructure Roundtable, 76
Tourism Investment Monitor, 14
Tourism Research Australia, 14
Tourism Victoria, 57, 69
tourism.australia.com, 83
trade development programme, 63
trade events, 66
trade shows, 19
training

agents, 40, 68
staff, 82, 83
travel agents
Australian Tourism Exchange, 69
‘Best of Australia’ programme, 72
Canada, 50
China, 19, 67
Corroboree training event, 68
famil programmes see famil
programmes
improvement, 16
industry briefings, 70
online, 44
profiling Australia, 68
system development, 67
tribunal decisions, 93
‘Two weeks in Australia’ campaign, 53
U
USA, 44, 50
V
values, 82
Virgin Australia, 20, 44, 50, 69
visitor arrivals see arrivals
W
Wanda Group, 20
waste minimising, 84
websites
australia.cn, 32, 36, 48
australia.com, 32, 35, 42, 50, 56, 83
restaurant.australia.com 35
tourism.australia.com, 83
Yatra.com, 58
Weibo, 48
wellbeing, staff, 83
wholesalers, 69
wine see food and wine
work health and safety, 80, 82
workforce planning, 83
X
Xi Jinping, President, 48
Y
Yatra.com, 58
youth campaign, 56

Seal Bay | Kangaroo Island, South Australia
The stunning views of the Australian sea lion colony and the neighbouring coastline
are what make Seal Bay an essential experience for visitors to the island.
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ask.us@tourism.australia.com
australia.com
australia.cn

facebook.com/seeaustralia
google.com/+australia

Contacts

instagram.com/Australia
weibo.com/seeaustralia
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Level 29, 420 George Street
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Telephone: +61 2 9360 1111
Facsimile: +61 2 9331 6469

Sampoerna Strategic Square, Sth Tower
30th Floor, Jl. Jend. Sudirman Kav.
45-46
Jakarta 12930
Telephone: +62 21 299 30814
Facsimile: +62 811 119 7779

101 Thomson Road
United Square #08–03
Singapore 307591
Telephone: +65 6255 4555
Facsimile: +65 6253 8431

CHINA
Room 5205, Level 52
1717 West Nanjing Road
Wheelock Square Jingan District
Shanghai 200040
Telephone: +86 21 6010 3988
Facsimile: +86 21 6010 3989

UK
JAPAN
12F Marunouchi Trust Tower North
1-8-1 Marunouchi, Chiyoda-ku
Tokyo 100-0005
Telephone: +81 3 5218 2560
Facsimile: +81 3 5218 2577

6th Floor
Australia Centre
Australia House
Melbourne Place/Strand
London WC2B 4LG
Telephone: +44 20 7438 4600
Facsimile: +44 20 7240 6690

GERMANY
Neue Mainzer Strasse 22
D 60311 Frankfurt/Main
Telephone: +49 69 274 00622
Facsimile: +49 69 2740 0640

HONG KONG
Room 1225, Unit 1201 – 1205
12th Floor, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai
Telephone: +852 2531 3838
Facsimile: +852 2802 8211

INDIA
Office 97, 9th Floor
3rd North Avenue, Maker Maxity
Bandra Kurla Complex
Bandra (East)
Mumbai 400021
Telephone: +91 22 6628 0200
Facsimile: +91 22 6743 9765

SOUTH KOREA
20th Floor
Youngpoong Building
41 Cheonggyecheon-ro
Jongno-gu, Seoul 03188
Telephone: +82 2 399 6500
Facsimile: +82 2 399 6507

MALAYSIA
Suite 12–1, Faber Imperial Court
Jalan Sultan Ismail 50250
Kuala Lumpur
Telephone: +60 3 2786 7999
Facsimile: +60 3 2070 4302

NEW ZEALAND
Level 3
125 The Strand
Parnell, Auckland 1001
Telephone: +64 9 337 0448
Facsimile: +64 9 915 2881

USA
Suite 3150
2029 Century Park East
Los Angeles, California 90067
Telephone: +1 310 695 3200
Facsimile: +1 310 695 3201
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COVER IMAGE: Sounds of Silence, Uluru, Northern Territory
By night, dine under a canopy of stars accompanied
by the ancient sounds of a lone didgeridoo at the award
winning Sounds of Silence buffet barbeque dinner.
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The campaign has attracted more than 180 partners, appeared in 25 countries
and been translated into 17 languages. Since its launch in 2010, the number of
international visitors to Australia has increased by 19 per cent, and expenditure by
international tourists has increased by 29 per cent.
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